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Corporate Profile
NG LP

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the "Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”, Hong Kong stock code: 950) is a research-
driven and market-oriented biopharmaceutical company with more than 25
years of operation in the pharmaceutical industry in the People’s Republic
of China (the “"PRC” or “China”).

The Group is fully integrated with solid infrastructures in drug
development, clinical development, regulatory, manufacturing, sales
and marketing based in Mainland China with global perspectives. The
Group has established extensive partnerships with over 20 international
companies and currently markets 24 proprietary, generic and licensed-
in pharmaceutical products in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan.

The Group focuses on several key disease areas such as cardiovascular,
woman health, paediatrics, rare diseases, oncology, dermatology,
obstetrics and urology. It has more than 40 products under
different development stages stemming from both internal research
and development as well as from the licensing of development,
commercialisation, and manufacturing rights from various United
States, European and Japanese companies. The Group has also involved
in the business in ophthalmology through its investment in Zhaoke
Ophthalmology Limited, an associated company of the Group.

The Group carries out its sales and distribution activities in Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and Mainland China through Hong Kong and Taiwan
offices and branch offices in Guangzhou, Shanghai and Beijing with direct
and channel sales network covering most of the provinces and cities in
Mainland China, marketing both domestic self-developed and generic
products and overseas licensed-in products. Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, is currently operating the
manufacturing plant of the Group located in Hefei, Anhui Province of
the PRC, comprising four GMP-compliant workshops for the production
of topical gel, lyophilised powder for injection, small volume parenteral
solutions and eye gel. Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group, is currently operating the new manufacturing site
in Nansha District, Guangzhou of the PRC which include a complete range
of solid dosage production lines for the development and manufacturing of
tablets and capsules.

The mission of the Group is to become a successful biopharmaceutical

group in Asia providing innovative products to fight diseases and improve
health and quality of life.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K BRI AL A R A 7

FRARERZEFEBERAR(TARR ] EREMBRRR
EIAEE] - FERMHA - 950) 2 —HEAHELE
kTS ERANEYRELNR  ENPEARKIMBE(TH
B DEFETERETE - T RFNEEES -

AEEMRERI BAEFEANMETAERER  BK
BE - RE - HE HERTSERNRERRELS
B o AEED SR - +RERQRRELEZEERER
BRAMNPEAN  FE  RFIRAEREE_+REZ
A TR SIE S EER -

REEZHROME - ZHERE - B8 ER®E - BE
B RER - ERRBRBEZETREREE - BR
TRMEERERBBAEN & - 83K ANEHTE &
FMERAXE - BNRBARARSHENFE - BatRk
FEE - ARETERBERAREBE ARIBRME
IRARMIE S RIRBIR

ALEREE B AERPEANMBEBELERSE
REREMNT  EETRIRTH AR - BEPEAM
REDETNEE L EBHERBETHERDHE
B HEEARBITHEMNRNERKBINSENE
fh o AEREMNBRRDEMER (SR BRARRE 2E
AEBUATELZHEAETNEERE @ ZEERE
RENENAGMPH TS - AREENBEBH - 157
RREMEE  NBAEIGBINRRR - XEEHEA
AR B (RN ARARREEFREEMNTRED RS
ENER(REREREEREN MBEN2EE BN L
ER)

AEBEM G IR AEM —ERDH AN EEEER - '
HEFTERABTURR - AERERESEEEE -



Corporate Profile

ARG
Currently, the Group has the following products in markets: BAl AEENTIEREED :
Market
w5
Country Mainland Hong
of origin China Kong Macau Taiwan Medical application
FiRits FEIRit B -y 68 BEAR
Proprietary products:
EREM:
* Livaracine® PRC v Blood clots and deep vein thrombosis
* (EF)® HE MR RORER AR AR ML A%
Yallaferon® PRC 4 Viral infection
(LHELR)® FE WEERRR
* Slounase® PRC v Hemostasis
* (IREER)® e ol
Eyprotor® PRC 4 Corneal ulcer
(BRE)® FE RRES
Licensed-in products:
SIEEM :
* Carnitene® Italy v v/ v Carnitine deficiency
* (AzEE)® BAM RESTHRZ fE
Ferplex® Spain v v v Iron deficiency anemia
GEEM)® [itieg RGBT
Zanidip® Italy v 4 Hypertension
(BEFE)® BAM = [
Rasilez® Italy v v/ v v/ Hypertension
(HBN)e BAM =M
Aloxi® France v Chemotherapy induced nausea and
vomiting
{Aloxi)® EE LRSI e RO RIE T
Sancuso® USA 4 Chemotherapy induced nausea and
vomiting
(EFIET)® xH L BERT S| RO R IR
Gaslon N® Japan v Gastric ulcer and gastritis
(EtE#E)® B BEBRER
UNIDROX® Italy v v 4 Urinary tract infections and respiratory
tract infections
(UNIDROX)® BEARF PR IB AR 2 VIR S Rk
Levocarnitine oral Italy v v v Primary and secondary carnitine
solution deficiency
ERETORER BEARF [REM REBERETHRZE
Mictonorm® Germany v Urinary incontinence
(BimH)e = FREEEE
Trittico® Italy v v/ v Insomnia/Depression
(HhFrig)® BAM KR MERE
Episil® Sweden v Oral mucositis pain
(FHEE)e T ABRBEARRE
Dicoflor® Italy v v 4 Probiotics
{Dicoflor)® BT wER
VSL#3® Italy v v/ v v/ Probiotics
(VSL#3)® BAM wER
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Corporate Profile

NI
Market
W5
Country Mainland Hong
of origin China Kong Macau Taiwan Medical application
FiRits FEIRit BB A A BEAZ
Zingo™ Hong Kong v 4 Topical local analgesics
{Zingo)™ e BRI
Omacor® Norway v/ Omega-3-acid ethyl esters
{Omacor)® i Omega-3 28
Readyfusor™ Germany 4 Post-operative pain management
(Readyfusor)™ ZE iR ER
Intrarosa® Canada v Vulvovaginal atrophy
(Intrarosa)® JIEVN SRR EELE
Generic products:
hRER
Treprostinil Injection PRC v Pulmonary arterial hypertension
H 15 e ST R FE FibEDAK = B
Fondaparinux Sodium  PRC v Deep vein thrombosis
Injection
TEER XN 5TR H REPE R A
* In the National Drug Reimbursement List of the PRC RPEBERERAHA
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@
Revenue e
Gross profit EF
Profit attributable to the owners of the ZRAQFHA AT
Company
Equity attributable to the owners RARER AEIE#ER
of the Company
Earnings per share SRAEN
Basic A
Diluted 51
Dividend per share BRARS
Interim A
Final RER
Total “REt

Dividend payout ratio

B BIRAT L 3

@,

Financial Highlights

2020
=t S 2

HK$'000
FTEx

/1 et

MBBE

1,216,716

781,066

129,316

2,149,795

HK cents
b= 2

2019 Change
—Z-NF X
HK$'000
FET
1,218,913 -0.2%
798,256 -2.2%
125,553 +3.0%
2,295,900 -6.4%
HK cents
Al
21.22 +3.6%
21.21 +3.7%
1.8
3.8
5.6 +3.6%
26.4%
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Financial Highlights
52

REVENUE (HK$'000)

Wz (FE)

1,216,716
1,218,913

1,137,626

1,008,522
929,821

Year
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 FE

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(HK$'000)

RATRFEAARLER (FET)

2,295,900
2,210,543 2,149,795

1,804,346
1,601,726
Year

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 #E
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(HK$'000)

RATHER ARG RN (FET)

418,269

252,002
232,559

125,553 129,316
Year

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 #E

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE
(HK CENTS)

BREXEF (GB)
70.67
42.79
39.38

21.22 2199

Year
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 FfE




RESULTS

Revenue Wozs

Cost of sales SEERAK

Gross profit ES

Other income Hils

Other gains and losses, net Hitas R SEFE

Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER

Administrative expenses TRER

Provision for expected credit losses on Bt BEELEEER
financial assets, net BEFE

Research and development expenses  H% fi%E R

Profit from operations EERET

Finance costs BEAR

Share of results of associates NEEEARESR

Profit before taxation BRELATE T

Taxation BiE

Profit for the year KEERF

Attributable to: THIALREL :

Owners of the Company ADREBA

Non-controlling interests iR

FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets FEREEE
Current assets MEBAE
Current liabilities MEARE
Net current assets MEAEFE
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Net assets BEFE
Equity attributable to the owners of ~ AR FHEEA

the Company [ElG R
Non-controlling interests FEER R
Total equity s

Five-Year Financial Summary

IFUBRE

ES

For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-ALEE

pLip11] 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZBoBE ZT-NEF —Z-)N\F ZT+tF ZT~F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FHT TEL FHT TR

1,216,716 1,218,913 1,137,626 1,008,522 929,821
(435,650) (420,657) (391,255) (326,118) (261,586)
781,066 798,256 746,371 682,404 668,235
150,587 75,694 52,069 31,756 48,368

(57,588) (91,680) 239,156 20,753 (26,771)
(279,947) (251,759) (221,740) (214,150) (204,225)
(237,721) (239,088) (188,926) (157,186) (119,071)
(1,180) (73) (6,823) (1,692) (224)
(203,294) (149,945) (153,171) (85,057) (67,886)
151,923 141,405 466,936 276,828 298,426
(6,472) (6,624) (4,710) (4,256) (3,803)
(11,414) (11,895) (15,842) (14,944) (12,019)
134,037 122,886 446,384 257,628 282,604
(55,503) (59,541) (56,621) (54,689) (50,198)
78,534 63,345 389,763 202,939 232,406
129,316 125,553 418,269 232,559 252,002
(50,782) (62,208) (28,506) (29,620) (19,596)
78,534 63,345 389,763 202,939 232,406

B AR R,
As at 31 December
Rt=A=+-A

pLip11] 2019 2018 2017 2016
b Sl 23 “T-NEF —E-N\F —E—+tF ZE-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FHT TET FHT TR

2,013,825 2,198,964 2,002,012 1,451,206 1,177,685
1,239,096 1,441,277 1,004,541 873,318 883,712
(944,049) (908,493) (676,825) (431,085) (358,375)
295,047 532,784 327,716 442,233 525,337
(193,494) (254,310) (91,659) (96,507) (68,306)
2,115,378 2,477,438 2,238,069 1,796,932 1,634,716
2,149,795 2,295,900 2,210,543 1,804,346 1,601,726
(34,417) 181,538 27,526 (7,414) 32,990
2,115,378 2,477,438 2,238,069 1,796,932 1,634,716
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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the"Company”
or “"Lee’s Pharm”, together with its subsidiaries, the “"Group”) and its
board ("Board”) of directors (“Directors”), I am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the
“Reporting Year”).

COVID-19 pandemic has brought the way to run business into a new era,
such as the incorporation of new digital tools into the work processes
to mitigate the paralysing effects of the pandemic, and the application
of digital communication solutions to replace the traditional meetings
and travels, etc. At Lee’s Pharm, we work together again as one team
to sail through the storm and delivered solid business results for our
shareholders.

The Group’s profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders for the
year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to HK$129,316,000, compared
to HK$125,553,000 last year. Basic earnings per share were HK21.99
cents, compared to HK21.22 cents last year. The Board recommended
the payment of a final dividend of HK3.1 cents per share for the year
ended 31 December 2020. Together with the interim dividend of HK2.7
cents per share, the dividend for the full year will be HK5.8 cents per
share, compared to HK5.6 cents last year. Subject to the approval by the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the
final dividend will be paid on 18 June 2021.

The medical and healthcare reforms continued by the Chinese Government
during the year under review. From the enhancement of the medical
insurance system, the new reimbursement drug list, the Group Purchasing
Organisation (GPO) programme implementation, to the extension of
consistency evaluation of generic drugs from oral dose formulation
products to injectable formulation products and e-hospitals. These
changes have shifted the dynamic in the pharmaceutical industry towards
innovation. Being a research-driven biopharmaceutical group and having
embraced innovation early on, we firmly believed that the Group will
benefit from these new laws and regulations in the long run and we are
well positioned to capture the opportunities.

During the Reporting Year and up to date, we managed to obtain 5 new
drug application and abbreviated new drug application approvals which
provides the catalysts for future revenue growth. In order to support the
pace of the new and upcoming products launch, we have made a major
transformation in our sales force and established the Group Commercial
Operation Centre, a dedicated unit to manage all aspects of the Group’s
commercial operations in China. By taking such measures, we shall expect
further enhancement on the efficiency and effectiveness of our sales force
and to enable us to respond to rapidly changing pharmaceutical market
environment and business needs.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K BRI AL A R A 7

B EHIR

$AE§1&%€$E€KZ¥ZWT*H§%B&“T(MS"‘ﬁHZFTﬁ
KRR SREMBAR  [FAEE)RAEER(E
ze((EsSE)) - ﬁ/\%zﬁwﬂi%l& It e
ToAZT—BUEFE(REFEDOFERS ©

COVID-19RRITIEHE & 1 IR - s
BB TAEE A TEREUREARITS EBERNY
2. PREARSTHEEHRAFRINERANSELZE
% FRALEMEKF R —LERBER - AREERE
FREE -

(BT -TF+ A=+ —HILFE AEEHOAK
A B IR EAE R 129,316,000 7T - MEF A
125,553,000/ 7T ° iﬁﬁﬁzwiﬁﬂtm 99l - EF
A21.2278 - EEEEBREBE_S_TF+=A
=t+—HIEFERARE tﬂx3 1840 - BRI S
FR2.781 - 2FREATRS5.8B1 - ziﬁ‘lz%s.e
Bl o FARRIBRRENERITHRTBF A Lib#
% REBREBHR-_Z-_—FXA+/\BXM -

REBEFE  PRBFEEETERMRESE - R
BREIE  rERERE S SERBASEROF
BIME N - A RIEAR O IRECTT 2 ah 20% 51 AL 77 2= A
BRH R E—BUIERHE - ZFECERERERE
BIFTTTIA o {ER— MR RES L FEHEARFTNEY

HELERE  BHMREAREBRESEELHNERE
B - WABRIIERES

RBEFELBEESH  RIACRIGSEMN EAE R
LR LRI - BARRRARRIZRE ) - BIFFH
EmMAKEHEELNSELTE  ROYHEEGET
TEARRE  YHRIZTEREZHEFL FFHAEEER
SEEFEBHEEENSETE o BRRIULEHEE -
AT S ER A RCRFRBE A — iR - R
BEEHSEEENBETISRIBEMEBERRK



Drug development is the key process of bringing a new pharmaceutical
product to the market. During the year under review, we invested
over HK$389 million in research and development ("R&D"), including
expensed and capitalised parts, which represented 32.0% of our annual
revenue in 2020. Such investments enable us to accelerate the clinical
development programmes in various therapeutic areas, including the area
of ophthalmology under Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (*ZKO") which
ended up successfully attracted strong interests from renowned investors
to close its Series B fund raising of US$145 million in November 2020.
Following the financing, ZKO has submitted its listing application form to
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 December 2020.

Looking ahead, with over 40 products in various stages of development
currently in progress and several products launched in the year, we shall
expect more of our pipeline products being moved towards the harvest
stage which in turn continued to improve the Group’s longer-term growth
potential.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank to the Board, all
our business partners, management and every member of staff for their
continual contribution and support. We will spare no effort to seek new
growth opportunities and to enhance our shareholders’ value.

Lee Siu Fong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

COVID-19 pandemic is believed to be the most unforgettable part of
the history in 2020 and the impact and effects thereof are being felt by
the economy globally during the year ended 31 December 2020 (the
“Reporting Year”). Nevertheless, after hard-fought battles since the
beginning of 2020, China basically managed to contain the pandemic
and gradually resumed business activities within the region starting from
the third quarter of 2020. With the strong fundamentals of the Group,
its businesses remained solid and improved progressively amid such
unprecedented challenges and uncertainties.

Major regulatory and policy changes in the pharmaceutical industry
during the Reporting Year and up to date mainly revolved around the
enhancement of the medical insurance system, the new reimbursement
drug list, the Group Purchasing Organisation (GPO) programme
implementation, and the extension of consistency evaluation of generic
drugs from oral dose formulation products to injectable formulation
products. These major healthcare reform policies have undoubtedly
created more challenges to the pharmaceutical industry. Nevertheless,
the Group has prepared to adapt to this continual business environmental
changes and there was no significant impact to the Group’s business
operations and financial performances during the Reporting Year.

Revenue and Profit

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$1,216,716,000 (2019: HK$1,218,913,000), representing a year-on-
year decrease of 0.2%. Sales of licensed-in products was HK$677,951,000
(2019: HK$683,286,000) and accounted for 55.7% (2019: 56.1%) of
the Group’s revenue while sales of proprietary and generic products was
HK$538,765,000 (2019: HK$535,627,000) and contributed 44.3% (2019:
43.9%) of the Group’s revenue.

For the sales of licensed-in products, Carnitene® achieved a decent
growth of 15.0% as the demand for chronic disease medications remains
intact and the Group’s other marketable products such as Gaslon N®,
Mictonorm® and Sancuso® also made contribution to the revenue growth
during the Reporting Year which helped to alleviate the negative impact on
the growth of Ferplex® which recorded a decrease of 4.6%, and Zanidip®
which recorded a decrease of 13.1% following its early termination of the
license and supply agreement with effect from 30 June 2020. Overall,
revenue of licensed-in products (excluding sales of Remodulin®) during
the Reporting Year was HK$677,951,000 (2019: HK$642,368,000),
represented a positive growth of 5.5% as compared to that of in 2019.

The Group’s first generic product, Treprostinil Injection, was timely
launched in March 2020 which instantly contributed the Group’s revenue
during the Reporting Year and fully compensated the loss of revenue
following the termination of Remodulin® distribution by the end of 2019.
Sales of generic Treprostinil Injection was HK$42,868,000 during the
Reporting Year, represented 4.8% growth as compared to the sales of
Remodulin® of HK$40,918,000 achieved in 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the sales of proprietary products during the Reporting Year, Yallaferon®
achieved sales growth of 8.9%, but sales of drugs for surgical use such as
Livaracine® and Slounase® dropped 6.3 % and 22.5 %, respectively, which
were affected by the COVID-19 pandemic when the hospitals postponed
non-urgent surgeries during the first half of 2020, and only began to
improve during the second half of 2020. Revenue of proprietary products
during the Reporting Year was HK$495,897,000 (2019: HK$535,627,000),
represented a decrease of 7.4% as compared to last year.

The Group achieved a gross profit of HK$781,066,000 (2019:
HK$798,256,000). Despite the slow start to the year, the decrease has
eventually narrowed considerably to 2.2% as compared to last year. The
gross profit margin was 64.2% in 2020, declined by 1.3 percentage point
from 65.5% in 2019.

The Group continued to increase its research and development ("R&D")
efforts in new drugs development and HK$389,399,000 was spent in
R&D activities during 2020 (2019: HK$325,985,000), represented 32.0%
(2019: 26.7%) to the corresponding yearly revenue, which was believed
to be among the highest in domestic pharmaceutical companies. Among
which HK$203,294,000 (2019: HK$149,945,000) has been recognised
as expenses and HK$186,105,000 (2019: HK$176,040,000) has been
capitalised as intangible assets. In additions, HK$111,139,000 (2019:
HK$66,326,000) license fees for licensed-in products has been recognised
as intangible assets during 2020.

In order to streamline the sales and marketing efficiency, the Group
implemented some significant reforms in its sales team during the
Reporting Year, including the reorganisation thereof into six business
units and led by the newly established Group Commercial Operations
Centre ("GCOC"). The GCOC is a dedicated unit to manage all aspects
of the Group’s commercial operations in China, such as to enhance the
efficiency and effectiveness thereof, to respond to the rapidly changing
pharmaceutical market environment and business needs, to unleash
the full potential of the launched products, to enhance the readiness for
new product launch, and with a view to achieve steady and sustainable
sales growth. During the Reporting Year, special focus had been placed
on strengthening existing and exploring new distribution channels as
well as on the preparation for the roll-out of new and upcoming products
and adequate resources have been deployed thereto. Overall, the selling
expenses to revenue ratio has increased to 23.0%, compared to 20.7%
last year.

B E R am M

ENREFEREENERNHEER  (LBR)IHE
HIER8.9% » HECSIIBE IO RCGRLLIB)OFIMN F iy 42

YIS ERE D R T #6.3% 2 22.5% © T35 COVID-19
/ﬁh%; BRERN T -_TF L EHHIEIE
BE2FM BEE T _TETEEERGT RTE - Rk

EEE ??ﬂ%uu”&mﬁ495,897,0007’$ﬁ(:;?*jl
% : 535,627,000/70) - MAEF T#7.4% °

7N % B §% 15 £ 71 781,066,000 B T (=T — L F -

798,256,000 7C) - BAKRFERISEIE - HESE
B RFEUESREEENREE2.2% —ZE-_TEHE

ME64.2%
B

BT — NFM65.5% FNK1.3EED

NEBBEMARENENRELFAR(HEDNE -
T T EE B 2 E389,399,000/8 T (=
T — L : 325,985,000 7T) * (A EFERAD
32.0%(=F—/LF :26.7%) © HEEEANELEQTZ
IR R o B #r9203,294,000/8 T ( — T — M4 -
149,945,000/ 0) E#ER A - 186,105,000/
7‘1(:=ffn¢ : 176,040,000 7T ) AI & A BER
BEE o N T4 - 111,139,000/ T (= F
— 1% 1 66,326,000 70) KB E R EFEC R/
EVEE -

i7i

BIEMIHE REHER - IBANE AKERREFE
HIHEBBEL S TEANSE - BEBZEREEAN
ExEa - WERTEESHPORESELN - SEE
HPOLEREEASETRBEEENSEFE - flw
RAMEMR G - NEHIRREFNEETISRIERE
HEK BER EMERNSAER  BUMANER
ETEEE - UEEBRETENIBEHSEER - iR
HEE - EERERSERRREBENEERE  ARFEKRR
FretgRE - R ANER RISt &) E M EmiELE
B WIEREHER - BEME @+ BEFM20.7%L
- B Eﬁttfiﬂim 0% °

Annual Report 2020 ik

13



14

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s mm Mo

Hospital pharmacies were used to be the main retail channel for
prescription drugs, but COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the
conversion to online. In addition, the China’s Drug Administration Law
which permits drug developers, manufacturers and sellers, as well as
third-party e-commerce platforms, to sell prescription medicines online
has been in effect in late 2019 has been elaborated further with the
draft regulations in November 2020 which outlining clearer procedures
for online consultation and sales of prescription drugs. Accordingly, the
importance of online pharmacies has increased significantly. During the
year under review, the Group has set up a new Retail Business Unit (Z&%
%30) and officially entered the e-commerce business with 2 OTC products,
namely 30g Yallaferon® and 4-vial box Ferplex®, and is planned to put
more resources toward the online sale channels.

Certain one-off items such as compensation income of HK$41,208,000 from
the early termination of the license and supply agreement of Zanidip®; and
net negative impact of approximately HK$23,296,000 which represented
a gain on disposal of interest in Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (*ZKO"),
the then 50.117% owned subsidiary of the Group, following the completion
of the share repurchase under the license agreement dated 2 October
2020 which reducing the retained interest to 48.539% of approximately
HK$157,345,000, and a loss on reduction in equity interest in ZKO of
approximately HK$180,641,000 after ZKO conducted the Series B financing
with its investors on 9 October 2020, were recognised during the Reporting
Year. Taking into account the effect of the absence of considerable intangible
assets impairment as compared to the non-recurring loss of approximately
HK$108,564,000 incurred by the Group’s 65%-owned oncology R&D arm in
relations to the discontinuation of Pexa-Vec global Phase III clinical trial for
advanced liver cancer last year, net profit attributable to the owners of the
Company for the year was HK$129,316,000, compared to HK$125,553,000
last year.

Manufacturing Facilities and Production
Capability

During the Reporting Year and up to date, the Group achieved good progress
in production capacity expansions and manufacturing facility upgrades of
Yallaferon® and Livaracine® in Hefei site. In Nansha site, the manufacturing
of Tecarfarin tablet and Nokxaban tablet for GMP applications and clinical
trials are actively moving forward in good progress. The equipment
installation and commission for the productions of oral cytotoxic drugs and
continuous glucose monitor were completed, and both facilities are ready for
making clinical samples and/or registration batch.

Drug Development

The Group’s R&D pipeline covers major therapeutics areas such as
cardiovascular, woman health, paediatrics, rare diseases, dermatology,
obstetrics and urology. It also operates a separate R&D arm in the area
of oncology. To date, the Group has over 40 projects from early- to late-
stage development and measurable progress has been made during the
Reporting Year and up to date.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Major therapeutic areas

INOmax®

On 20 February 2020, the New Drug Application ("NDA”) of INOmax®
(nitric oxide) gas for inhalation ("INOmax®”) has been granted
priority review for paediatric orphan disease by China National Medical
Products Administration ("NMPA”). INOmax® is an inhaled nitric oxide
pharmaceutical for treating term and near-term neonates (>34 weeks)
with hypoxic respiratory failure (HRF) associated with pulmonary
hypertension.

Natulan®

On 28 April 2020, NDA of Natulan® for the treatment of advanced
Hodgkin’s lymphoma (“HL"”) has been accepted for review by NMPA.
Natulan® (Procarbazine Hydrochloride Capsule) in combination
chemotherapy is suitable for the treatment of HL and certain brain cancers
(such as glioblastoma multiforme). It is a member of a group of medicines
called alkylating agents.

Adasuve®

In April 2020, the Group has commenced a pivotal Phase III study of
Staccato® loxapine for inhalation system (Adasuve®) in China. Adasuve®
is the first and only orally inhaled loxapine powder for the acute treatment
of agitation associated with schizophrenia or bipolar I disorder in adults.
This pivotal Phase III multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-
controlled, parallel group study (NCT04148963) is designed to evaluate
the efficacy and safety of Adasuve® or placebo in treating acute agitation
in patients with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder (manic or mixed
episodes) as defined by The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental
Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5) criteria. The study was conducted at 19
trial sites in China and the enrollment of 150 patients has been completed
in July 2020. The analysis of unblinded topline data and the positive
results thereof in August 2020 showed that this study has met its primary
endpoint, a rapid onset of action was demonstrated by a statistically
significant decrease (p < 0.05) from baseline in the Positive and Negative
Syndrome Scale Excited Component (also known as PEC) score at 2 hours
post dose. NDA has been filed to NMPA for review during the year.
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Staccato® fentanyl

On 2 November 2020, the Investigational New Drug ("IND") application of
Staccato® fentanyl for inhalation for the treatment of cancer breakthrough
pain has been granted the approval by NMPA. Staccato® fentanyl for
inhalation system is a combination drug-device delivery product designed
for rapid, systemic delivery of aerosolised fentanyl via the lung. The
product integrates the latest technology with a unique drug delivery
technology, ensuring efficacy while deterring abuse and preventing
overdose. The coming Phase I/IIa multicentre study in China is designed
to evaluate the efficacy and safety of Staccato® fentanyl in treating
breakthrough pain in patients with cancer. The study will be comprised of
two stages: stage one study is designed to determine the recommended
dosage; and stage two study will be a pharmacokinetic (PK) study based
on the recommended dosage which can get the patients relieved from the
pain in stage one. The Group is expected to commence this Phase I/Ila
clinical trial of Staccato® fentanyl in early 2021.

Cetraxal® Plus

On 5 January 2021, the Group recruited its first patient dosed with
Cetraxal® Plus an ear drops product licensed from Laboratorios Salvat
S.A. targeting acute otitis externa (AOE), and acute otitis media with
tympanostomy tubes (AOMT) in a Phase III clinical trial in China.

Intrarosa®

On 5 January 2021, the Group has been granted the clinical trial approval
from the NMPA to initiate a Phase III, multicentre, randomised, double
blinded, parallel group clinical trial of Intrarosa®, a product licensed from
Endoceutics, Inc., in the treatment of vulvovaginal atrophy (“VVA").
This pivotal Phase III study is expected to initiate patient recruitment
in the second quarter of 2021. Intrarosa® is the only U.S. Food and
Drug Administration ("FDA"”) approved, locally administered, daily non-
estrogen steroid for the treatment of moderate to severe dyspareunia (pain
during intercourse), a symptom of VVA, due to menopause. Intrarosa®’s
product information does not have any boxed (safety) warnings,
contrary to all other FDA approved drugs for the treatment of VVA, which
have boxed warnings. Intrarosa® contains prasterone, also known as
dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA). Prasterone is an inactive endogenous
steroid, which is converted locally into androgens and estrogens to help
restore the vaginal tissue as indicated by improvements in the percentage
of superficial and parabasal cells, and pH.
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Lutrate®

On 27 January 2021, the NDA of Lutrate® Depot (leuprolide acetate for
depot suspension) 3.75 mg 1-month administration (“Lutrate®”) for
the palliative treatment of advanced prostate cancer has been accepted
for review by NMPA. Lutrate® contains the active ingredient leuprolide
acetate which belongs to a group of drugs called Iuteinising hormone-
releasing hormone ("LHRH"”) agonists that reduce testosterone - the
major androgen. Treatment with LHRH agonists is the predominant form
of androgen deprivation therapy and has become the standard of care for
metastatic prostatic cancer.

Adapalene-Clindamycin Combination Gel

Adapalene-Clindamycin Combination Gel ("TACCG") is a proprietary
product of ZKO under development for the treatment of moderate acne
vulgaris. Adapalene is a retinoic acid receptor ("RAR"”) agonist that
stimulates skin growth and Clindamycin is an antibiotic that blocks
bacterial protein synthesis. Combination of Adapalene and Clindamycin
with different mechanisms of action is believed to be more efficacious
than each alone in the treatment of acne vulgaris. The pivotal Phase III
clinical trial of ACCG for the treatment of moderate acne vulgaris in China,
administered by ZKO, was completed in June 2020. The top-line results
from the pivotal Phase III trial show that the study has met its primary
endpoint, demonstrating ACCG’s superiority over either the Adapalene
Gel or Clindamycin Phosphate Gel alone with a highly significant statistical
difference (p < 0.0001). On 2 February 2021, ZKO had its NDA submission
filed to the NMPA and marketing approval is expected in 2021.

On 2 October 2020, the Group has entered into a licensing agreement with
ZKO pursuant to which exclusive license right have been granted by ZKO
to the Group in relation to ACCG in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau Special
Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan region. The Group disposed
1.578% indirect interest in ZKO for the settlement of US$10,000,000
(equivalent to HK$77,500,000 approximate) upfront payment for the
license rights. By obtaining the license rights, the Group will be able
to supplement its existing capabilities in the treatment of dermatology
diseases and will be beneficial to the Group. Details of which have been
disclosed in the announcement dated 4 October 2020.

GCC-4401C

On 1 March 2021, the Group has been granted the approval of the
IND application of GCC-4401C from the NMPA to conduct clinical trials
investigating GCC-4401C as a potential treatment for cirrhotic patients
with non-tumoral portal vein thrombosis ("PVT”). GCC-4401C is a novel
direct oral anticoagulant with structural similarity to rivaroxaban. It
directly inhibits the activity of factor Xa, an important validated target in
the blood coagulation pathway, to prevent thrombosis.

During the Reporting Year and up to date, the Group obtained 5 NDA and
Abbreviated New Drug Application ("ANDA") approvals from NMPA.
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Treprostinil Injection

On 18 March 2020, Treprostinil Injection, a drug indicated for the
treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension ("PAH") obtained approval
for manufacturing and marketing from the NMPA. Treprostinil Injection
is a subcutaneously or intravenously administered prostacyclin analogue
for the treatment of PAH in patients (PAH; WHO Group 1) to diminish
symptoms associated with exercise and improve exercise capacity.
The aforesaid approval by NMPA has made Treprostinil the first generic
available in China.

Prulifloxacin

On 12 June 2020, Unidrox® (Prulifloxacin tablet), a drug indicated for
the treatment of patients with acute uncomplicated lower urinary tract
infections (simple cystitis), complicated lower urinary tract infections,
acute exacerbation of chronic bronchitis, or acute bacterial rhinosinusitis,
obtained the Imported Drug License from the NMPA. Prulifloxacin is an oral
quinolone antibacterial agent.

Nadroparin Calcium

On 24 July 2020, Nadroparin Calcium for Injection (brand name:
Livaracine®), a low molecular weight heparin ("LMWH") product,
obtained drug registration approval from the NMPA. The classification of
Livaracine® as Nadroparin is a validation and confirmation of Livaracine®’s
quality, safety and efficacy profile and, significantly expanding its current
indications. Nadroparin is an anticoagulant and is a specific class of LMWH.
It is indicated to prevent deep vein thrombosis after surgery and treat the
formation of deep vein thrombosis. It is also indicated in the treatment
of ischemic complications in unstable angina and non-g-wave myocardial
infarction in combination with aspirin and prevention of clotting during
hemodialysis.

Trittico®

On 2 December 2020, Trittico® (trazodone hydrochloride tablets), a
drug indicated for the treatment of depression with or without anxiety,
obtained the drug registration approval from the NMPA. Trazodone, a
potent postsynaptic serotonin 5-HT2A receptor antagonist and a moderate
inhibitor of serotonin reuptake, is the original member of the SARIs
(serotonin-2 antagonist/reuptake inhibitors) group of antidepressants and
currently Trazodone is the only SARI marketed all around the world.
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Fondaparinux Sodium Injection

On 2 February 2021, Fondaparinux Sodium Injection (0.5 ml: 2.5 mg),
a drug indicated to prevent deep vein thrombosis (DVT; a blood clot,
usually in the leg), which can lead to pulmonary embolism (PE; a blood
clot in the lung), in people who are having hip surgery, hip or knee
replacement, or abdominal surgery, obtained approval for manufacturing
and marketing from the NMPA. Fondaparinux sodium is a synthetic and
specific inhibitor of coagulation activated factor X (factor Xa) with high
bioavailability, fast acting and longer half-life. It has no effect on factor
IIa, and has low bleeding adverse event. It inhibits only free factor Xa but
not factor Xa bound to the prothrombinase. Use of fondaparinux does not
require monitoring of PT (prothrombin time) and aPTT (activated partial
thromboplastin time). The short chain length of fondaparinux sodium
results in devoid of immunogenicity. It does not interact with platelet and
does not induce thrombocytopenia. It has no hepatotoxicity and has less
allergic reactions.

Among other ANDA submissions, Sodium Phenylbutyrate Granule has
been successfully passed the manufacturing audit conducted by the NMPA.
Supplemental data for Sodium Phenylbutyrate Tablet has been requested
by the CDE and will be submitted soon.

Oncology Pipeline Highlights

China Oncology Focus Limited ("COF”), a 65% owned subsidiary of the
Group, is the Group’s R&D arm in the area of oncology. To date, there are
10 oncology assets, including 5 innovative and 5 generic, in development
for the treatment of a range of cancers.

Socazolimab in recurrent and metastatic cervical cancer

On 10 July 2020, COF submitted the application of breakthrough therapy
designation ("BTD") to the NMPA for Socazolimab (anti-PD-L1 monoclonal
antibody, formerly known as ZKABOO1) in recurrent and metastatic
cervical cancer. Socazolimab is a fully human anti-PD-L1 monoclonal
antibody targeting tumor PD-L1 protein. It can release the “brake” causing
by the tumor cell to the immune system. The BTD has been granted by
the NMPA on 5 February 2021.

Socazolimab in osteosarcoma
On 21 August 2020, COF commenced the patient enrolment and the first

patient has been dosed in an osteosarcoma Phase III clinical trial using
Socazolimab.
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Socazolimab combined with chemotherapy in small-cell
lung cancer

On 1 March 2021, COF has been granted the clinical trial application
approval from the NMPA to conduct a Phase III, multicentre, randomised,
double blinded, parallel-group clinical trial of Socazolimab combined with
chemotherapy in the first-line treatment of extensive-stage small-cell lung
cancer. The approval is based on the results from an earlier Phase Ib trial
in which Socazolimab combined with carboplatin and etoposide showed
promising efficacy and safety profile in patients with extensive-stage
small-cell lung cancer. This clinical trial will be led by Prof. Shun Lu (FE5%)
from Shanghai Chest Hospital (L/8MEIEEFT) and is expected to initiate
patient recruitment in the second quarter of 2021.

Ophthalmology Pipeline Highlights

The Group has also involved in ophthalmology business through its
investment in ZKO which includes over 20 proprietary products and
difficult to manufacture generics (ranging from pre-clinical to registration
stage) for the Chinese and ASEAN markets.

Cyclosporine A Ophthalmic Gel

On 27 November 2020, ZKO recruited its first patient dosed with
Cyclosporine A ("CsA”) Ophthalmic Gel, a drug for the treatment of
keratoconjunctivitis sicca (dry eye) in a Phase III clinical trial in China.
CsA Ophthalmic Gel is an innovative hydrogel formulation as opposed
to the oil-based emulsion formulation in Restasis. Its Phase II clinical
trial data of CsA Ophthalmic Gel was published in Clinical Therapeutics,
an international peer-reviewed journal of drug therapy, in an article
entitled “Efficacy, Safety, and Tolerability of a Novel Cyclosporine, a
Formulation for Dry Eye Disease: a Multicenter Phase II Clinical Study”
(https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinthera.2020.12.023). The publication
showed Phase II clinical trial data of CsA Ophthalmic Gel for the treatment
of moderate to severe dry eye disease and that CsA Ophthalmic Gel
exhibited excellent safety, tolerability, and efficacy profiles at different
concentrations and dosing frequencies. CsA Ophthalmic Gel’s one dose
every night regimen is expected to significantly improve patients’ quality
of life and have better treatment compliance compared to Restasis’ twice-
daily dosing regimen by relieving the patients from having to experience
potential drug-related transient discomfort in the eye during the day.
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ZKY001

On 24 December 2020, ZKO recruited its first patient dosed with ZKY001
through anti-inflammatory effects plus stimulation of epithelial cell
migration, in a Phase II clinical trial in China. ZKY001 is a potential first-
in-class eye drop targeting CED, the partial or complete loss of the
epithelial cells in the cornea. ZKY001 is a seven amino acid peptide,
LKKTETQ, resembling part of thymosin B4 that plays a central role in cell
structure and movement. Through its regulation of actin, ZKY001 is able
to accelerate corneal epithelial wound repair and enhance epithelial cell
migration.

Business Partnership

The in-licensing approach is the Group’s preferred mode of business
development strategy. Nevertheless, the Group has remained selective in
entering new in-licensing deals. During the Reporting Year and up to date,
ZKO entered into three in-licensing deals with foreign business partners
which involve four new ophthalmic products to enrich its R&D pipeline.

In addition, the Group has achieved a new breakthrough of business
subsequent to the Reporting Year. On 2 March 2021, a distribution
agreement with Kunming Baker Norton Pharmaceutical Sales Co., Ltd.
("KBNS"”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of KPC Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(“"KPC", stock code: 600422.SH), had become effective and pursuant to
which exclusive promotion right of Fondaparinux Sodium Injection ( % &
FFE£4m159%) (0.5 ml: 2.5 mg) in 18 provinces in China including Jiangsu,
Zhejiang, Henan and Shandong, etc, has been granted to KBNS. The
Group believed that the collaboration with KPC shall enable the Group to
leverage on KPC’s proven sales force on new products promotion.

Strategic Investments

One of the Group’s strategic investments has reached a milestone
during the Reporting Year. On 20 May 2020, Windtree Therapeutics, Inc.
(“Windtree”) has successfully uplisted its common shares from the OTC
Markets to the Nasdaqg Capital Market® after the completion of financing
via public offering. The proceeds therefrom provided additional resources
for Windtree to advance its clinical studies and create value.
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Corporate Development

The Group upholds its commitment to separate its R&D arms and to
incubate them into standalone biotech entities. Following its Series A
fund raising in May 2019, ZKO closed its Series B fund raising during
the fourth quarter of the Reporting Year which provided adequate
resources for ZKO to conduct drug innovation and development in various
ophthalmic indications and to help pave its path towards possible spin-
off and a separate listing. This Series B financing round was jointly led
by Hillhouse COFL and TPG Asia, and participated by Loyal Valley Capital
and other private equity firms such as Orbimed and Aier Eye Hospital,
as well as the majority of Series A investors, which are among the most
recognised and respected players in the biotech industry, and raised
US$145,000,000 (approximately HK$1,131,000,000 equivalent). Right
before the completion of the Series B preferred shares subscription
agreement (the “Series B Completion”), the Group owned 48.539%
of the interest in ZKO. Immediately after the Series B Completion, the
Group’s indirect interest in ZKO was reduced to 33.575% (on as an
enlarged basis by taking into account the issuance of the preferred shares
on an as if converted basis). All conditions to the Series B preferred shares
subscription agreement were fulfilled and the aggregate consideration
of US$145,000,000 was fully settled by the investors on 17 November
2020. Details of the Series B financing were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 11 October 2020 and 17 November 2020.

On 18 December 2020, ZKO submitted its listing application form to
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“"Stock Exchange”) for an
application for the listing of, and permission to deal in, its ordinary shares
on the main board of the Stock Exchange by way of global offering.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Net Profit Attributable to the
Owners of the Company

The Group’s revenue decreased year-on-year by HK$2,197,000 or 0.2%,
from HK$1,218,913,000 in 2019 to HK$1,216,716,000 in 2020. During the
year, the sales of proprietary and generic products increased by 3.1% and
the sales of licensed-in products increased by 10.6%.

Revenue &

Proprietary and generic products BRI MG RER
Licensed-in products SI#EER
Total “Et

Net profit attributable to owners of the Company increased by 3.0% from
HK$125,553,000 in 2019 to HK$129,316,000 in 2020.
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Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit margin for the financial year 2020 was 64.2%, decreased by
1.3 percentage point as compared with year 2019.

Other Income

Other income for the financial year 2020 recorded an increase of
98.9% as compared to corresponding period of last year and reached
HK$150,587,000. Other income during the year included certain one-
off items such as compensation income for the early termination of the
license and supply agreement of Zanidip®, development grants from local
government, government grant in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies
and research and development service income.

Other Gains and Losses, Net

Other gains and losses recorded a net loss of HK$57,588,000 for the fiscal
year 2020 which was mainly attributable to the HK$21,465,000 net fair
value decrease of financial instruments measured at fair value through
profit or loss, and HK$23,296,000 net loss from the reduced interest in
ZKO.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the financial year 2020 recorded an
increase of 11.2% as compared to the corresponding period of last year to
HK$279,947,000, representing 23.0% of the Group’s revenue, increased
by 2.3 percentage points as compared with 20.7% that of in the prior
year. This is mainly attributable to the reform of the Group’s sales team,
including the establishment of the newly GCOC, as well as more resources
had been placed on strengthening existing and exploring new distribution
channels, and on the preparation for the roll-out of new products.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses for the financial year 2020 slightly decreased
HK$1,367,000 to HK$237,721,000 from the corresponding period of last
year, and accounted for 19.5% of the Group’s revenue during the year
under review, decreased by 0.1 percentage point as compared with that of
2019.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the year ended 31 December
2020 increased by HK$53,349,000 as compared with the corresponding
period of the prior year to HK$203,294,000, and accounted for 16.7% of
the Group’s revenue, increased by 4.4 percentage points as compared with
12.3% that of in the prior year. Together with the capitalised research
and development costs of HK$186,105,000 (2019: HK$176,040,000), the
amount spent in research and development activities during the year was
HK$389,399,000, increased by HK$63,414,000 or 19.5% as compared
with the corresponding period of the prior year.

Taxation

The income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2020 decreased
by HK$4,038,000 as compared with the corresponding period of prior
year to HK$55,503,000. The Group’s effective tax rate was approximately
41.4% during the year under review, decreased by 7.1 percentage points
as compared with 48.5% for the prior year. More tax losses were utilised
by group companies and lowered the effective rate in current year.

Investments Held

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s investment portfolio amounted to
approximately HK$421,690,000 (31 December 2019: HK$689,940,000) as
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position under various
categories including:

- interests in associates which are accounted for by using equity
method;

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"); and

- financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI").

Changes in respective items in the consolidated statement of financial

position have been disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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Details of the significant investments in the portfolio under financial assets

as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Approximate

percentage to Changes in
Approximate the Group’s fair value
investment Fair value audited total during the
cost as at as at assets as at year 2020
31 December 31 December 31 December (Decrease)
Description of investment 2020 2020 2020 Increase
REE
R-Z-ZF
R-ZE-EF R-ZE-EF t=A=+—~H” —ERCEERH
+=A=+—H +=A=+-—H NEBLEERR DNTEEE
REFE KR IR E A HNATE BMAOBEDH (R4 &0
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHEIT
Windtree Therapeutics Inc. (Note 1) 446,258 187,114 5.8% (280,934)
Windtree Therapeutics Inc. (1)
Other financial assets at FVTOCI (Note 2) 192,227 190,470 5.8% 24,614
Hib N FESBE M2 IR
s EE(MFE2)
Total financial assets at FVTOCI 638,485 377,584 11.6% (256,320)
BRATEEBEME WSROI S EERRE
Financial assets at FVTPL (Note 2) 13,831 38,050 1.2% (17,963)
BRATFEBBRERTIROBEEPIFE2)
Total financial assets 652,316 415,634 12.8% (274,283)
B ERRE
Note 1:  Windtree Therapeutics Inc. is a clinical-stage, biopharmaceutical and MizF1 : Windtree Therapeutics Inc. & — R IE & - &

Note 2:

medical device company and is principally engaged in the development of
novel therapeutics intended to address significant unmet medical needs
in important acute care markets, and the development programs are
primarily focused in the treatment of acute cardiovascular and pulmonary
diseases. The Group held 4,706,364 shares of common stock of Windtree
Therapeutics Inc., representing approximately 27.8% of the total issued
shares of Windtree Therapeutics Inc. as at 31 December 2020. During the
year under review, the Group did not receive any dividend income from
Windtree Therapeutics Inc. The Group takes a longer term view on this
investment as there are clinical development programs in which the Group
and Windtree Therapeutics Inc. are working together and in good progress.

None of the carrying amount of each of the financial assets therein
constitutes 5% or more of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December
2020.
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The Group will closely monitor the performance of its investment portfolio
and will continue to invest strategically, and will explore opportunities in
monetising some of the existing investments if appropriate opportunities
in the market arise.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
investment as at 31 December 2020.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s principal sources of working capital in the current year mainly
included cash flow from operating activities and bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s current ratio (current assets
divided by current liabilities) was 1.31 (31 December 2019: 1.59). As at

FEEHBYEREREEANRE - BEETRRBM
BE - YeaEmSHREEREE  SREBIRER
BERLMKE

B EXHREES  ARER B -BET A=+
RBEETEARE -

B BT RUBEER
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WIZB-ZF+-A=+—H  AEEORBLECORD)
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31 December 2020, the Group had net cash position of HK$297,183,000 H :1.59f%) - R -T&F+—-A=+—H ' K&£E
(31 December 2019: net cash of HK$670,641,000) which represented by IR & F 5k 5297,183,0008 L (—ZE— NFE+=
below: A=+—8H : R&$%670,641,0008 ) * Hun~Fr
NG
2020 2019
bt 523 —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$’000
Net cash position REFEMR FExT FAT
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTE 375,199 364,994
Pledged bank deposits BEMIRITER 24,025 40,345
Time deposits TEBATE SR 39,336 410,136
Less: Short term bank and B RERIT R EAMEE
other borrowings (141,377) (144,834)
297,183 670,641
The calculation of Group’s gearing ratio based on the net borrowings (after ~ RN&EE B EFEE(NKBIE S LIBTES) YARRE

deducting cash and bank balances) to equity attributable to the owners of
the Company was nil as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: Nil).

Taking into consideration the existing financial resources available to
the Group, it is believed that the Group should have adequate financial
resources to meet its operation and development requirements in the
future.
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Treasury Policies

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury policies.
The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing
credit evaluations of the financial conditions of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the board of directors of the Company closely monitors
the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its funding
requirements.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Currently, the Group earns revenue and incurs costs mainly in Renminbi,
Hong Kong dollars, European Union euro, Japanese Yen, New Taiwan
dollars and United States dollars. The Directors believe that the Group
does not have foreign exchange problems in meeting its foreign exchange
requirements. The Group will continue to monitor closely its foreign
currency exposure and to consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure when necessary.

Pledge of Assets

Details of the pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 December 2020 are
set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2020
are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

Employee Information

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 1,302 (31 December 2019: 1,308)
employees working in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Taiwan.

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated on the performance
of individual employees and based on the trends of salaries in various
regions, which will be reviewed regularly every year. Apart from
mandatory provident fund scheme, retirement benefit scheme and
medical insurance, employees share options may also award to employees
according to the assessment of individual performance.
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PROSPECT

While the Group remains of the view that the tough environment will be
persisted in 2021, positive catalysts such as the containment of COVID-19
pandemic in China and the gradual re-opening of economy within the
region, the five newly approved products in 2020, and the transformed
sales force led by the newly established GCOC, are expected to drive the
Group to tide over the challenges.

The enhancement and reform in the pharmaceutical industry in China
continues to move forward, from the new national reimbursement drug
list, the intensified and expanded Group Purchasing Organisation (GPO)
programme following the increasing number of bioequivalence qualified
generic drug being approved, as well as the recent China’s Biosecurity Law
and China Patent Law which have been passed on 17 October 2020 and
will take effect in 2021. Being a research-driven biopharmaceutical group,
it is believed that the Group will be eventually benefited from these new
laws and regulations in the long run.

The Group will continue to stay focus on its new drug development and
cost containment in order to differentiate itself from other pharmaceutical
companies. Besides, the Group has made a big step forward in the path
towards possible spinoff and a separate listing of ZKO after the completion
of the Series B fundraising of ZKO and submitted its listing application
form to the Stock Exchange. With over 40 projects in the R&D pipeline
in various therapeutic areas, the Group believes that the spin-off and
separate listing of selective R&D arms into standalone companies may in
turn enhance the progress of the R&D programmes and drive the market
to recognise the value thereof, and also allow the Group to reserve more
resources to drive sales growth of marketable products and create value
for the shareholders.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lee Siu Fong
Chairman, aged 64

Ms. Lee Siu Fong joined the Group in April 1997 and has since been
responsible for the Group’s financial affairs. She is an entrepreneur and
had since 1992 established and run several companies with primary
responsibility in financial affairs. She is the sister of Ms. Leelalertsuphakun
Wanee and Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee

Managing Director, Chief Marketing & Sales Officer & member of
remuneration committee, aged 67

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee joined the Group in April 1997. She was
appointed the Chief Marketing & Sales Officer in September 2003 and has
been responsible for the Group’s sales and marketing activities since then.
She is the sister of Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

Li Xiaoyi
Chief Executive Officer & Chief Technical Officer, aged 58, PhD

Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds a PhD in Pharmacology from the University of Illinois at
Chicago and was a postdoctoral fellow with Parke-Davis Research Division
of Warner-Lambert company in the United States. He is an Honourary
Fellow and Adjunct Professor at the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He was appointed as a member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Anhui Province in China in January
2018. He is the founder of the Group and has been responsible for the
daily operations and research and development of the Group since 1994.
He is the brother of Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EERTEANERERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Simon Miles Ball
Aged 42

Mr. Simon Miles Ball joined the Board on 29 December 2017. He has
more than 20 years of business and management experience within the
pharmaceutical industry. He is currently the managing director of SMB
Capital Limited, an advisory practice operating across the life science
sectors. He also sits on the board of directors of Exelead Inc., a contract
and development manufacturing business. Previously he served in a
variety of operational and director positions at Leadiant Biosciences Ltd
and prior to that held regional roles with broad transactional responsibility
at several multinational pharmaceutical companies. In addition, he is also
a consultant of Qualister SA, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
He obtained his degree in physiology from the University of Leeds. Save as
the above, he does not have any relationship with any Director, substantial
shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Chan Yau Ching, Bob

Chairman of audit committee & member of remuneration
committee, aged 58, PhD, MBA, BBA, CFA, MHKSI

Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob joined the independent Board on 14 January
2002. He has extensive experience in corporate development and financial
management of high-growth companies. He had been a finance professor,
researcher and consultant. He had also served directorship at various
listed and privately held companies in Hong Kong and in the United
States. He was appointed as the independent non-executive director of
Hangzhou Huaxing Chuangye Communication Technology Co., Ltd., which
is a listed company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from December
2018 to November 2020. Currently, he is the managing director of KBR
Capital Limited, a company engaged in advising clients on management
and investment activities in China and Hong Kong. He is the independent
non-executive director of China High Speed Transmission Equipment
Group Co., Ltd. and Daisho Microline Holdings Limited, which are listed
companies on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He does not have any relationship with
any Director, substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the
Company.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

Lam Yat Cheong

Member of audit committee, aged 59, CPA (Practising), FCCA, BBA

Mr. Lam Yat Cheong joined the independent Board on 1 July 2004. He
is a sole proprietor of an audit firm and has over 30 years of auditing
and accounting experience. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He had also served directorship at various
listed companies in Hong Kong. He does not have any relationship with
any Director, substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Tsim Wah Keung, Karl

Chairman of remuneration committee and member of audit
committee, aged 62, PhD, MPhil, BSc

Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl joined the independent Board on 20 September
2004. He currently serves as Chair Professor of Life Science at the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree and a Master degree in Biochemistry from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong, and a Doctorate in Molecular Neurobiology from the
University of Cambridge. He has published numerous articles in biological
sciences and traditional Chinese medicines. He also serves in several local
committees in advising the development of traditional Chinese medicine as
health food products. He does not have any relationship with any Director,
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chow Yiu Ming
Group Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary, aged 47

Mr. Chow Yiu Ming joined the Company in October 2014 and is responsible
for the accounting and corporate finance functions of the Group. He has
over 24 years of experience in accounting, auditing, financial management
and corporate finance. Prior to joining the Company, he had held several
senior positions with listed and private companies in Hong Kong. He is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He holds
a Bachelor of Business Administration degree, majoring in Accounting
and Finance, from the University of Hong Kong and a Master of Science
in Professional Accountancy degree from the University of London. He
is also an independent non-executive director of Fortune Sun (China)
Holdings Limited which is a listed company on the main board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EERTEANERERE

Jiao Zhongyu

Chief Officer of Enterprise Development Department of the Group,
aged 51

Mr. Jiao Zhongyu is responsible for the government affair and legal affairs
of the Group in the PRC. He was appointed as the legal adviser of PRC
investment by the Group in 1999 in his capacity as a practising lawyer
in PRC. He has been appointed as the director of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited (*Zhaoke Hefei”) since 2010 and has extensive
experience in the government affair and legal affairs. In 2012, the Group
established the Enterprise Development Department and he has been
appointed as the Chief Officer thereof and responsible for the Group’s
strategic planning and development.

Tsui Victor Kailok

Chief Manufacturing Officer, Licensed Professional Engineer, aged
54, P.E. MSc

Mr. Victor Tsui graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnics University
and University of Wisconsin with a master degree in Engineering. Before
joining the Group, he worked for various pharmaceuticals companies in
the United States for over 25 years and was responsible for production
management. He joined the Group in 2009 as Chief Operating Officer of
Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“"PPI”, an associated company of
the Group). He has been appointed as Chief Manufacturing Officer of the
Group since 2012 to oversee the Group’s manufacturing operations. He
has also been appointed as director of PPI since 22 March 2013.

Yang Zhonggqiang

Executive Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, aged 46

Mr. Yang Zhonggiang holds a master’s degree in Pharmaceutical
Engineering from Shandong University and has a practicing pharmacist
certification. He has been working for the Group for more than 20 years,
and has been working in the Department of Research and Development
of New Drugs and Quality Department of Zhaoke Hefei. He has extensive
experience in the research and development of new drug, project
management and quality management. He had served as the quality
authorised person of Zhaoke Hefei since 2012 to oversee its drug quality
management and protection works. In 2017, he has been appointed as the
Executive Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Hefei.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

Dai Xiangrong

Group Deputy General Manager and President & Chief Operating
Officer of China Oncology Focus Limited, aged 41

Mr. Dai Xiangrong holds a bachelor’s degree of biochemistry and molecular
biology, and a master’s degree of biochemistry from Anhui Agricultural
University. He is also a licensed pharmacist. He joined the Group in 2007
and is responsible for the research and development of new drugs. He
has extensive experience in preclinical studies, clinical research and
registration of new drugs. He was responsible for various new drug
development programs and succeeded in bringing the programs to clinical
research studies. He was appointed as Senior Director of Research and
Development Centre of the Group in 2017 and was appointed as Group
Deputy General Manager in March 2019. He was appointed as President
and Chief Operating Officer of China Oncology Focus Limited in March 2018
and is fully responsible to the new drug development and registration.
He has been appointed as executive director of Zhaoke Ophthalmology
Limited in October 2020.

Sun Guorui

General manager of the Group Commercial Operations Centre,
aged 49

Mr. Sun Guorui graduated from Sichuan University with a bachelor’s
degree in engineering and a master’s degree in business administration
from Peking University. Before joining the Group, he worked in a number
of internationally renowned pharmaceutical companies, including Bayer
Pharmaceuticals, Merck & Co., Ltd., Beijing Novartis Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd., etc. He has more than 20 years of sales management experience
in the pharmaceutical industry and rich experience in handling national
marketing business and leading a large-scale marketing team. He joined
the Group since September 2020 as the general manager of the Group
Commercial Operations Centre ("GCOC"), responsible for the development
and management of the GCOC.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EERTEANERERE

Zhang Zeyun

Deputy General Manager of the Group Commercial Operations
Centre and Executive Deputy General Manager of Guangzhou
Zhaoke Lian Fa Pharmaceutical Limited, aged 40

Mr. Zhang joined the Group in October 2018 and is responsible for
the business management of the Group’s direct sales team in China.
He graduated from Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine with a
bachelor degree in Chinese Medicine. Before joining the Group, he worked
for several multinational pharmaceutical and healthcare companies
in China for over 15 years and was responsible for sales and market
access management. In March 2019, he was appointed as Commercial
Operations Director of the Group and Executive Deputy General Manager
of Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian Fa Pharmaceutical Limited (*Zhaoke Lian
Fa”), and is responsible for the commercial operations of the Group and
the daily operations management of Zhaoke Lian Fa, such as rationalise
marketing format innovation, responsible for the Group market access
department, establish non-medical market sales team, and responsible
for overall operations management of the oncology products marketing
team. He has been appointed as Deputy General Manager of the GCOC in
October 2020.

Fang Ling

Corporate Culture and Public Relations Director of the Group, aged
52

Ms. Fang Ling graduated from Anhui College Of Traditional Chinese
Medicine (currently known as Anhui University Of Traditional Chinese
Medicine) with a major in traditional Chinese medicine in 1992, and
received her Master of Business Administration in pharmaceutical
management degree from Business School, Renmin University of China in
2004. Before she joined the Group in March 1999, she had served Anhui
Province Shucheng County Chengguan Town Hospital Division during 1993
to 1998 as a Chinese medicine practitioner. She had been serving for the
Group for over 20 years in various positions. She has been appointed
Corporate Culture and Public Relations Director of the Group in April 2019
and also serves as the chief supervisor of the Beijing branch of Zhaoke
Hefei and the special assistant of the Chairman, and is responsible for
the external affairs such as brand building and public relations for the
Group, and internal affairs such as corporate culture development, brand
development plan, corporate promotion strategy formulation, preparation
and organisation. She is also responsible for the management of Lee’s
Pharm internet-based official account for corporate promotion, official
website, management and operation of the internal newsletter “Zhaoke
Communication”, as well as the management of the daily operations of the
Beijing branch of Zhaoke Hefei.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

Chen Yueshen
Director of Administration in China, aged 62

Mr. Chen Yueshen had been serving for the Group for more than 20
years in various positions such as the director and Deputy General
Manager of Zhaoke Hefei, Chief Operating Officer of the Group and the
Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited
(*Zhaoke Guangzhou”). He was responsible for the daily operations of
Zhaoke Hefei, including being responsible for the production and quality
management of Zhaoke Hefei. He has extensive experience in quality
management systems and GMP production. In November 2018, he was
appointed as the Director of Administration in China and is responsible for
the Group’s administrative matters in China.

Yin Lei

Associate Director, R&D of the Group and Deputy General Manager
of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited, aged 48

Mr. Yin Lei holds a bachelor’s degree from the Anhui University of Chinese
Medicine. He is also a licensed pharmacist. He joined the Group in 2014
and is responsible for the research and development of new drugs.
He has been engaged in drug research and development for nearly 20
years and has led to many successful cases in the field of small molecule
drugs, peptide drugs and biochemical drugs. In 2019, he was appointed
as Associate Director, R&D of the Group and Deputy General Manager
of Zhaoke Guangzhou and is fully responsible for the research and
development of new drugs of the Group.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EERTEANERERE

Xia Hongling

Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co.
Limited, aged 56

Ms. Xia Hongling holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
the Renmin University of China and has the qualification of accountant
in China. Before joining the Group, she had been responsible for the
accounting and finance function with a large state-owned manufacturing
enterprise for over 10 years. She joined the Group in 1997 and held
various positions in accounting and supply chain department in Zhaoke
Hefei for over 20 years. She has extensive experience in accounting,
finance and logistics management in pharmaceutical industry. She has
been appointed as Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Hefei since 2017
and further as the General Manager of the Shanghai branch of Zhaoke
Hefei since 2020.

Zhong Chengping

Quality director and quality authorised person of Zhaoke
Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited, aged 52

Ms. Zhong Chengping graduated from China Pharmaceutical University
with a Bachelor of Science degree and a licensed pharmacist qualification
certificate. Before joining the Group, she worked in many domestic
pharmaceutical companies, including Shanghai Jinke Quanjiao
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Jiuhua Huayuan Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Puji Pharmaceutical Technology Development Co.,
Ltd., etc. She has nearly 30 years of experience in quality and project
management and other aspects. She joined the Group since 2012 as a
quality manager. In 2019, she was appointed as the quality director and
quality attorney of Zhaoke Hefei.
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Report of the Directors

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) submit their report with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of the Group are the developing, manufacturing and
sale and marketing of pharmaceutical products.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year and the material factors
underlying its results and financial position, including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, as well as the outlook
for the Group’s business, are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement”
(pages 10 to 11) and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” (pages
12 to 28) sections. Particulars of significant events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December 2020,
if applicable, can also be found in the aforesaid sections and the notes
to the consolidated financial statements (pages 84 to 224). Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group can be found
in the section headed “Key Risks and Uncertainties” below. Description
of the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
section headed “Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers”.
Furthermore, principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Group and details regarding the Group’s compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are provided
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section (pages 57 to 65).

This discussion forms part of this report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2020
are set out in the financial statements on pages 75 to 224.

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2020 (the “Final Dividend”) equivalent to HK$0.031 per
share in cash (2019: HK$0.038 per share) to the shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company as at the
close of business on 3 June 2021. Together with the interim dividend of
HK$0.027 per share (2019: HK$0.018 per share) paid on 30 September
2020, total distribution of dividend by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020 will be HK$0.058 per share (2019: HK$0.056 per share).
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Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, it is expected that the Final Dividend will
be paid on 18 June 2021.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 47
to the consolidated financial statements.

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Particulars of the Group’s principal associated companies are set out in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 79 to 80.
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to HK$797,301,000 (31 December 2019: HK$778,616,000).
This includes the Company’s share premium account in the amount of
HK$714,813,000 (31 December 2019: HK$714,146,000) at 31 December
2020, which may be distributable provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
HK$2,588,000 (2019: HK$3,324,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARES ISSUED, REPURCHASED AND
CANCELLED

During the year, as a result of the exercise of share options under the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 26 June 2002 and the
new share option scheme adopted on 10 May 2012, a total of 205,000
shares of the Company (the “Shares”), fully paid, were issued for a net
consideration of HK$446,000.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the 2002 Share Option Scheme and New Share Option Scheme
disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below and note
38 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the owners of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable
to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the financial year
is as follows:

- Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 11.90% in aggregate for the Group’s total revenue
for the year (2019: 9.50%).

- Purchase from the Groups’ five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 80.78% in aggregate for the Group’s total purchases
for the year (2019: 74.18%).

- The largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately
27.34% of the Group’s total purchases for the year (2019: 23.16%).

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates (as defined
in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) or
any shareholder of the Company (who, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had
any interest in the Group’s five major customers and suppliers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the financial year. The Company has
also purchased and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the
year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors
Lee Siu Fong, Chairman

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Managing Director
Li Xiaoyi, Chief Executive Officer

Non-executive Director
Simon Miles Ball
Independent Non-executive Directors

Chan Yau Ching, Bob
Lam Yat Cheong
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl
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In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Ms.
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob, and Dr. Tsim Wah
Keung, Karl will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, have agreed to offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

Each of Ms. Lee Siu Fong ("Ms. Lee”) and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
(“Ms. Leelalertsuphakun”) has entered into a service contract both
dated 14 January 2002 with the Company under which each of them has
been appointed to act as an executive Director on a continuous basis
until terminated by either party by giving to the other party not less than
three months’ notice in writing. During the year, the monthly salaries and
allowance for Ms. Lee and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun have been revised to
HK$405,536 and HK$438,686 respectively.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi ("Dr. Li”) has a service contract with the Company since 1
September 2003 and after that the contract has been renewed. During
the year, the monthly salaries and allowance has been revised to
HK$603,881. Both the Company and Dr. Li shall be entitled to terminate
the contract by giving three months’ prior written notice. If both of the
substantial shareholders, namely Ms. Lee and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun, and
Dr. Li together, holding less than 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company, Dr. Li shall in his absolute discretion terminate the contract
and shall be entitled to the payment equivalent to the aggregate of his
monthly salary for the remaining term as compensation or damages for or
in respect of such termination.

Ms. Lee, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun and Dr. Li are executive Directors. In
accordance with supplementary agreement dated 16 April 2017 signed
between the Company and each of the executive Directors, employment
terms of executive Directors have been revised as follows:

1. Executive Directors are entitled to annual management bonus 1.5%
to 3.0% (determined based on the growth in net profits of the
Group) on the net profit of the Group for the preceding financial
year. Such sum of the management bonus will be shared between
all the executive Directors in such proportion with reference to their
monthly salary in the final month of the complete financial year.

2. The annual salary increment shall be equal to official inflation rate if
the growth in net profits of the Group is equal to or less than 15%,
or should the growth exceed 15%, the sum of the official inflation
rate and half of the positive difference between the growth in net
profits and the 15% threshold.

3. Each of executive Directors will be entitled to lump sum payment
upon retirement and monthly pension payment after retirement if
he/she has engaged in continuous service with the Company for
certain years.
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Each of Mr. Lam Yat Cheong (*"Mr. Lam”) and Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl
(“Dr. Tsim”) has been appointed on 1 July 2004 and 20 September 2004
respectively as an independent non-executive Director. Contract with Mr.
Lam and Dr. Tsim has been renewed for three years from 1 July 2019 and
20 September 2019 respectively. Director’s fees for both of Mr. Lam and
Dr. Tsim are HK$144,000 per annum and bonus will not be paid.

Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob has a three-year service contract with the
Company from 12 October 2007. The contract has been renewed for three
years from 12 October 2019. Director’s fee is HK$144,000 per annum and
bonus will not be paid.

Mr. Simon Miles Ball has a three-year service contract with the Company
from 29 December 2017 and the contract has been renewed for three
years from 29 December 2020. Director’s fee is HK$144,000 per annum
and bonus will not be paid.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which the Directors had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND KEY PERSONNEL

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the key personnel are set
out on pages 29 to 36.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the management shareholders or substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing
Rules, or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as the interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests in Securities” below, at no time during the year
under review was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the Company
or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age or their
associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the directors and the chief executive of the
Company and their associates had the following interests in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules:
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(a) Long position in Shares (a) B #FE
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name of director Nature of interest shares held Total shareholding
EEHR fEmnE FREEREE w3t BERENESL
Lee Siu Fong Beneficial owner 875
£ EEHEA
Interest held jointly with
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee 1,600,000
B EHPHERE 2w
Interest of a controlled
corporation (Note 1) 114,000,625 115,601,500 19.66%
—REREGEE R (EL)
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee Beneficial owner 3,305,000
ER EEHEA
Interest held jointly with
Lee Siu Fong 1,600,000
HZ NS HERE 2R
Interest of a controlled
corporation (Note 1) 114,000,625 118,905,625 20.22%
—ERESEE R (EL)
Li Xiaoyi Beneficial owner 41,092,766
TR EmfEEA
Family interest (Note 2) 16,000,000
Rz (FizE2)
Others 1,920,385 59,013,151 10.03%
Hh
Chan Yau Ching, Bob Beneficial owner 520,000 520,000 0.09%
BRA& IE EHEA
Lam Yat Cheong Beneficial owner 300,000 300,000 0.05%
HHE EmHEA
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl Beneficial owner 300,000 300,000 0.05%
T EnEAA
Simon Miles Ball Beneficial owner 46,500 46,500 0.01%
Simon Miles Ball EnEAA
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Notes:

(1) 114,000,625 Shares are held through Huby Technology Limited (“Huby
Technology”). Huby Technology is an investment holding company
jointly owned by Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee.

(2) These Shares are held by High Knowledge Investments Limited which is
wholly owned by Dr. Li Xiaoyi’s spouse, Ms. Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky (“Ms.
Lue”). The interest held by Ms. Lue is deemed to be part of the interest
of Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

(b) Long position in underlying shares -
share options of the Company

Under the share option schemes of the Company, the following
Directors of the Company have personal interest in options to

fit -

(1)

(2)

114,000,6250% /% {7 /2% #Huby Technology
Limited ([ Huby Technology |)#7% ° Huby
Technology A% &5 A FE] - WHE/NE L+
REERZ T HRARE -

It % J% 19 i High Knowledge Investments
Limited#5 - ZRAIBEF/NRETHERE AR
Kzt((Bat])2EHE - axTiHAN#ER
WRES N BRELTRH SR -

(b) R HIF B — KR A
BRE

RIBARBOBERES > THARRAESRA
RBRONBRETHEEEAER - BTHRSED

subscribe for the Shares. Details of the share options granted to FERERFIEIT -
them are as follows:
Balance Balance
as at During the year as at Exercise
Exercisable 1 January ER 31 December price per
Name of director Date of grant period 2020 Granted Exercised 2020 share
RZBZBF RZB-%%F
-A-H +=B=1+-8
E=pZ BREBH d ] ok Bl (Y4 gk BRITEE
(Notes) HK$
(UiEa) B
Lee Siu Fong 30 December 2013 (1) 538,000 - - 538,000 7.300
FE ZE-Z5+ZA=1A
31 March 2015 (2) 446,000 - - 446,000 11.200
“T-1%F=A=1-H
31 March 2016 (3) 587,000 - - 587,000 5.754
—Z-"E=R=t-AH
13 April 2017 (4) 590,000 - - 590,000 7.548
“Z—+5MmA+=H
13 April 2018 (5) 456,000 - - 456,000 11.216
—Z-/\fmA+=H
15 April 2019 (6) 592,000 - - 592,000 7.324
ZE-NERATRA
15 April 2020 (7) - 588,000 - 588,000 3.648
—Z-Z5MATEA
3,209,000 588,000 - 3,797,000
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Balance Balance
as at During the year as at Exercise
Exercisable 1 January ER 31 December price per
Name of director Date of grant period 2020 Granted Exercised 2020 share
RZBZ2F e 223
-B-H +ZA=t-H
E=pE RHAH GgE ] ik B [ gk BRITEE
(Notes) HK$
(Bitzx) B
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee 30 December 2013 (1) 338,000 - - 338,000 7.300
TR “Z-=Ft+ZA=1A
31 March 2015 (2) 446,000 - - 446,000 11.200
“T-R%=RA=1-H
31 March 2016 (3) 587,000 - - 587,000 5.754
B =
13 April 2017 (4) 590,000 - - 590,000 7.548
“T—tENA+=A
13 April 2018 (5) 456,000 - - 456,000 11.216
“Z-\fMNA+=A
15 April 2019 (6) 592,000 - - 592,000 7.324
“Z-NFRATEA
15 April 2020 (7) - 588,000 - 588,000 3.648
ZZTENATHA
3,009,000 588,000 - 3,597,000
Li Xiaoyi 31 March 2015 (2) 446,000 - - 446,000 11.200
£ “T-1%=RA=1-H
31 March 2016 (3) 587,000 - - 587,000 5.754
—Z-"EZR=t-H
13 April 2017 (4) 590,000 - - 590,000 7.548
“T—t5MA+=R
13 April 2018 (5) 456,000 - - 456,000 11.216
“Z-\EmWAT=AH
15 April 2019 (6) 592,000 - - 592,000 7.324
“E-NFRATEA
15 April 2020 (7) - 588,000 - 588,000 3.648
ZT-TENATHA
2,671,000 588,000 - 3,259,000
Notes: 5T -
(1)  Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 June 2014 and 30 March (1) DFKt PR T—mFEXA=+AR=
2015 respectively to 29 December 2023. T-RFE=A=tHE-_Z-_=%F+-A=-+h
BAMTT(E °
(2) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 September 2015 and 30 (2)  HFER HHEZT—RAFIALA=THE=
June 2016 respectively to 30 March 2025. T-RENA=THEZZ-_RF=A=+H7
e e
(3) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 September 2016 and 30 (3)  HFEEf AHET—AFLA=THEE=

June 2017 respectively to 30 March 2026.

T—tEXRNAZFTHE-Z-AF=ZA=+AH7A
i e
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(c)

SRS

4) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 13 October 2017 and 13 July
2018 respectively to 12 April 2027.

(5) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 13 October 2018 and 13 July
2019 respectively to 12 April 2028.

(6) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 15 October 2019 and 15 July
2020 respectively to 14 April 2029.

(7) Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 15 October 2020 and 15 July
2021 respectively to 14 April 2030.

As at 31 December 2020, Dr. Li Xiaoyi had beneficial interest in (a)
12,740 ordinary shares in Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated;
and (b) 830 share options which can be converted into 830 ordinary
shares of Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated when exercised.

(d) As at 31 December 2020, Dr. Li Xiaoyi had beneficial interest in

(e)

35,057 share options which can be converted into 35,057 ordinary
shares of Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited when exercised.

Save as disclosed above, no interests and short positions were
held or deemed to be taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by
any director or chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code which are required
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register
referred to therein.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by all shareholders of the
Company on 26 June 2002, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2002 Share Option Scheme”). At the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 10 May 2012, a new share option scheme of the
Company (the "New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted upon expiry
of the 2002 Share Option Scheme.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme shall be
subject to a maximum limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on 10 May 2012,
the date on which the New Share Option Scheme is conditionally adopted
and approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting, which is
47,023,543 Shares. The total number of Shares available for issue under
the New Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2020 was 14,041,543
Shares.

As at 31 December 2020, the number of Shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2002
Share Option Scheme and New Share Option Scheme was 27,697,000 (31
December 2019: 17,123,000) Shares, representing 4.7% (31 December
2019: 2.9%) of the Shares in issue at that date.

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

FERRNE ZVHEDS

—E-TE+-A=+—H  THAL(RARESE
BITBABBRIN AEAR RN KA O PHEER
BEFLIAERANEXVHE2RID AN AT
FREESE MGG EI36EBLRERARBIFER
REAMEOERSAR -

As at 31 December 2020, the following parties (other than a director or n
chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in 53
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which are required to
be notified to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO and required to be entered into the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

(a) Long position in Shares (a) BRGHE

Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name Capacity shares held shareholding
28 HE 545 FEEBEREA BRENEIET
Huby Technology Limited Beneficial owner 114,000,625 19.38%
Huby Technology Limited EnfEEA
Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A Interest of a controlled corporation 81,405,000 13.84%
Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A —fAREHEENER
Li Zhenfu Interest of a controlled corporation 81,405,000 13.84%
Li Zhenfu —RRIEFEE R
Lion River I N.V. Interest of a controlled corporation 81,405,000 13.84%
Lion River I N.V. —FAREHEE R
GL Partners Capital Interest of a controlled corporation 76,165,488 12.95%
Management Limited
GL Partners Capital —FZ AR ER
Management Limited
Apta Finance S.A. Interest of a controlled corporation 58,833,898 10.00%
Apta Finance S.A. —FREHEE R
Cavazza Paolo Interest of a controlled corporation 58,833,898 10.00%
Cavazza Paolo —FZ I EEaER
Paponi Claudia Family interest 58,833,898 10.00%
Paponi Claudia BN
Qualister SA Beneficial owner 52,929,577 9.00%
Qualister SA EmfERA
Golden Sand Capital Joy Corporation Beneficial owner 34,566,935 5.88%
Golden Sand Capital Joy Corporation ExlBA
Golden Sand Capital Ltd Interest of a controlled corporation 34,566,935 5.88%
Golden Sand Capital Ltd —X T EE R
Wu Sonny Interest of a controlled corporation 34,566,935 5.88%
Wu Sonny —HAZ AR ER
High Knowledge Investments Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 16,000,000 2.72%
High Knowledge Investments Limited BEmbiA A L)
Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 1) 16,000,000 2.72%
=Rk —FRE B (L)
Family interest (Note 2) 43,013,151 7.31%

KiktEa (ME2)
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Notes:
(1) These Shares are legally owned by High Knowledge Investments
Limited, which is entirely and beneficially owned by Dr. Li Xiaoyi’'s

spouse, Ms. Lue.

(2) These Shares are owned by Ms. Lue’s spouse, Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

(b) Long position in underlying shares -
share options of the Company
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MiaE
(1) It % & % &£ % 2 £ & High Knowledge
Investments Limited# % © 2 ARIAZ/NRIE
THEBE LT 2ERERES
(2) ZEBRHBEELTORGBE)BEHES -
(b) RIBEER 7 HIIFE — KL EIH
BRE

Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name Capacity shares held shareholding
A 14 FREERSE BREABEDIT
Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky Family interest (Note 1) 3,259,000 0.55%
=K R (ML)
Note: M

(1) These share options are owned by Ms. Lue’s spouse, Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

(c) Short position in Shares

No short positions of other persons and substantial shareholders in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations were recorded in the register.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company which fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information that is available to the Company the percentage
of the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the pubic exceeds 25%
of the Company’s total number of issued shares during the year and up to
the date of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group conducted certain
transactions with parties deemed as “related parties” under applicable
accounting standards. The details of these transactions are set out in note
44 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the transactions
mentioned in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” which is subject to announcement and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, certain transactions
mentioned in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements also
constituted connected transactions or continuing connecting transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but are exempt from the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(1) ZERRERE L TOREE/ BRI LHEE -
(c) REEGZHE

BRMPBELHEMA T RERRRNARF
K EAAEORE RO AR XA -

BEXWEEN R-Z-_TE+_A=+—H &=
PR E M A TSOEBR AR R RAARR D
BERARERES LHEGPIEXVERE 235 FBH §EX
BREMERIAR -

ERARERE

RBAAFTAERNER  RFEARBEEAFRELS
REBFFARRABRO OB D LLBBA DR ETRN A
HH25% °

BB RS

REBE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILFE AEELHE
REBEEREHERBRUE BB JETETRS - %5
R 5 2 FHIEEN G R MIBRERM T4 - IRIBEXH R
FBER S |8l 588 LR RIE T HAZ
M RERBEBERESN - AP REM 445 T2
SIMER E TR RS T OAZ I 2 BE R PSR
BR G  WEHRRET ETRRE T HARRRERE o
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had the following connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions, and details of which

BEXSZREERERS

FA - RRBRAEREGHET THBER S RIFERE
X5 MEBFBECERETHRAEHNARZRER

have been disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A 5= -

of the Listing Rules.

Connected Transactions FEXS

1. Advance of shareholder loans to Powder 1. P[XREEHEARESREEGRAT
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“PPI”), an (TE%DBIRRERER
associate of the Group
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the following shareholder REBE_Z_TFF+_A=+—HLFE  £&E
loans were provided by the Group to PPI: BEmELEH I RRERET :

Interest Loan amount
rate in original

Advance date Term per annum currency Loan amount
BEH FH FFI=E REMEME BXE
24 March 2020 Note 1 Note 2 HK$8,000,000 HK$8,000,000
—T-TF=A=+WmA FiEEL MizE2 8,000,000/ 8,000,000/%57T
14 June 2020 Note 1 Note 2 HK$3,000,000 HK$3,000,000
ZETFRA+TMA MiEEL MizE2 3,000,000/ 7T 3,000,000 T
19 July 2020 Note 1 Note 2 HK$39,056,000 HK$39,056,000
—ETFLATAAB FfiEEL Mi3E2 39,056,000/ T 39,056,000/ T
27 September 2020 Note 1 4% HK$18,000,000 HK$18,000,000
—ETFNAA=+ER MiaEL 4 18,000,000/ 7T 18,000,000/ 7T
18 November 2020 1 year 4% HK$8,000,000 HK$8,000,000
—TZTF+—HA+)\H —F 4 8,000,000/ 7T 8,000,000/ 7T

Notes:
(1) Original term is 1 year from advance date and it is further extended to

17 November 2021 on 18 November 2020.

(2) Original interest rate is 5% per annum and it is revised to 4% from 18
November 2020.

Details of these transactions have been disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 March 2020, 12 June 2020, 17 July 2020,
25 September 2020 and 18 November 2020.
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GL Partners Capital Management Limited ("GL Partners”) is a
substantial shareholder of the Company. The Company and GL
Partners are both shareholders of PPI at the same time, while GL
Partners, being a connected person of the Company, is entitled to
exercise or control the exercise of 10% or more of the voting power
at any general meeting of PPI. Therefore PPI is a commonly held
entity under the Listing Rules. Therefore, advance of shareholder
loans to PPI constitutes a connected transaction.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had interest in 33.92% of issued
share capital of PPI.

Report of the Directors

EEEWRE

=

GL Partners Capital Management Limited
([GL Partners]) A REZEERE -« AR
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R-ZTZEHF+-A=1+—A0 FEEHA L%
BE 1T 2 33.92% /)5

Advance of shareholder loans to China Oncology 2. [AAXKENBATITEERBEERA
Focus Limited (“"COF”), a subsidiary of the Group F(COF)BIIRERER
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the following shareholder REBEEZZT-_TF+-_A=+—HLFE &%
loans were provided by the Group to COF: EMCOFRF ZIRRERMT «

Interest Loan amount

rate in original

Advance date Term per annum currency Loan amount
Bt A FH FFI=E FEBERE BERE
27 March 2020 1 year 5% US$2,000,000 HK$15,500,000
—E-TZF=R=++tH —F 5E 2,000,0003 7T 15,500,000/% 7T
18 May 2020 1 year 5% US$3,000,000 HK$23,250,000
—E-TFRA+NH —F 5& 3,000,000t 23,250,000/ 7T
17 July 2020 1 year 5% US$5,000,000 HK$38,750,000
—E-TF+LA+tH —4F 5[E 5,000,000t 38,750,000/ T

Details of these transactions have been disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 27 March 2020, 18 May 2020 and 17 July
2020.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi
are the directors and substantial shareholders of the Company who
are connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.
They altogether held a total of approximately 62.85% of the issued
ordinary and preferred shares in Perfect Concept Holdings Limited
("PCH") as at the dates of the transaction and therefore, PCH is
the associate of Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Lee Siu Fong
and Dr. Li Xiaoyi, and is then a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Lee’s Pharmaceutical International Limited
(“LPI") is a shareholder of COF and at the same time, PCH, is also a
shareholder of COF. PCH, being a connected person of the Company,
is holding 35% of the issued share capital of COF, and therefore, the
shareholder loans made by LPI to COF under the shareholder loan
agreements constitutes a connected transaction pursuant to Rule
14A.27 of the Listing Rules.

ZEXSGHBERARREHA-—ST -_TF=A
—+tB - ZZE_ZFRA+N\BR=ZZ=-ZTF
+tA+EBEZAEREE -

LT FNF L LRI NRETAEQF
EEFRITERR  RELMRIALAGAE
BEAL HESHEBFEZESEEERAA(NE
AER RS APNDBTERRELRD
62.85% -+ AL - R EWRAIEAIEE AFE
Lt  FNFLEREFNDRIGEIOBE AL
MARDREIHEE AL - Lee's Pharmaceutical
International Limited([LPI|)J5COF%E « A
B - ZAIEEIRACOFRE - ZAIEBEIEAARR
RlZ BB AL BIFECOFZ35%C BT -
E it - LPIAR ¥ A% 3 & 3K 7 3% (M COF Rt 2 IR 3R
EHHEK EHRBIE14A27EFIE 2 BER S ©
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Issue of subsidiary’s shares to LPI, a subsidiary of
the Group

On 13 February 2020, each of LPI and PCH subscribed, on pro-rata
basis, for 34,580 and 18,620 shares of COF at the consideration of
US$7,434,700 and US$4,003,300, respectively. Details of the above
transaction have been disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 13 February 2020.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi
are the directors and substantial shareholders of the Company who
are connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.
They altogether held a total of approximately 62.85% of the issued
ordinary and preferred shares in PCH and therefore, PCH was an
associate of Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Dr.
Li Xiaoyi, and was a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

As at the date of the subscription of COF shares by LPI, COF was a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which was owned as
to 65% by LPI and 35% by PCH, which is a connected person of the
Company. As PCH exercises and controls 10% or more of the voting
power of COF, COF is a connected subsidiary of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the subscriptions of COF shares by
LPI constituted connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

1.

Provision of financial guarantee to PPI, an associate
of the Group

On 11 February 2020, the Company as guarantor provided a
corporate guarantee in favour of a bank as a security for the
provision of a revolving loan facility of up to HK$13,000,000, a
demand loan facility of up to HK$40,000,000 and an overdraft
facility of up to HK$6,000,000, provided that the total outstanding
balance of the overdraft facility and revolving loan facility shall
not at any time exceed HK$13,000,000, to PPI for the purpose of
funding its normal commercial operation.

The above continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by
the independent non-executive Directors and they have confirmed
that the transactions:

a. have been entered into in the usual and ordinary course of
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries.

b. are conducted on normal commercial terms.
C. are entered into in accordance with the terms of relevant

agreements that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
Shareholders as a whole.
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d. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcements.

The Company’s auditor, HLM CPA Limited, also has confirmed that
the above continuing connected transactions:

a. have received the approval of the Company’s Board of
Directors;
b. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant

agreement governing the transactions; and

C. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcements.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other transaction requiring
disclosure of connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 9.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group, which are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and
provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Business Risk

The Group’s business risks include rapid change in the general market
conditions, downturn pressure on the overall economy of China and price
competition from other market players. The Board is responsible for the
overall management of the business and review of material business
decisions involving material risks exposures from time to time.
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Financial Risk

The Group adopts financial risk management policies to manage its
currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Board
also reviews monthly management accounts, capital structure and key
operating data of the Group.

Compliance Risk

The Board adopts procedures to ensure the Group is in compliance with
the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Group engages professional
advisers and consultants to keep the Group abreast of the latest
developments in the regulatory environment, including legal, financial,
environmental and operational developments. The Group also adopts
a strict policy in prohibiting any unauthorised use or dissemination of
confidential or inside information.

Operational Risk

The Group adopts procedures to manage its operational risk such as
inadequate management efficiency, inefficient raw material procurement
and production facilities utilisation. The Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
covering business, financial, compliance and operational risks of the Group
and is satisfied that such systems are effective and adequate.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sustainability of the Group’s business relies on the growth of the
Group’s employees. Remuneration packages of the employees are
generally structured with reference to prevailing market terms and
individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally reviewed on an
annual basis based on performance appraisals and other relevant factors.

Apart from salary payments, there are other staff benefits including
mandatory provident fund, medical insurance and performance related
bonus. Share options may also be granted to eligible employees of the
Group.

Relationship is the fundamentals of business. The Group fully understands
this principal and thus maintain good relationship with the customers to

fulfil their immediate and long-term need.

The Group strives to maintain fair and co-operating relationship with the
suppliers.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND
SERVICES AND ENVIRONMENTAL
POLICY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its businesses
and the communities with which it engages. The Group pursues this
business approach by managing its business prudently and executing
management decisions with due care and attention. Over the years, the
Group has been fully committed to environmental protection. Periodic
internal control meetings are held to review environmental issues in the
production plants to update environmental laws and regulations and to
make valuable suggestions and recommendations for improvement.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

The Group is not aware of any instances of material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations such as the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Listing Rules, and other applicable
local laws and regulations in various jurisdictions during the year ended 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report prepared in accordance
with Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules will be published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange within three months after the
publication of this annual report.

STAFF RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The group companies operated in Hong Kong are required to participate
in a defined contribution retirement scheme set up in accordance with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485). Under the
scheme, the employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly
salaries up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make
additional contributions. The employer’s monthly contributions are
calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly salaries up to a maximum
of HK$1,500 (the “"Mandatory Contributions”), and are charged to the
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The employees are entitled
to 100% of the employer’'s Mandatory Contributions upon their retirement
at the age of 65 years old, death or total incapacity.
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In addition, pursuant to the government regulations in the PRC and
Taiwan, the employees of the group companies operated in the PRC and
Taiwan are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated
by the government of the PRC and Taiwan. Those group companies
are required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement is to make the specified
contributions.

Executive Directors will be entitled to lump sum payment upon retirement
and monthly pension payment after retirement if they have engaged in

continuous service with the Company for certain years.

Particulars of the scheme of the Group are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020 have been audited by HLM CPA Limited who will retire and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Siu Fong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board believes that corporate governance is essential to the success
of the Company and has adopted various measures to uphold good
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of our shareholders,
investors, customers and staff.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, with deviation from
provision A.5 of the CG Code.

Under provision A.5 of the CG Code, a nomination committee should be
established to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and reappointment of Directors. The Board as a whole is responsible for
the appointment of its own members. The Board does not establish a
nomination committee and is not considering to establish the same in view
of the small size of the Board. The Chairman of the Board is responsible
for identifying appropriate candidate and proposing qualified candidate
to the Board for consideration. The Board will review profiles of the
candidates recommended by the Chairman and make recommendation the
appointment, re-election and retirement of the Directors. Candidates are
appointed to the Board on the basis of their skill, competence, experience
and diversity of perspectives that they can contribute to the Company.

Looking forward, the Board will continue to conduct reviews on the
Company’s corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
compliance with the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL
CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has adopted
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has made specific enquiries of all the Directors and the Company
was not aware of any non-compliance with such Model Code and required
standard of dealing throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The non-executive Director provides the Group with a wide range of
expertise and knowledge in the pharmaceutical sector. The independent
non-executive Directors are persons of high calibre; with academic
and professional qualifications in the areas of accounting, financial and
pharmaceutical field. With their experience gained from senior positions
held in other companies, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board.

The Company has a Board diversity policy whereby it recognizes and
embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. It endeavors to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.
All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The list of Directors and their roles and functions is posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Ms. Lee Siu
Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi, respectively.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are segregated and
are not exercised by the same individual.

The Board formulates overall strategic plans and key policies of the Group,
monitors its financial performance, maintains effective oversight over
the management, risks assessment, controls over business operations
and ensures good corporate governance and compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. Responsibility in relation to daily operations and
execution of the strategic business plans are delegated to each of the
executive Directors and senior management.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, 24 Board meetings and HZE-Z-ZF+-_F=+—HILFE KAEELLET
1 shareholders meeting were held and the attendance of individual _+E/h§$§§§%§ —RBRERE  UTAZESRH
Director at these meetings is set out below: EEEORE -
Number Number of
of Board shareholders
meeting meeting
attended/ attended/
Attendees Total Total
LEESgER HERRAS
HEE RE R B R
Executive Directors
HITES
Lee Siu Fong (Chairman) 24/24 1/1
EXSEYD)
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee (Managing Director) 24/24 1/1
IR (EFAAEHE)
Li Xiaoyi (Chief Executive Officer) 24/24 1/1
TINR(TTBAEH)

Non-executive Director

FHITES

Simon Miles Ball 24/24 1/1
Simon Miles Ball

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Chan Yau Ching, Bob 24/24 1/1
BRARIE

Lam Yat Cheong 24/24 0/1
HHE

Tsim Wah Keung, Karl 24/24 1/1
EER

The Company’s auditor, HLM CPA Limited, also attended the shareholders AR EIRZEFNERESFAITTERARMHFEREARS -
meeting.

During the year under review, a meeting was held between the Chairman  REEFE @ FEHEMEELIFNTESRELEED

and all independent non-executive Directors in accordance with provision — SPFRIEHEXA.2. 78177 — K& °
A.2.7 of the CG Code.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

All the independent non-executive Directors have confirmed in
writing to the Company that they have met all the guidelines for
assessing their independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Notwithstanding that certain of the independent non-executive
Directors have served on the Board for more than nine years, in
view that they have demonstrated the attributes as independent
non-executive Directors during their tenure in office and taking
into account their written confirmation of independence as regards
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent and believes that
their continued service as independent non-executive Directors will be
beneficial to the Company and the Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Group regularly updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements
regarding subjects necessary in the discharge of their duties. In addition,
the Group has been encouraging Directors to attend training courses or
via online aids or reading relevant materials on the latest development of
applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can continuously update
and further enhance their knowledge and skills.

Records of the Directors’ training during 2020 are as follows:

TEEERRS

ESEIIREEERR

AEEERASEEAH TR LB ERITRIER
B EEMAENEMERERREERENRNER -
AN AEE-EHEESHERRERER - RAIR
MR EROFIIRIELA L ETRAEEBER
B 1% 5 AR AR (S N — PR = AR R AN S A o

EER_T_TENFIRENAT

Type of

continuous

professional

development

Directors training

HEEE

=4 BRIEIIER
Executive Directors

BITES

Lee Siu Fong (Chairman)

TN (EE)

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee (Managing Director)
PR (B F AT )

Li Xiaoyi (Chief Executive Officer)
FINR(TTEAEH)

Non-executive Director
FHITES

Simon Miles Ball

Simon Miles Ball

Independent non-executive Directors
BYFHITES

Chan Yau Ching, Bob

BRARIE

Lam Yat Cheong

HHE

Tsim Wah Keung, Karl

EER

(1) & (if)
(1) B i)
(1) & (if)
(1) B (i)
(1) & (ii)
(1) B (i)

() & (ii)
(i) R (ii)

(1) & (if)
(1) B i)
(1) & (i)
(1) B (i)
(1) & (if)
(1) (i)

(i) Attending seminar(s) or training session(s).

(i) Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
Company’s business or Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
the latest development of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, etc.

(i) HEEFSHITIRE -
(i) BIEAMARREBHEZRE  LHRARHE

EREERENRTER Y BE - BT REH
Eh o
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND
ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects.
The Board is also responsible for preparing the accounts of the Group,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a
going concern basis.

The Company set up an audit committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rules 3.21 and the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control and risks
management system of the Group.

The audit committee is to serve as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, the internal auditors (where
an internal audit function exists) of the Company, and the management
as regards their duties relating to financial and other reporting, risk
management, internal controls, external and internal audits and such
other financial and accounting matters as the Board determines from
time to time. The audit committee is to assist the Board in providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management system of the Group, overseeing the
audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as may be
assigned by the Board from time to time.

The audit committee comprises three members, Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob
(chairman of the audit committee), Mr. Lam Yat Cheong and Dr. Tsim
Wah Keung, Karl, who are the independent non-executive Directors of
the Company. In the financial year ended 31 December 2020, four audit
committee meetings were held to review and comment on the Group’s
draft annual, interim and quarterly financial reports, met with external
auditor and provided advices and recommendations to the Board. The
individual attendance record of each member is as follows:

BEREEEREE

BRI AERRALNENER B k2|
FHE - EEEMBEASBELEEEREATRA T
RN EBPHEARRNAEERE -

RRRRILTERZEG  WASHELAHIELB#EES
C AR A ETARRISE 3. 2R A R B+ Pz 3
EaTh c BREZEENTIERBE RN EEAKE
T ERIRE T - AEEERAG R EREE

ERREGNEREMES - HMNERBED - NABED
(AN EREE) REEE ZHMNEBBR - BT
FEBETAEOMELEGRS  BREE - N
% SNED R DR AZOA R B MR TE B E A I
BHEE - BERZEENRABYESTS BRI AEE
BEHERE  AMEERERERHEORK  EE
BERBERBETEEFETRERNEMBEREFE -

BERZEM=EKEMANK  IRAESL(ERZES
IR MBEEREREEREL  REH/EARFNE
VHERTER HE_T_TFT_A=+—HLEHMK
FE - BOTHRAEZZEEEH  UBRHAKENSF
E ¥ FERFEVBREERLRERER - BINER
HERTEE  TMEFSRHEEANMEBER - 84
BX B ERI RS IAT

Number
of audit
committee
meeting
attended/ Attendance
Attendees Total percentage
HEERES
eEERRE
HEE FEW/NE HER
Chan Yau Ching, Bob 4/4 100%
BRARIE
Lam Yat Cheong 4/4 100%
==
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl 4/4 100%
EER
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee has been established in February 2012 in
accordance with the requirement of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The
remuneration committee of the Company comprises two independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director.

Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl is the chairman of the remuneration committee
and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee and Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob are
members of the remuneration committee. The Company has adopted
the model to make recommendations to the Board to determine the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director and senior
management. The major roles and functions of the Company’s
remuneration committee are as follows:

a. Establish and apply a formal and transparent procedure for
setting policy on remuneration for executive Directors and senior
management, and for fixing the remuneration packages for all
Directors and senior management; and

b. Ensure that procedures and principles for fixing packages of all
Directors and senior management are proper so that the levels of
remuneration of Directors commensurate with their qualifications
and competencies, and that such remuneration is sufficient to attract
and retain the Directors and senior management but not excessive.

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The remuneration
committee meets at least once a year. During the year ended 31
December 2020, 1 meeting are held by the remuneration committee and
all the committee member attended the meeting to approve the annual
bonus payable to executive Directors for the financial year 2019 and the
monthly salary of executive Directors during the year under review.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the Board has resolved
that the senior management of the Company comprise only the Executive
Directors of the Company. Please refer to note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements for details of the remuneration payable to the
Directors.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary’s biography is set out in the section under
“Directors and Key Personnel Profiles” of this annual report. During the
year ended 31 December 2020, the company secretary has taken no less
than 15 hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems over the Group’s asset and
shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing such systems’
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against misstatement or loss, and to manage
risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems. The systems include
a well-established organisational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority, which is designed to safeguard assets
from inappropriate use, maintain proper accounts, ensure compliance
with regulations and regulate the handling and dissemination of inside
information of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board has, through the audit
committee with the Group’s internal audit team and the assistance of the
management, conducted a review of the Group’s internal control and risk
management system, including without limitation to financial control,
operational control, and compliance control. The Board assesses the
effectiveness of internal controls by considering reviews performed by the
audit committee, executive management and auditors.

The Board is of the view that the internal control and risk management
systems are effective and there are no irregularities, improprieties, fraud
or other deficiencies that suggest material deficiency in the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Total auditor’s remuneration for the fiscal year 2020 in relation to
statutory audit work of the Group amounted to HK$1,251,000 of which a
sum of HK$1,049,000 was paid to HLM CPA Limited.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy (including but
not limited to the Group’s financial results, cash flow position, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans), dividends may be proposed and/or
declared by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a
financial year will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.
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CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETINGS ON REQUISITION
BY SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM”) of the Company. Two or more
shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth (10%) of
the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at the
general meeting of the Company may send a written request to the Board
of the Company to request for an EGM. The written requisition, duly signed
by the shareholders concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting
and must be deposited at the registered office of the Company.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution at general meetings may
follow the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing through the company secretary whose contact details are
as follows:

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited

1/F, Building 20E, Phase 3

Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2314 1282

Fax: (852) 2314 1708

Email: investor@leespharm.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents, and these documents
are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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HLM CPA LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

Rooms 1501-8, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
FUsE AT A LA 181597

KA KE15H1501-8%

Tel TE6: (852) 3103 6980

Fax f#E.: (852) 3104 0170

E-mail % ¥: info@hlm.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE'S PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee’s
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 75 to 224,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, and consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition
(refer to notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated
financial statements)

The Group’s revenue amounted to HK$1,217 million for the year ended 31
December 2020. Sales of goods are recognised as revenue when goods
are delivered and titles have been passed.

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the timing of
recognition of revenue.

Our response
Our main procedures in relation to revenue recognition included:

- Obtaining evidence regarding the transfer of effective control of
ownership.

- Testing the key internal controls over revenue recognition, and
assessing whether the accounting policy related to revenue
recognition was applied appropriately and consistently throughout
the year.

- On a sample basis, making selections from sales records and
delivery records, and tracing to their contracts, delivery orders
and customer’s acknowledgement of receipts, and paying special
attention to samples before and after the end of the reporting period
to assess whether the relevant revenue was recognised in the
correct period.

Based on our procedures described, we found that the amount and timing
of the revenue recorded were supported by available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B S

Valuation of retirement benefits on defined
benefit plan

(refer to note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The Group entered into service contracts with the executive directors to
provide certain retirement benefits. There is judgement in determining
valuation of the retirement benefits as recorded at the end of the reporting
period. The valuation is based on a number of assumptions including
discount rate, growth rate of salary and life expectancy.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the valuation of the retirement benefits
on defined benefit plan included:

= Assessing the independence and competence of the independent
external valuer appointed by the Group to calculate the fair value of
the retirement benefits.

- Assessing the accuracy and relevance of the input data provided
by management to the independent external valuer by challenging
and corroborating the market data and information from similar
transactions from independent sources.

= Evaluating appropriateness of the methodology and assumptions
used by the independent external valuer.

= Testing mathematical accuracy of the underlying valuation.

We found the methodology and key assumptions to be reasonable.

Intangible assets recognition and impairment
assessment
(refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group reported intangible assets of HK$845
million, of which HK$559 million were capitalised development expenditure
and HK$286 million were license fees.

Development expenditure mainly comprised of development of
pharmaceutical products. The Group capitalised eligible product
development costs upon meeting the criteria as described in Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 38 “Intangible Assets” ("HKAS 38"). Capitalisation
criteria assessment requires significant management judgement and there
is measurement uncertainty at inception and throughout the lives of the
individual projects.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Management is required to assess at the end of each reporting period
whether any indicator of impairment exists, which requires significant
management judgement and assumptions with reference to the ability to
use or sell the products, its future market or economic development.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the recognition of intangible assets
included:

= Gaining an understanding of the business process undertaken by
management to assess the appropriate accounting treatment for
each project.

= Assessing the reasonableness of recognition and eligibility criteria
for intangible assets by challenging the key assumptions used or
estimates made in capitalising the cost.

= Testing on a sample basis the expenditure capitalised against source
documents and signed contracts.

= Assessing the ownership of license fees.

Our main procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
intangible assets included:

= Assessing management’s determination of the impairment based on
our understanding of the nature of the Group’s business.

- Assessing whether there are any indicators of impairment by
understanding the business, rationale for the products under
development.

= Discussing with and interviewing the responsible staff and managers
on the progress and future prospects of respective development
projects.

- Selecting products with significant development cost and request
for independent valuation to be done to substantiate their carrying
amounts.

Based on our procedures described, we found the recognition and
impairment assessment on intangible assets to be reasonable.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B S

Impairment assessment of goodwill
(refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements)

Management is required to assess at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any indicator that goodwill may be impaired. If any such
indicator exists, the management shall estimate the recoverable amount of
the asset. As at 31 December 2020, the Group has, in aggregate, goodwill
of approximately HK$4 million, net impairment of HK$2 million.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

= Assessing management’s determination of the Group’s cash-
generating units based on our understanding of the nature of
the business and the economic environment in which the cash-
generating units operate.

= Based on our knowledge of the business and industry, challenging
the reasonableness of the underlying key assumptions and data used
in the cash flow forecasts (including revenue growth rate, operating
profit, and discount rate used).

Based on our procedures described, we found the estimations of
management in relation to goodwill are supported by plausible evidence.

Fair value measurement of unlisted
investments held as financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income
and through profit or loss

(refer to notes 23 and 24 to the consolidated
financial statements)

The Group held several unlisted investments on a combination of market
observable inputs and valuation techniques. The Group’s fair value
measurement of the financial assets arising from the unobservable inputs
used in determining the fair value of the unlisted investments was grouped
under Level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held several unlisted investments
which were measured at fair value amounted to HK$175 million, which
had significant unobservable inputs in the valuation, and hence were
categorised within Level 3 of fair value hierarchy, representing 5.37% of
the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2020.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The valuations of these unlisted investments are conducted by an
independent qualified valuer. The appropriateness of the valuation is
dependent on determination of different valuation techniques and certain
key assumptions. With different valuation techniques and assumptions
applied, the valuation result can vary significantly.

As the unlisted investments are considered significant due to the size of
the balance and the inherent judgement involved in determining the fair
value measurement, is considered as a key audit matter.

The fair value was determined using market approach, income approach
and reference to the prices of underlying investment portfolio quoted by
administrator. The determination of fair value measurement requires the
management to exercise their judgement to ensure the appropriateness of
the estimates and assumptions.

Our response

Our procedures in relation to management’s fair value measurement of
unlisted investments included:

= Evaluating the independent professional valuer’s competence,
capabilities and objectivity.

= Focusing on the valuation methodologies and assumptions of
unlisted fund investments that were classified as level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy and challenging valuation specialists in evaluating
and assessing:

- the valuation techniques through comparison with the
valuation techniques that are commonly used in the market;

= the validation of observable inputs using external market data;
and

= the reasonableness of management’s assumptions.

- Checking the accuracy and reasonableness of the input data
provided by management to the independent professional valuer.

= Review sensitivity analysis in consideration of the potential impact
of reasonably possible upside or downside changes in these key
assumptions.

Based on our procedures described, we found the impairment assessment
on unlisted investments adopted by management to be reasonable.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR A EE S

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identified during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

HLM CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Lap Chi
Practising Certificate number: P04084

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

. TEEAMBHRENERIHRAN  £EBENA
R BREEE  URKAMEHREREE AR
RHMEIE o

J 7 BEREAREEXEREDNTEENES
AR - BENETRE UGS BREER
BR - RMEE BKEFENSTR  EEMH
17 - RSB BERAERREE -

BREMEETIN - RMEBIEEEB T ENETHE
BEZH  EREMNERE - @RRAESTENE
PBBIRE il B (E A AR

BfEFREERRER - SARMEN S BMELIE
MBI R ERE R - WERMPIERA R LSRR
RETERMBIMENABBEMEMBER  ARSH
BB MR BB PTERER YT TEV R #4856 CRIE ) ©

REERIE R B EIRD - HIIREER L RRE AR
BUBHRENEARAEE  IMBREARETEH -
BAERBEN RS PR ELRIR - BRIPEABERTA
AARRBELER  HEGEREENERT MRS
BEMERMRETEARETRERNAERREBBE
ENRRFE - BPVRETEERSE T EBZEA

EREHAITERAR
BBHFEEATED

FR Sz &
BB Z A - P04084

&8 —BE-—F=A=+H



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_ZE-_EF+-_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
b Sk 23 —TB-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
P TR FHTT
Revenue Wz 7 1,216,716 1,218,913
Cost of sales SHE R A (435,650) (420,657)
Gross profit EF 781,066 798,256
Other income Hftnlas 10 150,587 75,694
Other gain and losses, net E b ias RS FRE 11 (57,588) (91,680)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER (279,947) (251,759)
Administrative expenses THEHR (237,721) (239,088)
Provision for expected credit losses on M EERREEBERE
financial assets (1,180) (73)
Research and development expenses MrERFAZEEA (203,294) (149,945)
Profit from operations Fed=envil 12 151,923 141,405
Finance costs RS R 13 ((-Yp)) (6,624)
Share of results of associates DIEEE AR R (11,414) (11,895)
Profit before taxation BRAE AT A 134,037 122,886
Taxation BiIA 16 (55,503) (59,541)
Profit for the year A g A 78,534 63,345
Attributable to: TEIATRE
Owners of the Company AAREEA 129,316 125,553
Non-controlling interests FEVE PR (50,782) (62,208)
78,534 63,345
HK cents HK cents
Bl Al
Earnings per share FREF] 18
Basic BN 21.99 21.22
Diluted #E 21.99 21.21
The notes on pages 84 to 224 form an integral part of these consolidated B4B EF 2248 7 MM It F4R A M IS HRE 2 — 5P

financial statements.

D #
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
reBElkHEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income (expense):
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
- Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries
- Reclassification of exchange reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries
- Reclassification of other reserves upon
disposal of subsidiaries
- Share of other comprehensive income of
associates
Item that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
- Fair value changes of financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive
income

ARE A
Hi2mEmidas () -
Hgr e s o MR IAE ¢

—BINHB AR R IRE 2 B 2

— R EME AR EL FEREEN D E

— O I A RIRRE S Bt R S 9 4R

Other comprehensive expense
for the year, net of tax

AFEEEMEEFAX - HRHIR

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

AEEEHEFXAHE

Total comprehensive (expense) income
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

THALREEAFERE(FX) WaiEE

RARGER A
E g

2020 2019
—ECEH —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
78,534 63,345
89,829 (18,714)
(3,460) -
(CPRTL)) -
314 18
(256,320) (45,297)
(262,182) (63,993)
(183,648) (648)
(125,820) 65,988
(57,828) (66,636)
(183,648) (648)

The notes on pages 84 to 224 form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

848 %

D #

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

£

224 2 MBIt SR A Mgk — 3



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes
B 7F
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE 19
Intangible assets AR 20
Goodwill 5l 21
Interests in associates N NG o 3 22
Financial assets at fair value through BATESERIBRSEZHFEE
profit or loss 23
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEEAEMEEYETIRZ
other comprehensive income A E 24
Deferred tax assets REERIRE = 35
Current assets REBEE
Inventories Ay 25
Trade receivables JEWE ZBRR 26
Other receivables, deposits and HAhfEKEIE « e RIERFIE
prepayments 27
Advance to associates BRI FERE R E 2 RIE 28
Pledged bank deposits BEEFRITER 29
Time deposits TEHRTF 29
Cash and bank balances e RI|ITHEH 29
Current liabilities nREBEE
Trade payables JERTE S8R 30
Other payables and accruals Hibh e EREAER 31
Bank and other borrowings $RIT R EAIETR 32
Lease liabilities HEAE 33
Tax payables FERHLIE
Net current assets REBEEFRE
Total assets less current liabilities EEBERRDAB

e BRI R

At 31 December 2020
RZZEZTF+=-A=+—H

2020 2019
—BoERF =TT
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHBT
724,552 796,309
844,954 694,617

3,900 3,900

6,056 15,802

38,050 59,217
377,584 614,921
18,729 14,198

2,013,825 2,198,964
414,377 255,585
159,574 153,039

149,081 174,440
77,504 42,738
24,025 40,345
39,336 410,136

375,199 364,994

1,239,096 1,441,277

73,733 80,145

691,195 605,187

141,377 144,834

7,828 9,745

29,916 68,582

944,049 908,493

295,047 532,784

2,308,872 2,731,748
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI R

At 31 December 2020
RZT=TF+=-_A=+—H

2020 2019
—B-%F —ET-hF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt = FER FHET

Capital and reserves EARRRE
Share capital &N 36 29,406 29,396
Reserves @l 37 2,120,389 2,266,504

Equity attributable to the owners of A2 FEAAEGES

the Company 2,149,795 2,295,900

Non-controlling interests EEalile I (34,417) 181,538
Total equity s 2,115,378 2,477,438
Non-current liabilities FERBEE

Deferred tax liabilities REERIAEE 35 81,992 71,631

Lease liabilities HEEE 33 7,502 13,364

Derivative financial liabilities PTEREEE 34 - 80,085

Retirement benefits ERAEH] 39 104,000 89,230

193,494 254,310

2,308,872 2,731,748

The notes on pages 84 to 224 form an integral part of these consolidated  $84EH £ 52248 v [iicHimK L Fira MMk 2 —#0
financial statements. ba

The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 224 were approved $75BE2F224E#EFAMBRIEN T - —F=
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2021 and A=TH&KEEFSRELRREAM - WHTIESRE

are signed on its behalf by: E5ZE
Lee Siu Fong Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
ZNFE T
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
e e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERRS X

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

At 1 January 2020

Employee share option benefits
Exercise of share options

Share options lapsed

Share of reserve of an associate

Capital contribution from non-
controlling interests

Share
capital
e
HK$'000
Tén
Ro22%%

-A-A 29,396
EEERERA =
fikERE
BRMERE
Ae-FREAT

B
HihERnA

Acquisiion of a subsidiary YE-EHEna
(Note 45) (Hizts)

Disposal of interests in HENBATER

subsidiaries (Note 46) (F14e)

Profit (loss) for the year KERRT(ER)

Other comprehensive income A% EEM2ENE

(expense) for the year (5%

- Exchange differences on - BRRATE
translation of financial BaRkE,
statements of overseas 8=
subsidiaries

- Reclasfication of exchange ~ — HtEHERR)
reserve upon disposal of KRERfE
subsidiaries (Note 46) EEpi]

(Hit4e)

- Reclassification of other - MEHEAR
reserves upon disposal of A
subsidiaries (Note 46) ]

(H:4e)

- Share of other comprehensive  — 2EEERFZ
income of associates Eh2Eks

- Fair value changes of financial -~ FATEREE
assets at fair value through 2 A4ETIE
other comprehensive IREEL
income ATEZS

Total comprehensive (expense)  AEE2(ER )4

income for the year BB

2019 final dividend paid BAZE-0574

(Note 17) Re(h7)
2000 interim dividend paid BRZRoREmY
(Note 17) R& (it17)
At 31 Decerber 2020 NEESRE
t2A=1-A 29,406

Share
premium

]
HKS$'000
L

714,146

667

714,813

Attributable to the owners of the Company

Share-based

Merger compensation
difference reserve
WRARHZ
Mok
HK$'000
Tén

i
HK$'000
AR

900 23675
- 1M
. (231)
= (39)

FAARRARE

Investments
revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

iRt
HK$'000
AR

BEEDT
HKS$'000
Tin

157,404

(8,386)

(92,545)

314

(245,769)

(92231)  (245,.769)

65208 (254155)

Retained
profits

Exchange
reserve

ExXfE
HK$'000
TEn

A
HK$'000
T

(97,707) 1,468,172

= 39

129,316

(3,460)

82864 129,316

(22,349)

(15,879)

(14843) 1,559,299

Sub-total

/J\ﬁ-
HK$'000
Tin

2,295,900
17402
446

55

129,316

(3,460)

(92,545)

314

(245,769)

(125,820)

(22,349)

(15,879)

2,149,795

Attributable
to non-
controlling
interests
FERERES
HK$'000
Thn

181,538

31,26
(2,250)

(187,103)
(50,782)

(10,551)

(57,828)

(34417)

Total

&t
HK$'000
TEn

2,477,438
17,442
46

2,115,378
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AMREBE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

RATRRAEL
Attributable to
Share-based Investments non-
Share Share Merger ~ compensation Other  revaluation ~ Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium  difference reserve Teserves reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests Total
NI
e Kinag AfER [k EbRE REEGEE B RN 5 FakERRE it

HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ /000 HK$ 000 HK$000
Tin Tin TiL TiEn Tin Tin TiL TR Tin T L

At 1 January 2019 NoE-NE
-R-H 29,601 3L 9,200 18,661 64,787 33,726 (80,236) 1,403,033 2,210,543 2750 2,238,069
Employee share option benefits  (ESERiERA) = = - 5,461 - - - - 5,461 - 5,461
Exercise of share options fERRE 14 1,828 - (447) - - - - 1,395 - 1,395
Share of reserve of an associate  2A—FELA7
LB = = = = 5 = = = 5 - 5
Share options lapsed in an AE-FRELT
associate i e > - - - Q) - - 2 - - -
Gain on deemed disposal o BALENELT
interests in subsidiaries En g - - - - 92,545 - - - 92,545 28,412 310,957
Capital contribution from non- ~ 3HERERE
controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 2,236 2,236
Repurchase and cancellation of - EEEREEHERR
ordinary shares (219) (19453) - - - - - - (19672) - (19,672)
Profit loss) for the year RERETIER) > - - - - - - 125,553 125,553 (62,208) 63,345
Other comprehensive income.~~ AEEEM2ENE
(expense) for the year (%)
- Exchange differences on ~ABATE
translation of financal BRAEER
statements of overseas =8
subsidiaies : . . e : - (4 S M) (1871
- Share of other comprehensive  —3EEZAF 2
income of assoclates LR > - - - 18 - - - 18 - 18
- Fair value changes of financial - ~ATEFELN
assets at farvalue through ~—— 2EUETIEZ
other comprehensive 13- 74
income el o) - : . s - (@) . - @) ) s

Total comprehensive income ~~ ZEE2ANE

(expense) for the year = = = = 18 (42,112 (17471) 125,553 65,988 (66,636) (648)
2018 final dividend paid

(Note 17) - - - - - - ST (497 - )
2019 interim dividend paid

(Note 17) - - - - - - - (l0ge) (1066 - (1068
At 31 December 2019

29,3% 714,146 9,200 23,675 157,404 (8386)  (97,707) 1468172 2,295,900 181,538 2477438

The notes on pages 84 to 224 form an integral part of these consolidated  $84BZE %2248 Z MisHEA It F4r A Migmix 2 — 6
financial statements. o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
ZEIBF —ThEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
B FHET FHIT
Operating activities T

Profit before taxation BB RE A 134,037 122,886

Adjustments for: BLNFIE B (EL A -
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE 20 18,203 9,491

Depreciation of property, plant and W - BERRETE
equipment 19 109,301 84,651

Fair value loss (gain) on derivative PTHEMEBEZ AFEEE(KE)

financial liabilities 11 3,502 (6,551)
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair RAFEEBIBHIREZHBEEZ

value through profit or loss, net AT EEIEFHE 11 17,963 4,705
Foreign exchange gain, net HNEE B 5 a5 AR 11 (214) (2,071)

Loss on deemed disposal of interests in R AHEHE A AER 2 EE
associates 22 180,923 =
Loss on derecognition of financial assets R EmEF R ILFERIZA T ES B

at fair value through profit or loss at BRIR 2 M EE BB

expiration 11 4,584 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEWB AR Z KesFEE 46 (155,625) -
Gain on early termination of lease REKIEHE 2 Was 11 (¢)) -
Gain on realisation of loan receivables B RN E R 2 Was 11 - (22,200)
Interest expenses A BRI 13 5,385 5,759
Interest income ISVON 10 (9,072) (11,016)
Impairment loss on intangible assets EREEREBE 20 3,840 117,652
Impairment loss on goodwill EmEZREES 21 2,342 -
Gain on disposal of plant and HEBE KR 2 e TR

equipment, net 11 (30) (67)
Provision for expected credit losses on MG EE 2 B EEEERE

financial assets 26 1,180 73
Provision for slow moving stock TIHE E RS 2,087 4,191
Provision for retirement benefits RIRE RS 39 14,770 26,248
Share-based payments LARRAD 215 2 308 38 17,442 5,461
Share of results of associates AN (il kA/NE 11,414 11,895
Write-off of expired stock W ARETER 5,764 918
Write-off of property, plant and WEHYIZE -« BB KA

equipment 11 305 212
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
i\‘ﬂ—\/\fﬁi;ﬁgﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

2020

—BCEHE

Notes HK$'000
B aE FExT

Operating cash flows before movements “&EEGHFFZLLEERE
in working capital
Increase in inventories FEEN

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables  FEUE ZERFUR L (1 0)

Increase in other receivables, deposits E b fEWGRIR ~ e RIEFRIEE N
and prepayments

Decrease in pledged bank deposits BRI ETOR S

(Decrease) increase in trade payables FERTE SERFR (R )38 a0

Increase in other payables and accruals  Efth e 708 & e =1 & A AN

368,099
(147,463)
5,648

(33,036)
16,320
(6,512)
93,762

Cash from operations KEMBEEX RS
Interest paid BEAIALE

Income tax refund REIFTE %R
Income tax paid BEAIFTSE

296,818
40 (4,715)

(73,192)

Net cash generated from operating REEREE2ESTFH
activities

218,911

Investing activities REFE
Additions of development cost and license FHE£R N K2 A& 1 AN
fee

Advancement to associates BTEE AR Z BN
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value H&ﬁ%?ﬁ@ifﬁﬁ@ﬁ@%ﬁﬂkéﬁlwﬁz
through other comprehensive income BT &

Acquisition of financial assets at fair value WIEZAFEFEBIERIIEZHEEE
through profit or loss

Decrease in time deposits with initial ERE R =18 A 2 E AFE R
terms of over three months

Total interest received B S EE

Increase in loans receivables FEMERIE N

Purchase of plant and equipment BARE K&

Payment for construction in progress R TIRFK

Proceeds from disposal of plant and B RS K52 2 FTiS s
equipment

Repayment from associates FE S R EEE

Repayment from loan receivables B EREE

Subscription of shares of an associate RE—EEE R ERG

Net cash inflow (outflow) from acquisition WEE—MEHBAREEZREHA
of a subsidiary OftH ) F58

Net cash outflow from disposal of HEWBRREEZRE ML FEE
subsidiaries

20 (219,744)
(37,000)

24 (18,983)

(1,270)

45,040
7,415

19 (94,141)
19 (44,254)

63
4,682

(1,581)
45 474

46 (164,443)

Net cash used in investing activities REZFEFMACEESER

(523,742)

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

2019
—TNF
HK$'000
FHT

352,237
(53,239)
(7,846)

(77,498)
6,179
14,105
163,843

397,781
(4,592)
14,795
(8,031)

399,953

(242,366)
(8,000)

(30,793)

(1,551)

123,606
7,737
(7,800)
(64,335)
(53,877)

126

5,519
12,723

(261,411)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

==JAN AN =
FEREERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z-_ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
ZEIBF —ThEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
gz FHET FHIT
Financing activities AEEE
Capital contribution from non-controlling  FEEEiEZS HE
interests 31,226 2,236
New loans raised FEE N 40 167,418 68,713
Repayment of loans EEER 40 (160,428) (53,677)
Repayment of lease liabilities HEREaE 40 (10,238) (12,380)
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary FERR R TR R B T L BRI S IR F RE
shares upon exercise of share options 36 446 1,395
Net proceeds from deemed disposal of REHEWBA RS (WERE
interests in subsidiaries without losing HHE) 2 FT{S RORF5E
control 47 397,593
Payment on repurchase and cancellation  B&[E K 5k 8535 @AL 2 43
of ordinary shares 36 - (19,672)
Dividend paid BEARRE 17 (38,228) (60,416)
Net cash (used in) generated from RMEEE (A EE2REFHE
financing activities (9,804) 323,792
Net (decrease) increase in cash and BRERBRESZECEHD)EMTE
cash equivalents (314,635) 462,334
Cash and cash equivalents at R—B—BzBEERELEE
1 January 693,516 222,296
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes — /ME[ER &8 2 /4 (CX3:7)) 8,886
Cash and cash equivalents at RT-A=1t—-—HAZRERREEE
31 December 375,199 693,516
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERREZEI
Cash and bank balances I & RIRTTAERR 375,199 364,994
Time deposits TEHA T 39,336 410,136
414,535 775,130
Less: Time deposits with maturity over o =EAREIHZ EHER
three months (39,336) (81,614)
375,199 693,516
The notes on pages 84 to 224 form an integral part of these consolidated 848 £ 52248 7 i sHiBRIL SR A kR 2 — 3D
financial statements. 7 e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) is a limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the section headed “Corporate Information” in this annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “"Group”) are the developing,
manufacturing and sales and marketing of pharmaceutical products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollars (HK$), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs”) and HKFRSs that
are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the "Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards” and
the following amendments to HKASs and HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The application of the "Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards” and these amendments to HKASs
and HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKASs and
HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKASs and HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Accounting

Guideline 5 (Revised)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37
Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combination?

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments*

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)*

Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use®

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract®
Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 22

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

HKAS 28
Amendments to COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions?
HKFRS 16
Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-20203
HKFRSs
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020, earlier
application is permitted
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021,
earlier application is permitted
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022,
earlier application is permitted
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023,
earlier application is permitted
B Effective date to be determined

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKASs and HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable

future.

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

FERFTIEEBMBREENR
BRMBREER 28T (F)

E {8 KX 2 ATEEE
B ERIR BB B HEER
UREBETERREBYIE
HEER 2 55T

A5 B 4R 1 P T 5 S AR5 oK A 2 3

BRI EMREBYBRESEAULB R
FHER R BB I B E LA BT

BIEIESH(ET)  RAENTEBAGZ
ApgEe

BRMBHRELNFEL7R  REBAOKAEET
BERERSEIRZET RBIFERDEELS

EREBRESSH
(ZTZZF)2E#
&aT

ESGHERELI6R 2B WE - BEREE—
{EBVE BRI Z FT5
HEs

BAEGITEREI7H2ER] BEAN-BIEHZ
kA3

BEMBRELFEI R RARER
&1

BREMBIRELFN - MEREERE-E2
BREEAIE395 P2
BBRBIRE LS T
BRUEREEREAT R
BBRBIRE LA F 165
BRI

BEMBIRELAF105E R HEEBEBZ AR

R EHERE285 REMXCHZEAE
EH) HESTES

BRI HREERFE16952 COVID-19i8@H <

EH)

BB BREER 2 T

! RZEZTFRA—

B AR ERA

2 R=ZF=—F—A—

B AT ER
M AREER

J RZBE_=F—H—

B R
s EMABGTE

BE
BANBREEN =T
—N\EE-B-TF
2 FEES
Ak %Rz EEHRE

Bk &Rz FEHRAE

Rk &Rtn s FERME

BT E B RS R Z BRI  ARBESR

R E g B R G A B BT
HEER AR EB SR R EB %50 EER
ZERTRA LR S EERA M B HREKER

s 40
= °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERAHERBMERELEAR

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKASs and
HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 "COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions”

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 June 2020.

The amendment introduces a new practical expedient for lessees
to elect not to assess whether a COVID-19-related rent concession
is a lease modification. The practical expedient only applies to rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 that
meets all of the following conditions:

= the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than,
the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the
change;

= any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

- there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions
of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for the change
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 “Leases” ("HKFRS
16") if the changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or
waiver of lease payments are accounted for variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in
the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The application is not expected to have impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance as the Group does not intend to
apply the practical expedient.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

BRMBREER 28T (F)

E {8 KX 2 ATEEE
B ERIREBYHHKEER
UREBETERIREBYIE
BRI 2 155 (4E)

ERNBHMELEDFEL65E 2155
[COVID-19#HFEFE&EE |

ZIEFTN _ZE_ZTF A B2 ERBZFE
HARAER -

ZIERTHIE —AAI{THRE L @ EAEATRE
NeHECOVID-19HHAEBEE T ENEEE
o AITRE AR EANECOVID-198 #%
SIBAAFE AT AB G ZTHSEE

—  HENRZEHERELEEMER -
KEFT2REAZXEPRZHERER
BHER - ROREEBH R 2 HEKE

-  HENRZEAREEZERIHMALS =
T —FRA=THEIEZAZNK &

- HEZEBERRGREEEES) -

RIERZAITRE 72 A AR ARE B BB Y
B EERFE165%HE |([ BFBMBRMEERSE
1655 )Ps|BE S 2 BRI - HESEEHR
ZHEENREB IR TBREEE RN TEAR
HENF 2 EMNRRRIA RO ARIIEATEEE
3% - HAEERER THE  URRERE2HK
R MARHERNSIEEMHRZIE
TR °

MR AEEESRBZATRED S  HEME
RZIERT T & LA KB 2 B AR Ko R IVAERK 7
@,



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In additions, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” ("HKFRS 2”), leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories”
or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” ("HKAS 36").

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

3. FESFHE

EHEH

WEHAMBRECRETERTHAR TG
ERMBREEINR - 1o HBEAHBR
ROETABARBFARAAES LR
(T ) BE S A T EE (2 THE) 5
2 ERBEAR -

mAREE

W ERA M B HMRBIRIEE LK AE G hAREL -
MR TR S BRTRE - REWEMR - &
THBTATEAFERE -

B A HER AR AE S RBH TS TR
B2 ATE -

NFEETS2ERE ZMEFEBRETZARFR
ZRHE - REEMRNRZERABE REE
ez B ERZERDEXRERIZE
R RERAEMGERMERZE - EHE
Esk BBz ATEELGER - AEEZETH
B2REAGERAAZEERBEETEBRS
BEBZZERH - REEHAMEHRRBFE
R/ SBB RFEBRGEETINEE - EF
B ISR E RN E 258 ARRGD N 2 KB I([&E
MRS ERFE 255 ) S0 E Nz AR A
ZINRG - RREBFERELERF 165 AR
ZHER S RENHERUEL A FEZFE
(BB GHEAF2RFE | 2 AT &R FERK
B asrERE36 EERE ([ EBEFHER
365 )T 2 EAEE)ERI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e WIS ERR MG

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirely, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

3 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent the interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s
and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHE(E)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” ("HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance
with that standard; and

. lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-
by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
does not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly
of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see above),
and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement
of financial position at cost less any identified impairment losses.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units ("CGUs") (or groups of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indicator that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of
the CGU (or group of CGUs) is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUSs).
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest
held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of
HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but
the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies
to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

3. FEEFTHERE)

EF &R 2 Wz

REERNERBOEER (BIEFEROE TR
Bk RE2 [ EHE | BB ERPE) R
A e

BAREE —HREE R MRS (8 m ek
%) sk — RFIRBARR 2 AR MR ©

5768 & DA T R — TR T B S R80T
i X BT 2% Se A AR 40 B 2 M T 4R
R

. B RNAS B R A B R O e Z AAS
BEDMRM M

. REEEDRESIIERTPEARERED
b2 &E « 3k

. AEBROREAEEAEEAFEKA
w2 BE - MASEARIBTEKEZE
SRR Z IR °

Britbzoh - RE P ESAREE M ARG 12 6 R
WY o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

Manufacturing of proprietary and generic products
and trading of licensed-in products

Revenue from manufacturing of proprietary and generic products
and trading of licensed-in products are recognised at a point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally
on delivery of the product and accepted by the customers. No right
of return by customers is allowed based on contractual terms.
Revenue is thus recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers and the customers accepted the products. There is
generally only one performance obligation and the consideration
include no variable amount.

Other income

Other income (i.e. compensation income, incentive from vendor
and sundry income) is recognised at a point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on services have
been rendered to customers.

Research and development service income is recognised when the
Group renders the services and all the benefits are received and
consumed simultaneously by customer throughout the contract
period. Thus, the Group satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises as over time.

Rental and utilities income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Contract balances

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group
transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability
is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

(a) Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

(b) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of machinery and equipment and premises that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

(c) Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
. any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(e)

Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(7)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount

commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivables, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Rental income is included in “other income” in profit or loss.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with Customers”
("HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and
non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling
prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from
lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as
lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong Dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals, the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowings costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost to those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grant will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purposes of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are grouped under “other
income” in profit or loss.

Retirement benefits

Defined contribution plan

Retirement benefits are provided to eligible staff of the Group. Hong
Kong employees enjoy retirement benefits under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme. The employer’s monthly contribution is
5% of each employee’s monthly salary with maximum amount of
HK$1,500 per month for each employee.

The pension schemes covering all the Group’s employees in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Taiwan are defined
contribution schemes at various funding rates, and are in accordance
with the local practices and regulations.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans (including
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Retirement benefits (Continued)

Defined benefit plan

For defined retirement benefits plan, the cost of providing benefits is
determined by the valuation conducted by independent valuer at the
end of the reporting period, amortised over the expected average
remaining working lives of the participating directors.

The retirement benefits recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents the cost of providing benefits, based on
the valuation.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the service. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based compensation reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share-based compensation reserve.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based payment arrangements
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

TESBER(E)

RGO X2 FBLH (&)

UREEEURA V2R 5 (F)

ERBERITER - ZACRUBOD XN 2B
REAERZ SEEEBRERMNEE - ZRE
RERB B R R fEm B DR ETTE - 2
AIERARND S Z M REEAERZ SRR E
BB RERA

HE

PSR S HEER B 8 2 BB BB IERUR < 4858 -

BRBIR

BR BN HBEREAFR 2 ERVOEMETE
ERTURMEBRBADERBEERTR - Zh
REMFERRT KA FHRZBALAL © &
IR BRERB AR 2 B B PE o NEEE R
BRIz BEDRBNRS BREARIDETX
RBETZHEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reserve in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the
business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as
described below), are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals and
another portion is held for use in the supply of goods or services
or for administrative purpose. If these portions could be sold
separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), these
portions shall be accounted for separately, if the portions could not
be sold separately, the property is classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other
than construction in progress) less their residual values over their
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

5%-20%
7%-33%
10%-33%
10%-33%

Buildings

Leasehold improvement

Plant and machinery

Office and laboratory equipment and electronic
equipment

Motor vehicles 10%-33%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method

are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of

any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets

License fee (intangible assets acquired separately)

License fees are consideration paid for the license contracts and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. License fees with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are ready for intended use over the remaining
license period. The license period ranges from 3 to 10 years, with
certain licenses contain renewal clause.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

License fees with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Development cost (internally-generated intangible
assets - research and development expenditure)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
of licensed-in products or from the development phase of internal
projects is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Development cost (internally-generated intangible
assets - research and development expenditure)
(Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation commences when the
development of products completes. Amortisation of development
cost of internal projects is over the estimated useful life of 5 years,
while amortisation of development cost of licensed-in products is on
the same basis as license fees.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at
the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis
as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indicator that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indicator exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUS) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUSs) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on weighted average method.
Cost of finished good and work in progress comprises research
materials, raw materials, direct labour, other direct cost and related
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL")) added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHE(E)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(M

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Equity instruments/partnership interests designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments/partnership interest at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments/partnership interests, and will be transferred to
retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in profit or loss.

Financial assets as at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

This category contains investments in life insurance policies.
The Group accounts for the investments at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses”
line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss ("ECL"”) model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments and other items which were
not financial instruments), deposits, loan receivables, advance to
associates, pledged bank deposits, time deposits and cash and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e WIS ERR MG

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(M

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 365 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z-_ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

TESBER(E)

B#ETAHE)

MBEEGE)

L ENRE(E)

(1

EEREREEE N (R)

J BEBARERBECERNFERRE
=k

. BHREBANEEEBEHENAET
2 BEFAEE - KESBIERE
ZEBR SR ERTHEE -

N L sHE 2 AR - AEERR
EAHONRBHBEE365K « A8 YHE
RAREERREBELZMN - FRIFEAEE
AR A AR AR AL o

BE LA - WEBTABEEBNKRE
AREEREEERR  BIRNEEBRRE
BT A ZEERR B 7156 TR LA SR I 48 58
Z1h0 o B TER - AERS AR
ETAREEREFERR : ()EBEKEYN
Ee : (iINERARBEEE S - AJREH
NETEHAKESREEM (i) &R
BEBARRZ RBATFEB T EERSE
HISSERABITHANRESRER T 268
71 - MEH TR Z RPN BEEFREB
[E&EHR(RIBEEERAREE) @ BIARE
EREZEELAGTERKEERR °

Annual Report 2020 F§

123



124

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(M

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

For loan commitments, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be
the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a loan
commitment, the Group considers changes in the risk of a
default occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment
relates; for financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 365 days
pass due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events

that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash

flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a

financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e WIS ERR MG

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not
yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables and other receivables (excluding prepayment
and other items which were not financial instruments),
deposits, advance to associates, pledged bank deposits,
time deposits and cash and bank balances;

° Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial assets at FVTOCI the Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified
as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e WIS ERR MG

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI upon
application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in

profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL on
initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified is held for trading if:

. it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing
it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

3 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

3 such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire combined contract
(asset or liability) to be designated as FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
For financial liabilities that contain embedded derivatives, such
as derivative financial liabilities, the changes in fair value of the
embedded derivatives are excluded in determining the amount to
be presented in other comprehensive income. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised
in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained profits upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
(excluding contract liabilities and other tax payable) and accruals,
obligations under license contracts, retirement benefits and bank
and other borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract issued by the Group is initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

3 the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate,
is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss
on the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10%.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities” original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities
and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or
loss at the date of modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e WIS ERR MG

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently

remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set

off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand,

and time deposits with banks and other financial institutions, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

the entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

the entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
Group is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group.

Close members of the family of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that individual in their dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated statements, the directors
of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on the historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the CGUs and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. As at 31
December 2020, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$3,900,000
(net of impairment loss HK$2,342,000) (31 December 2019:
HK$3,900,000, net of nil impairment loss). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Determination of impairment loss event and
estimated impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade and
other receivables. The provision rates are based on past-due status
of debtors as groupings of various debtors on this basis demonstrate
similar loss patterns with shared credit risk characteristics. The
provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, trade and other receivables with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2020, the carrying
amount of trade receivables is HK$159,574,000, net of allowance for
ECL of HK$1,708,000 (31 December 2019: HK$153,039,000, net of
allowance for ECL of HK$440,000).

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2020, certain of the Group’s financial assets
(including financial assets at FVTPL and financial assets at FVTOCI)
and financial liabilities (including retirement benefits and derivative
financial liabilities) are measured at fair value with fair value being
determined based on significant unobservable inputs using valuation
techniques. Judgement and estimation are required in establishing
the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof.
Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could result
in material adjustments to the fair value of these instruments.
Details of the fair value measurement are disclosed in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 4. BERESTTHE R AT THEBRE

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right of use
assets

Being part of the principal activities, the Group acquired certain
license fees and capitalised development cost relating to the
development of pharmaceutical products, since these costs meet
the recognition criteria of HKAS 38. The Group reviews the carrying
amount of all intangible assets held at the end of the reporting
period and HK$3,840,000 (2019: HK$117,652,000) impairment was
considered necessary for these assets.

As at 31 December 2020, in view of impairment indicators, the
Group performed impairment assessment on property, plant
and equipment approximately HK$573,359,000 (31 December
2019: HK$641,225,000) and right-of-use assets approximately
HK$151,193,000 (31 December 2019: 155,084,000) respectively.
No impairment losses in respect of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets have been recognised for both years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019.

Depreciation

The Group’s net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
(excluding right-of-use assets) as at 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK$573,359,000 (31 December 2019: approximately
HK$641,225,000). The Group depreciates the property, plant and
equipment, using the straight-line method, at the rate 5% to 33%
per annum, commencing from the date the assets is placed into
productive use. The estimated useful lives and dates that the Group
places the assets into productive use reflect the directors’ estimate
of the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group recognises share-based payments expense on options
granted. Share-based payments expense is based on the estimated
fair value of each option at its grant date, the estimation of which
requires the directors to make assumptions about future volatility
of the Group'’s stock price, future interest rates and the timing with
respect to exercise of the options. The effects of a change in one
or more of these variables could result in a materially different fair
value. The fair value of the share options granted during the year
was estimated at HK$9,225,000 (2019: HK$5,288,000) and the
amount associated with share-based payments for the year ended
31 December 2020 is HK$17,442,000 (2019: HK$5,461,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in a number of jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes in various jurisdictions. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made.
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TR GMFTEE K 2 SR THIREE L AFEE
AEERIEE TR ARNEINIAZ G TAL
BIHETA B ERAE  MFEHZREHE
BREAGVLEZSBIR  ZEZB/HFE(E
SR M < B M MRIEFR S B E R B E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

5.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners of the Company through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes borrowings and lease liabilities net of cash and cash
equivalents) and equity attributable to the owners of the Company
(comprising issued share capital, share premium, reserves and
retained profits).

Gearing ratio

X RERERE

REBETERNER  UBRRAEE 2 BN

R Hﬁﬁﬁﬂ@{tﬁ%&%ﬁﬁ% MEARD
AHEBAERBZEARL - BEFES  AEEZE

BRI RIS & -

AEEZ AR EEBEREFE(BEEEREE
BEMBREMRSESE) RARRRER AEEZ
R (BEEBTRA - RIVEE - FERREE
) e

BERBRBLE

The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was as follows: RMERR EEABLLERNT
2020 2019
ZEIEF —NE
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHTT
Debt (Note a) B (Hiaka) 156,707 167,943
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEE (375,199) (693,516)
Net debt EXFE (218,492) (525,573)
Equity (Note b) 125 (Hi3Eb) 2,149,795 2,295,900
Net debt to equity ratio FEERAER 2 N/A T N/A iR
Notes: PE
a. Debts are defined as bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities as a. BEISE R ARG M ERER A 32 %337 2

described in notes 32 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

b. Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to the owners of the
Company.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Categories of financial instruments

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

6. MEEREE

BB T EES

2020 2019
—B_EF —TNF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FEx FHT

Financial assets BMBEE
At FVTPL RAFEE BB 38,050 59,217
At FVTOCI BRATEEBE M2 RS R 377,584 614,921
At amortised cost TR S ANFI AR 716,231 1,057,059
1,131,865 1,731,197

Financial liabilities g 3 =R
At amortised cost 2 SH P AN 51 BR 870,444 734,536
At FVTPL RATEFEBRERR - 80,085
870,444 814,621

Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s corporate treasury function provides services to the
business units, co-ordinates access to domestic and international
financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating
to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which
analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks
include market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate
risk, and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks and may
use derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures. The
use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies
approved by the board of directors, which provide written principles
on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of
financial derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments, and
the investment of excess liquidity. The Group does not enter into or
trade derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in
respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.

MERBREZERE

AR B b 3 IR B B B2 R 2K TS AL AR EARTS - 1759
EANBARERSRTS  BRNEERRE (K
mRR 2 2R R EE O RE) B R E IR EAE
E2ERMcMBRAR - LERRBET SRR
(BHEINERR - MXRERREBERRR)  F
ERERRBESRR -

AEEREBERITENBTALNER - US
K ERE 2 B &M - MBITETRZE
RAZBEESHEZAEBERRMEE - ZEXK
REBHINERR - MXEAR  FERR  ERY
BOTETAEITAM B TR - UREREZHZ
mBESEERA - AREXEETIREFIT
BT AEREAE -

AEBEGRAMB TR 2 BB 2 BRI AEEEHE
KEtERMARBRZ AL EEE)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. MBEREE(H)
(CONTINUED)
Market risk management 5B e B
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of AEBEBER 2 EENHRR AINEER - F
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and other R REAMEE 2 BB o REEA ] ZINERBRE
price. The Group may enter into foreign currency forward contracts RVLAST RS B INE FTEE A 2 FE R R B2 o
to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on foreign currency
purchase.
Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. SRR ASKE DT R o
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks AEBEEMSRARIERERTELFRR 2
or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured. VA RS o
Foreign currency risk management SN R B B B
The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign REBEETUINEEEZRS : Bt - BREE)
currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations [BREAE °
arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated AEBRBEARUINEEEZEREERE
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting BEZEREENT :

period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
BE =L

2020 2019 2020 2019

et et 223 —E-NEF —BCEF —TNF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THT FAT FAT

Renminbi ("RMB") AREE 465,125 432,484 392,612 340,913
United States Dollars ("US$") ETT 147,370 548,147 187,243 169,367

Euro ("EUR") BT 800 1,425 68,992 83,470
Pound Sterling ("GBP") S 3 3 - -
New Taiwan Dollars ("NTD"”) e 1,502 2,287 1,022 1,410
Japanese Yen (“JPY") =] = 438 - 2,531

614,800 984,784 649,869 597,691
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)
Market risk management (Continued)

Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2019:
5%) increase in the relevant foreign currencies against HK$. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusted their translation at the
period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number indicates an increase in profit or equity whereas a number
in bracket indicates a decrease in profit or equity. For a 5% (2019:
5%) decrease in the relevant foreign currencies against HK$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit or equity.

—E-TF
HK$’000

RMB AR
US$ E
EUR BT
NTD akk
JPY AE

FAT
(4,665)
(2,302)
(3,410)

(1)

(10,378)

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the
Group borrow funds at floating and fixed interest rates. The Group
currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure periodically.

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

MR ERERE (&)

5B & (AF)
SN BB BHURLEE 9 47

TERFMANEERBBINEL BT ZEER EFH
5% (=F—NF : 5%) ZBEENIT - FEED
MEBEUIINEFEEZ MAEBEEEIER @ W
HNEE 53R R ) 5% ¥ H AR E (EFHEE - [EH
BN m AR 2 SN - AR SR Bk A B R s Bk
D o HEAERINE KA T2 BRR 5% (=
T—NE : 5%) + Rl A it & 2 S AE R 28
BEARCTE -

Other comprehensive

Profit or loss income

Hith 2w

2019 2020 2019
—T-NF —ECEF —T-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FIT FHAIT FAT
7,576
309

25

6,813

EEERR  BRESMLARERLREAFINER
B - THERRNFRRER Y N RIRE AR o

NEREREE
HRAEEERIHLEENEERES @
AEEAE M ERR - ANEEBR W EHIEE

AR EPBOR - AT - B E e B AR
[z o
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B BHRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Market risk management (Continued)

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate
liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease in variable-rate borrowings is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank balances are
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company
consider that the exposure of cash flow rate risk from variable-rate
bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
pre-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 would decrease/
increase by HK$707,000 (2019: decrease/increase by HK$569,000).
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates
on its variable-rate borrowings.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its
investment in financial assets measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI
with the underlying assets are equity securities. The Group’s
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on entities operating in
biopharmaceutical industry which are either listed in Nasdaqg Capital
Market®/OTC Stock Market or unlisted.

Other price risk sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, if the price of the equity
instruments had been 5% (2019: 5%) higher/lower, the Group’s pre-
tax profit would increase by HK$1,593,000 (2019: HK$3,044,000)
or decrease by HK$1,589,000 (2019: HK$3,009,000) as a result of
the changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL, while the other
comprehensive income would increase/decrease by HK$14,774,000
(2019: increase/decrease by HK$26,949,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

MR ERERE (&)

5B & (AF)
IR AR RBES H

T‘XF)’T%E@E%ﬁﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁéiﬁiﬂﬂiﬁiiﬁﬁ
FOTETAZARRRERE - FEEEME
[1:A%E5 79?1)31?*“E’\#B%iﬁﬁﬂiiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\ﬂ
BEFEEHREEMRE - MEEEEA S AEE
AR R - AR AR S S BRSO AR,
(ZF—N%F : SOEER) - KREEEHMEZ
BIEBEE B L ZFHE o SRITABR IR 8L
RESH - AARABERRRFERITHAERSIE
ZHEREBREER o

iR £ T HAS0EE2 (=T — N4 : 501@
22 - MArAEMEHHRFITE ZK%IECEQI
—ECEFFT A=+ ALEFEZRADE A&
W8 IN707,0008 T (—F—NE B S
#1569,00057T)  TB2RAAREEFEE
) B RIEFAZFERR -

HivER R

AEBRTZEBENRAFEEBRBERIZAT
EFEBEMEHKRTE 2 MBEE(KHERE
ERBEAER) 2REMAZBRAERRER - A&
BB ERRREEETREEMBETES
BeER MuSEREMTEREATS/
BN IR TS ESkAE E T o

HivER R SURE DT

AT BUB A I TS R IR R 5 BRI 2 A i
EREIETEE o

HE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—HLFE  HER
ARLEBHELEF THE5%(ZZE—HE : 5%)
RNEEE 2 R AR AL IN1,593,0008 (= F
— L4 : 3,044,000/ 7T ) 505 41,589,000
T(=Z— N4 : 3,009,000/ 7T) @ RN
EEBIESIIE M EEEQA T EZEEH -
i H A 2 E Uk 25 #8318 hn, % 4> 14,774,000 7T
(=T —hF : 38,54 26,949,000/ 7T) -
SRR EBBE M2 ERERYRZ MEEE
AFEZEETE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by counterparties is the carrying amount
of each financial asset as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

The management of the Group makes periodic collective assessment
as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of the
outstanding balance (including trade receivables, other receivables,
deposits and advances to associates) based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. The management of the Group considered there
is no significant change in the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding balance and sufficient ECL allowance is provided as set
out in respectively notes.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings.

The Group’s credit risk exposure is spread over a number of
counterparties and customers. Hence, it has no significant
concentration of credit risk by single counterparty. Ongoing credit
evaluation is performed on the financial condition of receivables.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

MR ERERE (&)

FEREEE

RIZE-ZF+-A=+—H AKEFEHZ
EAEERER (R GERRNE T REERITREEE
AEEELMBEER)IRE SMEEEZ REE
(BaniR & MR R25) -

REEERRRERE  EEEEZR—XEK
BEEEEERSE  FEHEREMESRER
VAREAR AJ SREVERAE 4 e A MR B /8 B 75

AEEEREEREBEBEMERRDE  BELHBRUAK
BEABAEEXFNAEEER - SERREZ
ER(BRERKE SRR - HMEUKRE - 2E R
BN PEE AR ZHR) 2 TR EREETTE RS
BIHERERNFE - AEEEEERS - A&E
Z MR B 2 R A B 2 EREEREMR
B YABRBRANEREEERERE
AR SRR Pt

HRRSHUFHREERERTRZRT - #R
PESZFEERBRAR -

AEEZEERBRISHMRZEXGHFRE
BBt EERRAFTZENRE-—RZH
F o AEESHBURR M BEA R EETE
BTl -

AEEYEREEUBEEFREERRITE
R Mk SRR -

Annual Report 2020 F§

143



144

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i\‘/T\

B BHRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE

6.

—E-TFE+_A=t+—HItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. MBEREE(H)
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk management REE2EGEEE
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with NBECRREBCRKRETERESE &3
the board of directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk SERVHEEZRDECREREIZER - WIS
management framework to meet the Group’s short, medium and AEBZRH PHERRBAESHERRSDES
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The BEENR - AEEFBETEMHEE  RITRE
Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, MEBEERE  HEEREIRER 2RSSR
banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously EREHMBEEREBBEZIHBHRERRE
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity Ao o
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
Liquidity tables RBESK
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual Ti%éii;$‘¥@ﬁ/f}fiﬁﬂ%E%Zﬁ?TAfﬂﬂﬂﬁﬂ
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have c RERBINIBBASENEAXNZ&EEH
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial HﬂZﬁﬁiﬁﬁf,az#ﬁﬁfﬁfﬁﬁmg%ﬁﬁz o B g8
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be © WA EE SR R RITIE R AR
required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a Repayment on Ex T em ERITIE RA T AR 2 I RENME © HoAth
Demand Clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of IOTEM BB EFH B G RER B BHRLE -
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates.
On demand Total
or less than More than undiscounted Carrying
Interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amount
RERL REEH
FlZ DPR—F BB-F HeRELE BREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FAT FAT FHET FAT
At 31 December 2020 RZZ_ZTE
+=-A=+—H
Non-derivative financial Ff{T£HEEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables [EfNESEHR K
H A FEMFRIA = 609,737 - 609,737 609,737
Leases liabilities HEERE 2.37-6.00 8,259 7,703 15,962 15,330
Bank and other borrowings 777 E fi &3k 1.75-3.85 145,113 = 145,113 141,377
Retirement benefits RIKER 3.32-4.31 - 264,680 264,680 104,000
763,109 272,383 1,035,492 870,444
At 31 December 2019 —T-NEF
+-A=+—~H”
Non-derivative financial ¥fT4£#¥aE
liabilities
Trade and other payables [ENEZEHK
H A e FRIA - 477,363 - 477,363 477,363
Leases liabilities HEEE 2.83-4.18 10,399 13,909 24,308 23,109
Bank and other borrowings 17 R H A S 2.88-4.33 153,111 - 153,111 144,834
Retirement benefits RIRAER 4.73-5.20 - 262,119 262,119 89,230
640,873 276,028 916,901 734,536
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Are SRR ML

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

MR ERERE (&)

MBI AZ A FEE

AEEETHBEERYBAGEDREREHR
ZRAFEFE - TRIBRINAEEXENBEE
R BRERHEZ ER LERRAZ AER

il b g ABUR) °

Financial asset/ MFER Fair value Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable
Financial liability 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
HEEE/ MBEE ZECBEHZASt-H ZE-AFTZA=1-H AVESZE RGERNREIZRABE TETARNBAYE
Financial assets at fair Investments in life Investments in life Level 2 Based on the lowest level of N/A
value through profit or insurance policies insurance policies input
loss HK$5,191,000 HK$3,651,000 and Cash Value.
BRATEEBRBERIR ASRRREFE ASRBRREFE FZR ERARB REKTRAEE THEA
LHBEE 5,191,000/ 3,651,000/7C BE -
Financial assets at fair Investments in club Investments in club Level 2 Based on the lowest level of N/A
value through profit or debenture policies debenture policies input such as quoted price.
loss HK$3,200,000 HK$3,800,000
RATEERBERIR BREEFRE BEEFRE =R ERBASBZ&EKT (R T~EA
AR 3,200,000/ 7T 3,800,000/ 7T ) °
Financial assets at fair Unlisted warrants Unlisted warrants Level 2 Note a N/A
value through profit or HK$17,776,000 HK48,161,000
loss
RATEERBERIR EEmRRER I EmRREE ER fitita NEf
B EE 17,776,000/ T 48,161,000/57T
Financial assets at fair Convertible notes Convertible notes Level 2 Note b N/A
value through profit or HK$6,501,000 HK$2,543,000
loss
RATEERBRIR ARREE ARREE EH fitstb NEf
B AE 6,501,000/&7C 2,543,000/
Financial assets at fair Convertible loan N/A Level 3 Note b Long-term revenue growth
value through profit or HK$2,239,000 rate ranging from
loss 3% to 251% (Note c).
Discount rate of 15.04%
(Note d).
RATEEBBERIR AHARER @ E=1 MitEh REABRERENF3%E

ZHBAE

2,239,000/ 7T

251%(fizEc) °

B %15,04% (Fititd)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value as at

AFER

6. MEEREE(E)

MBI AZ A FEHE(E)

Financial asset/ Fair value Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable
Financial liability 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
HBEE/MBEE “ECBEHZASt-H ZE-AFTZA=1-H AVESZE RGERNREIZRARE TETARNEAYE
Financial assets at fair Unlisted warrants Unlisted warrants Level 3 Note a Long-term revenue growth
value through profit or HK$3,143,000 HK$1,062,000 rate ranging from
loss -80% to 263%
(2019: 3% to 22%)
(Note c).
Discount rate of 14.62%
(2019: 14.73%) (Note d).
BATEERBEHIIRS I ERMRER I T RIRAEE F=R fifita REABRERENT
BMEE 3,143,000 7T 1,062,000/ 7T -80%%263%
(ZF—NEF : 3%E22%)
GEDK
B3R %14.62%
(Z2-NF : 14.73%)
(Fizkd)
Financial assets at fair Listed overseas Listed overseas Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an N/A
value through other equity securities equity securities active market.
comprehensive income HK$208,287,000 HK$478,594,000
BRATEEBEMEERE  BINETRAES BN ETRAE 5 F—R REBTSARZ EARE ° NEf
Sl TS AE 208,287,00077T 478,594,000/ 7T
Financial assets at fair Unlisted partnership Unlisted partnership Level 3 Based on the net asset value The fair values estimated
value through other investment investment with reference to the prices with reference to the latest
comprehensive income HK$82,098,000 HK$75,950,000 of underlying investment private/market transaction.
portfolio quoted by fund
administrator.
RATERRHMEENRE  FLMABRE FETEBRE E=R HRNEEFE(2ZESEBARN ATENZEREHIA/
SRRz TS B E 82,098,000/57T 75,950,000/ 7T Rz AR EHEAER) - MHR ST °
Financial assets at fair Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 3 Income approach, the Long-term revenue growth
value through other securities securities discounted cash flow rate ranging from
comprehensive income HK$87,199,000 HK$53,787,000 method was used to -80% to 263%
capture the present value  (2019: 3% to 20%)
of the expected future (Note c).
economic benefits to be
derived from the ownership Discount rate ranging
of this investee, based on  from 14.62% to 15.04%
an appropriate discount (2019: 14.73% to 15.57%)
rate. (Note d).
RATEEREMP2ENE  FEMRAES I ERRAFES E WNE-FRERREREEN REKEERENT
FIBR 2 BTS B 87,199,000 7T 53,787,000/ T REEE HEE HENZ  -80%%2263%
WREF HEREG ESR  (ZT—NEF  3%%20%)
AREEER G FE (Fitzke)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AR

Are SRR ML

(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

Fair value as at

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

6. MEEREE(E)

MBI AZ A FEHE(E)

Financial asset/ MFER Fair value Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable
Financial liability 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
HBEE/MBEE ZE-RESCASY-H ZE-AFTZA=+-B AVEZR MAERNRIEBARE TEFTRABARE
Financial assets at fair Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 3 Market approach uses Price-To-Book ratio
value through other securities securities prices and other relevant (“PB ratio”) ranging
comprehensive income HK$Nil (Note e) HK$6,590,000 information generated from 0.81 to 14.80
by market transactions (Note f).
involving identical or
comparable assets and Discount of lack of
liabilities, a group of asset  marketability ("DLOM") of
and liabilities. 20% (Note g).
RATEEREMEENE  FLmRAES I EMRAES A TmEDERRSRAERKAL  MmERENT0.81F14.80([7Ef) ©
R BT E T (fitite) 6,590,000/ 7T BEE  aff —MHEERSE
B THERZMEEZBRE RS hEnBETER20%
HiEAEH o (Ktikg) -
Retirement benefits Liabilities Liabilities Level 3 Discounted cash flows Annualised historical growth
HK$104,000,000 HK$89,230,000 method was used to rate of 4.7% (2019: 4.3%)
capture the present value  (Note h).
of the expected future
economic benefits that Discount rate ranging
will flow out of the Group from 3.32% to 4.31%
arising from the retirement  (2019: 4.73% to 5.20%)
benefits, period till the year (Note i).
of retirement.
RN BfE BfE F=R BRRERSENARGLERE FECELERR4.7%
104,000,000%7C 89,230,000 7T ZRRFEZAZBRAENE  (ZT—N4F : 4.3%)(Htih) -

MREARE 2 B RREE
Mtz 38 -

BN T3.32%%4.31%
(Z2NEF  4.73%E
5.20%) (ffzEi) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

Financial asset/

Fair value as at

MFER Fair value Valuation technique(s)

31.12.2020
“ECEE+CR

Financial liability
HBEE/HHAE

=t-B —B-

31.12.2019
NE+=A=+-H

hierarchy and key input(s)
ALEER HERNRIZGAZE

6. MEEREE(E)

MBI AZ A FEHE(E)

Significant unobservable
inputs
TEFTRABARE

Derivative financial
liabilities

N/A

ITEHBRE TER

Liabilities
HK$80,085,000

Level 3 Income approach, the
discounted cash flow
method was used to
capture the present value
of the expected future
economic benefits to be
derived from the ownership
of the underlying entities,
based on an appropriate
discount rate.

Equity allocation model
known as option-pricing
method was used to obtain
the values of liquidation
preference and redemption
right based on the equity
value of the underlying
entities obtained by
discounted cash flow
method. The option-pricing
method treats common
stock and preferred stock
as call options on the equity
value, with exercise prices
based on the liquidation
preference, redemption
right and conversion prices
of the preferred stock.

WA E—ERETRR 2 mEEN
REBHEE <BEE - SHEHE
HER MERESZESA
RSBz 2 BB -

A E=
80,085,000 7%

g EEA (BRiREEx)
TRERRERANRRER
ERIISZBEEE - MEE
FEEARLEOEBEE -
MEEEESERRRELR
BARMEBEZEREE -

ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ@%kZ?”
BEE  BEEREAE
o

D li
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Discount rate of 25.5%
(Note d).

DLOM of 20% (Note g).
Success rate of drug

development of 15.2%
(Note j).

BE3R % 525.5%(fizEd) ©

B AR BT EA20%
(FiizEg) o

BYREZRNER15.2%
(L)) =



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Notes:

Binomial Model was used by applying discrete timestep lattice model
of the varying price over time of the underlying financial instruments
which based on the exercise price, time to expiration, risk free rate
and stock price as quoted in active market (for fair value measurement
within Level 2) or as determined by Income approach (for fair value
measurement within Level 3).

Partial differential equation, especially the Crank-Nicolson finite-
difference method, was used by applying discount rate, volatility level
and underlying stock price as quoted in active market (for fair value
measurement within Level 2) or as determined by Income approach (for
fair value measurement within Level 3).

Long-term revenue growth rate was determined by taking into account
of management’s experience and knowledge of market conditions of the
specific industries. Increase in long-term revenue growth rate would
result in an increase in fair value measurement, and vice versa.

Discount rate was estimated by considering the weighted average cost
of capital determined by using a Capital Asset Pricing Model. Decrease
in discount rate would result in an increase in fair value measurement,
and vice versa.

The investment is under liquidation during year 2020 and no accounting
records are available for fair value estimation. As a result, the
management assessed the fair value is approximately HK$Nil.

PB ratio was determined by taking into account of comparing similar
industrial’s market. Decrease in PB ratio would result in an increase in
fair value measurement, and vice versa.

DLOM was determined by taking into account of discount between public
market and market for privately held stock. Decrease in DLOM would
result in an increase in fair value measurement, and vice versa.

Increase in annualised historical growth rate would result in an increase
in fair value measurement, and vice versa.

Discount rate was determined by the Hong Kong Interest Rate Swap
Curve ad adjusted by country risk premium and option adjusted spread.
Decrease in discount rate would result in an increase in fair value
measurements, and vice versa.

Success rate of drug development was determined with reference
to published ophthalmology drug development. Increase in success
rate of drug development would result in an increase in fair value
measurement, and vice versa.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current year.

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

MR ERERE (&)

MBI AZ A FEHE(E)

a. — IR R B e AR A 75 T A B BER R
BT R Bl R ER  Bh AR R (LAAT6EME - BIE]
i - mERAR R RERT SRR E =R
AFEFEMN ) RIRBAEEE (EE=RAF
EFtEM S ) ZBELER) o

b. R 7 2= (5B Crank-Nicolson G R & 5
R ERRIRE « RIEKTF RERMISAR (S
—RAFEFEM D) RIRBANEEE (RE=K
AEEFEM S ) 2 AERR(E -

G REWSRERREERERE ZFETETRE
BEAZETE - RPKEEEE ETHEERAT
EFHEIEM - RZIR °

d. MREREEREREAEEEEEEETE R INE
FHERKAME R - BIRE TR EH R FER
BN R2ZIFA »

e. ZHREN_F_BFEAFED RE ST
AIARGERERAFE - Bt - BREFEEAT
BHORTET -

. MIREEE B L BLITEMSETE - MRET
FEREHRATEEEM - R2ZIFA

g. RZ TS BT R AEE B AR TS ETLARR
MBZEZRET © RZ Mg maET R T g
BAFEREIBM - K2R e

h. FREABELEER S EHAFEEEM
RZ IR °

i R EUFEF R G RETE - WEEREAR

HELRERAREERHE - RREXTREEHRA
FEFTEEM - RZTA e

j. ZYFRBER N2 ZE DM R EY R RE
E o EMFAERINE LB ERATEEE
e RZINAR ©

MAEE B — AR — 2 P e -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HEEREKREE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value FE=RAFETEZHER
measurements

Financial assets (liabilities)

HHEE(ER)
At FVTOCI - At FVTOCI -
At FVTPL - At FVTPL - Unlisted Unlisted Derivative
Unlisted Convertible equity  partnership Retirement financial
warrants loan securities investment benefits liabilities
RAVEER RAVEER
RAYEER RATEEA 22 E A2
BERIE- BR5IE- Wz 5% - IE851% -
FETRARER TERER  ELTRERES FLHAERE BHER fTERBaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TATL ThT TAT TAT TAT
Year ended BE-E-EF
31 December 2020 TZR=+-BLEE
Opening balance e (89,230) (80,085)
Additions #1 - -
Total gains (losses): Bl (EE)
- in profit or loss - RE&EA (14,770) (3,502)
- in other comprehensive — REM2EKER
income (5,085)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR (Fii46)
(Note 46) -
Closing balance RS (104,000)
Year ended BE-E-NF
31 December 2019 TZAZt-BLEEFE
Opening balance B = - 44,491 71,272 (62,982) -
Additions #m = = 8,969 5,834 = (86,636)
Total gains (losses): Bl (ER)
- in profit or loss - RE&EA 1,062 - - - (26,248) 6,551
- in other comprehensive — REM2ENER
income - - 6,917 (1,156) - -
Closing balance HR g 1,062 - 60,377 75,950 (89,230) (80,085)
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or loss:

- there is HK$14,770,000 loss (2019: HK$26,248,000 loss)
related to retirement benefits recognised under “administrative
expense”; and

- there are HK$3,050,000 gain (2019: HK$1,062,000 gain)
and HK$3,502,000 loss (2019: HK$6,551,000 gain) related
to financial assets at FVTPL and derivative financial liabilities
respectively recognised under “other gains and losses, net”.

Included in other comprehensive income is a net HK$13,987,000
gain (2019: net HK$5,761,000 gain) related to unlisted equity
securities classified as financial assets at FVTOCI held at the end
of the reporting period and is reported as changes of “investments
revaluation reserve”.

REVENUE

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable for
goods sold by the Group to outside customers during the year which
is recognised at a point in time.

Are SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—Z-FF+-_A=1+—HIFE

M EE ()
FE=RN-FlETEZH R (F)

T AR Z F AR B R

- RITTHRERIEBETERAEBRKEF
14,770,000 B T BEE (=T — L F -
26,248,000/ T 1B) « &

—  RIEMKXEEBEFE|FRREHIEZ
AT EBEBERINEZHBEERITE
8 75 & & » Bl A& 3,050,000 % T U 2=
(ZZ— % : 1,062,000 T Y 25 )
% 3,502,000 8 LB (=T —NF :
6,551,000/ T s) °

FFAHEM 2 AR R ERIREBHREF AW IED
FEBZBEMEEMKREIIEZMEEES I
ETRAESFEREEEA13,987,000/8 Tl Es
FE(—ZT— N4 : 5,761,000/ Tz F5E) ¢
WiEBIIEESHHEIZFH2R -

Wy 58

fas tE IO B MR RE R 2 A F E AR K E RN
PEPIHEE R B RN BRI

=

ok
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chairman of the Company, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on the
types of goods delivered.

During the year, the Group commenced the business in generic
products after obtaining the approval for manufacturing and
marketing the generic products from the relevant authority, and it
has been aggregated into the proprietary segments for reporting.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as
follows:

Proprietary and generic
products

— Manufacturing and sales of
self-developed and generic
pharmaceutical products

Licensed-in products - Trading of licensed-in pharmaceutical
products

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

FZARR B EfE (Bl 2R EREKE) 2 RAES
BRPELFEDBRRAZERASRARNE

R -

RAFEEAR  AEBRESAHE R ERER
EHNRERRFRDBREREY  URHE2HRAE
KOS HIEAZF 53D -
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable segments:

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

7 RPER ()

7B E R FEAE

AT RZEAI 2B O BE D 2 A RE R E R EED

#r

Proprietary and
generic products
ERRGHER

Consolidated
o)

Licensed-in products
SlEER

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
=il TS el T el —T- N
HK$°000 HK$'000 ERGLEHIL HK$'000 BRGLEIOL] HK$'000

TER THAT TER TAT TEx TAT

Segment revenue DR 538,765 535,627 677,951 683,286 Wi WA 1,218,913
Segment operating results 2 EEEEE 241,651 251,376 194,475 195,821 436,126 447,197
Research and development #fZERFHEER

expenses (ALK (26,885) MRELIRIEDY  (123,060) EMELEPLIN  (149,945)
Impairment of intangible &/ &ERE

assets [CXI)  (117,652) EXI0)  (117,652)
Impairment of goodwill EERE (2,342) - (2,342) -
Segment results DEEE 184,558 224,491 42,092 (44,891) 226,650 179,600
Gain on disposal of ekl =YNC 6

subsidiaries, net FE(Mi5T46)

(Note 46) 155,625 =
Loss on deemed disposal 1R &HEHE AT

of interest in associates Syl 1| (180,923) -
Unallocated income RABBA 12,717 19,262
Unallocated expenses ROEER (62,146) (57,457)
Profit from operations R EE 151,923 141,405
Finance costs BRI AR (6,472) (6,624)
Profit before share of Pak(at NI E S )

results of associates il 145,451 134,781
Share of results of AEEE AR EE

associates (11,414) (11,895)
Profit before taxation BB AR A 134,037 122,886
Taxation i (55,503) (59,541)
Profit for the period AN HR D 78,534
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e WIS ERR MG

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the
year (2019: Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment results represents
the profit earned by/loss from each segment without allocation of
central administration costs including directors’ emoluments, certain
transactions with associates, gain or loss on disposal/deemed
disposal of subsidiaries/associates, fair value changes of certain
financial instruments at FVTPL, foreign exchange gain/loss, interest
income, finance costs, share of results of associates, and income tax
expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of
segment performance.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

7 RPER ()

7B s R R ()

EXE2H HEREERE I EFP 2 W o B
AEERLED BRHE(—F—NF : &) °

RED B B BRREAREE 2 G5 BRAR °
DEEETIRERD P RITEAA(BIEEEH
& HEBERRZETRS  HE/BRHEN
BAR/HEARWEIER RATEER
Bz B THMBTAZ ATERE - IMNERE
RH&Z 5/ 18 FISBWA - BIBRA - HhE e

RAIZEERFIEHFS) ZER T &0 G FTERELZ
B RRZEE o I TREBEERREZR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable segments:

Proprietary and
generic products
SARGEER

2020
et et 223
HK$'000
T

2019
—T—NF

HK$'000
FHT

Segment assets DEEE 875,134 614,902
Unallocated assets RPEEE

Total assets BERE

Segment liabilities HEBEE 263,839 286,811
Unallocated liabilities AofaE

Total liabilities aEResE

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
interests in associates, deferred tax assets, certain right-of-
use assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, balances with associates, pledged bank deposits, time
deposits and cash and bank balances. Goodwill is allocated to
segment of proprietary and generic products; and

= all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
bank and other borrowings, tax payables, deferred tax
liabilities, derivative financial liabilities and retirement benefits.

AT R 285 5 &

Licensed-in products
SlEER =E

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z-_ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

7 RPER ()

TEEEREE

D2 AEEEERBES

Consolidated

2019 2020 2019
ZZ-NGF bt i3l T fiF

HK$'000 G LESOTD) HK$'000
T FHET FABT
2,011,921 PP HFERTAEN 2,626,823
(yLWYEM 1,013,418

cirlricPEEY 3,640,241

421,630 780,259 708,441
357,284 454,362

iy Tl 1,162,803

REEDBRARRDIBEIEER :

BEtE AR 2R  RERBREE AT
ERAEEERRATFEERERIRZH
BEE - HEE SRR 2 A5 - D HEIPRTT
T ERFEFARR S RRITAESRIN
ABESDEEKEDE - MBI
EHFNRGHERDE + R

BRERIT R E AR AR - AR - EERIR
BfE  ITEMBRENRERKETSN - A

BEESRELLEDE -

Annual Report 2020 F§

155



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. ZHER(HE)
(CONTINUED)
Other segment information (included Bt 7 S5 (B2 58
in the measure of segment profit or Bz HHEEREENRTH
loss, segment assets and liabilities, or [ EBEEEREEIZM)

regularly provided to the chief operating
decision maker)

Proprietary and
generic products Licensed-in products Consolidated

ERRGHER SlEER o]

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
et 2N T ety T 15 EEeboiatolal TS5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FHET TERT FET TAET FHET

Depreciation of property,  #1% « R k&5

plant and equipment (BIEERAEEE)

(including right-of-use weE

assets) 109,301
Amortisation of intangible & E# i

assets 18,203

Additions to non-current  RAFERFIEIERE
assets (Property, plant BEMWME  BEX

and equipment, and BEAREREE)

intangible assets) during

the year 256,164 [EVZPy /M 182,079 BPIENCEN 438,243 KLY
Impairment of intangible &/ &ERE

assets 3,840 117,652 3,840 117,652
Geographical information HEEH
During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, more than REEZT_ZFER T NEF+=_A=1T—H
90% of the Group’s revenue was derived from activities conducted IEFE - AEBEEI0%WaR B R ZE AR IR
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”), no geographical BI([ BT 2 55 - Bk 25| izt E
information on revenue is presented. BE# o
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by AT AIRIR 58D 2 AEREEERBES :

geographical markets:

The PRC Hong Kong and others Total

HE BERHM EChy
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
et 2 TG bbbl — T 5 Eebomblily — TN F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHT TERT FET TERT FET

Total assets BEME PXINLEN 2,010,685 ERLPEIPM 1,629,556 BcWilrX:piM 3,640,241
Total liabilities BfEmea 560,912 G EEIM 576,631 612,669 [biky vkl 1,162,803
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9. INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR

10.

CUSTOMERS

For both the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no single
customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.

OTHER INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

9. ABEXEEFZEH

REBE_ZT_ZTFR-ZFT-NFT+=-A=+—H
IREFE  BEE—REhAEEBAKEZ

10%3kIA E ©
10. Hftblzs

2020
—ECEF
HK$'000

FEx

Interest income on:

Bank and pledged bank deposits

Advance to associates
Loan receivables

BN
RIT R EBIRRITER
AT TEEFE R R ZBIR

6,624
2,448

Total interest income

MEBWRA LB

Compensation income FERA
Government and development grants BT K A B #E B
Rental and utilities income e RAHRBHRA
Incentives from vendor e R 22 E)
Research and development service income  #ff 58 & RB KA
Sundry income AW

9,072
41,208
30,958

3,431

2,860
56,387

6,671

150,587

The Group received the development grants from the local
government as recognition of the Group’s performance and
development of high-technology pharmaceutical products.

During the year, the Group recognised government grants of
approximately HK$6,344,000 in respect of COVID-19-related
subsidies, of which approximately HK$2,607,000 related to
Employment Support Scheme provided by Hong Kong government.

AERE W T BT R A AN R BRI M E S

MRZEmMR THRERD -

FER - REBERY6,344,000/8 7TCOVID-19
R 2 BUS B - HH492,607,000/8 THES

B BRB A SR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR IS SRR MR

2019
—T—hF
HK$’000
T

8,529
1,544
943

11,016

29,564
504
2,116
30,320
2,174

75,694
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

11. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 11, EE R EIEF5E
2020 2019
—2-2F —FNF
HK$'000 HK$’000
T FAT
Fair value (loss) gain in respect of BRANTEIE 2 AFE(EE) s
- Financial assets at FVTPL, net —RATFEEREBERTIRZ
BB 2 F R (17,963) (4,705)
- Derivate financial liabilities — T B A (3,502) 6,551
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment, net HE&EME K& 2 WasFaE 30 67
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEMBAR 2 W FEE

(Note 46) (Pff7E46) 155,625 -
Gain on early termination of lease REBLRIEAE 2 IR b =
Gain on realisation of loan receivables B IR E R 7 s - 22,200
Impairment loss recognised BT SIEZ ERARERE

in respect of
- Intangible assets (Note 20) — g = (fiEE20) (3,840) (117,652)
— Goodwill (Note 21) — PR (H5E21) (2,342) -
Loss on deemed disposal of interests in W= Tank = /NG S g |

associates (Note 22) (PfFE22) (180,923) -
Loss on derecognition of financial assets at  REImISKRILERIZ AT ESBIEESIE

FVTPL at expiration (Note 23) Z A E 2 B1R(MEE23) (4,584) -
Write-off of property, plant and equipment  i$8¥1% - BB & & (305) (212)
Foreign exchange gain, net HNEEFE H Was F 58 214 2,071

(57,588) (91,680)
12. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 12, &R

Profit from operations has been arrived at after charging: RN B HIBR T 5 &8
2019
b Sk 223 —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FT#ERT FAT

Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB REE

equipment (including right-of-use assets) (PREEREEE) ZINE 109,301 84,651
Amortisation of intangible assets B AR 2B GEAHERA)

(included in cost of sales) 18,203 9,491
Total depreciation and amortisation e R e 127,504 94,142
Auditors’ remuneration ZEREN BN € 1,251 1,326
Staff costs B IR 298,471 287,514
Share-based payments LARGAD 32 1+ 2 308 17,442 5,461
Research and development costs R KFEZEER 203,294 149,945
Cost of inventories charged to profit or loss  FEZEHIR 2 F S A 405,308 397,244
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR IS SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

13. FINANCE COSTS 13. B A
2020 2019
i —ThF
HK$'000 HK$’000
T FHTT
Interest expenses on: AMERX :
Bank and other borrowings SRITREMIER 4,698 5,067
Lease liabilities HEBE (3:¥4 692
Total interest expenses for financial liabilities 739 AR AT ESE BERTIERZ
not classified as FVTPL MBBEZFER B 5,385 5,759
Bank charges HRITER 1,087 865
6,472 6,624
14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 14, EERFETHAEME
EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed BEER EMRANRARIGIBRREZEE RER
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO is as follows: THRABRANEEZMEMT
Salaries, Employer's Equity-
allowances, contributions settled 2020
and other Discretionary to pension Retirement  share option Total
Fees remuneration bonus schemes Sub-total benefits expense  emoluments
1% 2HR Bl NREEE ut a3
k3 Hfime RERL  FLZBEIHR it BHER BRERX Mets
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T Tin T T Tin T T
Executive Directors #iEs
Lee Siu Fong B5 5453 589 18 6,060 9,380 3,851 19,291
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee ey 5,915 637 - 6,552 (1,780) 3,740 8,512
Li Xiaoyi (CEQ) AR 8,120 877 18 9,015 7,170 3,551 19,736
Non-executive Director FufEs
Simon Miles Ball Simon Miles Ball

4

Independent Non-executive ~ BUjHfTEE

Directors
Chan Yau Ching, Bob BRE 144
Lam Yat Cheong #Ag 144
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl Bl 144
Total 5 22,203
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR SRR M

14, DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 14. BEERBSTHRAEMS (&)
EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
Salaries, Employer's Equity-
allowances, contributions settled 2019
and other  Discretionary to pension Retirement  share option Total
Fees  remuneration bonus schemes Sub-total benefits expense  emoluments
TE 2R miRfesE IWhiERE ENE
ng Efte MERA  fRZEHER it RirEAl BlRERx Hesg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T ThT Thm T ThET Thm T ThT
Executive Directors 47gs
Lee Siu Fong £ = 5,625 = 18 5,643 9,838 1,091 16,572
Leglalertsuphakun Wanee Yoy - 6,063 - 3 6,066 10,373 1,024 17,463
Li Xiaoyi (CEO) FIR(HeR) S 8,376 = 18 8,39 6,037 910 15,341
Non-executive Director FufEs
Simon Miles Ball Simon Miles Ball 144 = = = 144 = = 144
Independent Non-executive ~ BU#f7ES
Directors
Chan Yau Ching, Bob BRI 144 = = = 144 = = 144
Lam Yat Cheong #B& 144 = = = 144 = - 144
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl R 144 - - - 144 - - 144
Total &3t 576 20,064 = 39 20,679 26,248 3,025 49,952

The directors” and chief executive’s emoluments shown above were
for their service in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2019: Nil).

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus
payments which are determined based on a percentage of the
Group’s profit after tax for the year.

During the year, certain directors were granted share options, in
respect of their services to the Group under the share option scheme
of the Company. Details of the share options scheme are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.
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14.

15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Transactions, arrangements or contracts
in which directors of the Company have
material interests

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director
of the Company had material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year (2019:
Nil).

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors of the
Company or body corporate controlled by such directors, or entities
connected with such directors, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year (2019: Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included three (2019: three) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 14 above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining two (2019: two) highest paid individuals who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

14.

15.

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

EERFETHAEME (&)

ERAAEERBEAERZ
X5 - ZHAEH

NAFEFRIAFEAEARRE - ARAIHE
YA R ER L ERARRESERLREER
HABEEARSEZERRS - & SEH(=F
—NFE) -

B BEMREFEZZAM
X5

NAFEFRIAFEEAEAERE - BEUARR
AES EEEFEAERAESHRERART

BAZER  EEFUREMRZ S (ZT—NF :
) o
hEBREHEAL

RAEFEEAR  AEELRREHFMALESH - =
H(ZF-NF: ZR)R/EARAES  HMEE
R EXHEEL4 - REFALTTEBMBAL
(ZZ-NF: MB)AF/ARRESHERT
CREZBET

BAE

Salaries and other benefits e REABF]
Employer’s contributions to pension RAREETEIEEHRK

schemes

Equity-settled share option expense VAR 4 2 FE IR HE B

2020 2019
—EoEE —T-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHBIT

3,671 4,336

18 36
2,124 844
5,813 5,216
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15. AEBREHAL(E)

(CONTINUED)

The number of the highest paid individuals who are not the directors HRo AT (EFEARBES) 2HMN T T548

of the Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands is B2 NEHATE
as follows:

2020 2019
—EBoE —T-NF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AEL
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001%&7%2,500,000% 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/57c%3,000,000/% 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/%57c% 3,500,000/ 7T =
2

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five MAREER  REBYENFAE RS H AT
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the SEABEEIMAKRER @ SR IIAR 2 285k
Group or as compensation for loss of office. BEBLAE(E -

16. TAXATION 16. Bi1E

2020 2019
—EB-%F —T-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT

Current tax BNEAFR I8
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBFER 34,176
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B EEFTS T 163
34,339
(Over) under provision in prior years BEFEGBEREB BETR
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBEFEH (€1))
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PRI SR 190
171
Deferred tax RIERIIE
Origination and reversal of EAE RO TR =

temporary differences (Note 35) (Pf7E35)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

For a qualified entity, Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million according to
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Hong Kong Profits Tax is
calculated at 16.5% for both years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019 for all other entities.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rates of the
PRC subsidiaries range from 15% to 25% (2019: 15% to 25%).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

16. FHiIE(E)

MEEREEMmMS @ RBANEHMAS - &=
—EEFRT-NAFF+ZA=1t—HBLHF
EzBBNEREE2E 8B Lt EREEF
1#28.25% R Fi2 B B8 T L AT R BUEFiR
16.5%:TE - BTAHMERMN S H#E2E_F=
ER—Z-NF+-A=+—HIREAFEZE
BN ERI1216.5%R1H ©

RIBFRBEMERA([EEMEBHE]D REE
FREREEGS - PEMNBAR ZREN T
15%ZE25%(=F—N4F : 15%%25%) °

RELM AAERE 2 BB A M AR 2 3
IR -

NEE 2 HIBES RS BERAN R ATEF
RO :

2020 2019
—2-2F —FNF
HK$'000 HK$’000
T FiT
Profit before taxation R Al Yo A 134,037 122,886
Notional tax at the rates applicable to results & AR AR R EE 2 R E 2
in regions concern BEBIE 17,782 10,727
Tax effect of share of results of associates DIEHE AR EE G2 1,883 1,963
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax BiFi AN 5 A TR 2 FiIER 2
purpose 60,574 34,864
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BMAIEM = BERUA Z FIE
purpose (31,044) (3,951)
Under (over) provision in prior years BEFERET T (BRERME) 171 (4,720)
Tax effect on temporary differences not AERERER B E
recognised (324) (268)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERT BB 2 RIBE 36,531 47,914
Tax effect of preferential tax allowance BEHERZRIARE (23,101) (24,247)
Tax at other jurisdictions Hith m AR 2 Bl - 419
Utilisation of tax loss previously not B SR ARER 2 B IEE 1R
recognised (6,969) (3,160)
Tax charge for the year REE 2 BIASH 55,503 59,541

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$551 million (2019: HK$562 million)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the estimated tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams.

R-ZB-_TE+-_A=+—08  ~NEEHFER
B A EREREERER 2 HBBIENA
S51H8ABT(ZE—NF : 562B8EIT) ° B
FAAR BETE RS SR F 2 2R+ B bt 3 A A A B
TBEBRERIEER B EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR E SRR T ot

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

17. DIVIDENDS 17. BRR

2020 2019
—2-2F —FNF
HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the RAFERNER BN IR AR FE R

Company recognised as distribution REZRE :
during the year:
2020 interim - HK$0.027 T EFRH-5MR0.027F T
(2019: 2019 interim HK$0.018) per share (ZZ—N&F: ZZT—NEFHH
0.018%7T)
2019 final - HK$0.038 —ZE—NFRE—FMR0.038% T
(2019: 2018 final HK$0.084) per share (ZZ2—N&F: ZF—/\FKRH
0.084/%7T)

10,662

49,754

60,416

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of HK3.1 cents
per share (2019: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31
December 2019 of HK3.8 cents per share), in an aggregate amount
of HK$18,232,000 (2019: HK$22,349,000) has been proposed
by the directors and is subject to approval by shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, and is not included as a
dividend payable in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

18. EARNINGS PER SHARE 18. EREF|
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable RAREEABGEBRERNREFRFTIERT
to owners of the Company is based on the following data: PIBIRETE -
2020 2019
—EBoSF —EAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Earnings: & -
Net profit attributable to owners of the M EERERREIRNTE 2
Company for the purpose of basic and RRRHEE AEMLEEF
diluted earnings per share 129,316 125,553
2020 2019
S—EBCoEF —T-NF
Share(s) Share(s)
‘000 ‘000
TR AR
Number of shares: BRIDEE -
Weighted average number of M EERERERNHE 2
ordinary shares for the purposes of basic LmAR INAE T
earnings per share 588,120 591,573
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:  BIE#EH L@ 22 -
Options RENRRE 43 313
Weighted average number of RAEEREERANMES <
ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted — Z @RI FHE
earnings per share 588,163 591,886
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR IRk MY

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. M¥  BERRE

Office and
laboratory
equipment
and
Leasehold Leased Leasehold Plant and electronic Motor Construction
Buildings land premises improvement machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
BAEREAA
Bz BEtY B9z EAGE) HEREE RERETRE g HRIE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT Thn Thn TR Thn T TR ThR T
CosT
At 1 January 2019 271,925 145,666 9,659 254 160,010 104,664 13,637 20,582 941,385
Exchange rate adjustments (4,576) (2,700) (312) (692) (4,256) (2,156) (136) (3,739) (18,567)
Reclassification (45,469) - - 4,634 40,802 kk} - - -
Additions 13 1,011 B, 8,206 27,000 27933 48 53,877 143,010
Transfer in (out) 13823 = = 15,815 26,043 12,289 - (67,970) =
Disposals - - - - (63) (191) (460) - (714)
Write-off i (50) - - (626) (1,689) (3,798) (814) - (6977)
Modification of lease term L = = (651) - - - - - (651)
At 31 December 2019 REB-NF+=Azt-R
and 1 January 2020 R=%-%%-A-A 236,366 143,987 3473 52,579 247,847 138,774 12,710 192,750 1,057,486
Exchange rate adjustments Ex3E 16,002 943 1673 5,574 3434 9457 499 3399 69471
Reclassification BiE 1,033 - - (1,033) - - - - -
Additions HE % = 2,604 20,44 57,196 16,054 441 44254 140,999
Transfer n (out) #AW) 5,112 - - 64,642 78799 15,880 - (164433)
Disposals i+ - - - - (201) - - - (201)
Write-off i - (1,573) (12,848) (635) (1,693) - (n) (17,000)
Modification of lease term - (1,420) - - - - = (1,420)
Early termination of lease (446) - - - - - (446)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 46) (44) (976) - (63,431) (48,318) (27,993) 457) (23,515) (164,664)
At 31 December 2020 258,495 152,444 33311 65,907 358,122 150,549 13,193 52,184 1,084,205
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2019 51,973 10,729 = 12,551 60,003 44,625 8,269 = 188,150
Exchange rate adjustments (863) (239) (%2) (249) (1,768) (8%9) (114) - (4,204)
Reclassification (20,789) = = 3 20,531 % = = =
Charge for the year Iﬁ&% 14,095 2901 8,505 6,808 29,358 21,738 1,246 - 84,651
Eliminated upon disposal HERHE - - - - 4 (191) (460) - (655)
Eliminated upon write-off ks (50) = = (614) (1,503) (3,798) (800) - (6,765)
At 31 December 2019 o S g
and 1 January 2020 R=B2%5-A-A 44366 13,391 8453 18,728 106,597 61,501 8,141 - 261,177
Exchange rate adjustments 3,750 1,055 688 900 9192 4,698 4 - 20,725
Reclassification 6 - - (6) = = = =
Charge for the year 13,891 2,880 9,761 15,391 38,425 2,734 1,219 = 109,301
Eliminated upon disposal = = = (168) = = = (168)
Eiiminated upon write-of - (1573) (12848) (634) (1,660) - - (16,715)
Efiminated upon early termination
oflease - - (93) - - - - - (93)
Eliminated upon disposal of HEMBREHE ik6)
subsidiaries (Note 46) (5) = = (5,103) (3,748) (5,661) (57) = (14,574)
At 31 December 2020 e e 2 o | 62,008 17,326 17,236 17,062 149,664 86,612 9,745 ° 359,653
CARRYING AMOUNTS ]
At 31 December 2020 e 2 o | 196,487 135,118 16,075 48,845 208,458 63,937 3448 52,184 724,552
At 31 December 2019 RZB-ME+ZAz1-R 192,000 130,59 24,00 33,851 141,250 7273 4,569 192,750 796,309
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. 1% - BERRE(E)
(CONTINUED)

The leasehold land, which is held under medium-term lease, and the HE L (AP EBBEEREH) RIEFARFR -
buildings are situated in the PRC.
The Group as lessee K EBERAA
Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant FREEE(BERYE - BREKRE)
and equipment)
The analysis of right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as RIERAEEERIEERAEESESD AT ¢
follows:
2020 2019
—s-%F —T-nF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FEx FHT
Leasehold land HEH 135,118 130,596
Leased premises HEMZE 16,075 24,020
Motor vehicles R - 468

151,193 155,084

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in BT BmERzEEZYHBEBRE ST -
profit or loss is as follows:

2020 2019
ZEIBF —ThEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by ZIAAEEREID 2 (FREEERE
class of underlying assets: 2R :
Leasehold land FHE L 2,901
Leased premises HEWZ 8,505
Motor vehicles A= 234
11,640
Expense relating to short-term leases and BASHE HAER 2 B121E A REIE
other leases with lease terms end within ZREHHEREMEEEEER
12 months from date of initial application 3,199
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e WIS ERR MG

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant

and equipment) (Continued)

Total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was approximately

HK$12,736,000 (2019: approximately HK$15,579,000).

Total additions to right-of-use assets in 2020 was approximately

HK$2,604,000 (2019: HK$24,147,000).

For both years, the Group leases various offices, warehouses and
motor vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into

for fixed term of 2 years to 5 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period

for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several leasehold land where its
manufacturing facilities and office buildings are primarily located.
The Group is the registered owner of these leasehold land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these leasehold land.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leased

premises and equipment.
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19. % - BEKRE(E)

EEBEREBA (E)

ERAEEE(BERYE - BERRRE)
(nﬁ)

=
=

TE ZHERSERHAEOR

12,736,000 T (= ZF— 1% : 15,579,000/&
JT) °
:2?\: CE 2 HRAREERBERLBAOR
2,604,000/8 7L (—F — L5 : 24,147,000/8
JT)

RREFE  AREREZBERAE - RERA
EEEEZR HEARHZBEEHRB2FES
& o

HEGRDZERNELEHHEE - BESSED
[ Z 165k B Mkt » AR BN EE A E H R E A
ARH IR - AR ERLEER KA
SEHIBITZHAR o

AN - AEE A BIRAE - i (R A ERE R
RNEFERURZELM) - AEERZEFEEST
M2 A MEEA - WEZSHELHE —RMEX
—S8ME -

AEEFEH L HEMERREZEHES -



20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z-_ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

20. B EE

License Development
fee cost Total
gH%E BB A @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
CoST B
At 1 January 2019 R-T—NE—F—H 230,660 426,397 657,057
Exchange rate adjustments ExE (1,108) (6,761) (7,869)
Additions NE 66,326 176,040 242,366
Impairment A (24,112) (116,876) (140,988)
At 31 December 2019 and RZZ-NETZA=t-BRK

1 January 2020 —Z-T%-f—H 271,766 478,800 750,566
Exchange rate adjustments R FE 7,520 32,640 40,160
Additions NE 111,139 186,105 297,244
Write-off HisH (47,824) - (47,824)
Impairment AE (3,840) - (3,840)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR (fi46)

(Note 46) (39,921) (124,145) (164,066)
At 31 December 2020 RZF-TE+-A=+—H 298,840 573,400 872,240
AMORTISATION By
At 1 January 2019 R=F-n&—HFA—H 59,436 10,572 70,008
Exchange rate adjustments R - (214) (214)
Charge for the year KFERRE 9,141 350 9,491
Eliminated upon impairment AR E (23,336) - (23,336)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NETZA=+—-BR

1 January 2020 ~E-TF-A-H 45,241 10,708 55,949
Exchange rate adjustments ExE - 958 958
Charge for the year AEERE 14,958 3,245 18,203
Eliminated upon write-off sk HH (47,824) - (47,824)
Eliminated upon impairment BRI - - -
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZE+-A=+—H 12,375 14,911 27,286
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At 31 December 2020 RZZE=TF+=-A=1+—H 286,465 558,489 844,954
At 31 December 2019 R=ZF-NE+-A=+—H 226,525 468,092 694,617
During the year 2020, acquisition cost of HK$77,500,000 license fee RZZ_TF - WK ZA77,500,0007% 7T & 7

(2019: Nil) was non-cash transaction. Details are further disclosed
in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

BT NF B)RIFRERS - FBEREE
TS RA M L 46 — HIEE -

Annual Report 2020 F§

169



170

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e WIS ERR MG

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

21. GOODWILL 21, B8
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHT
COST 2%
At beginning of the year PREH] 3,900 3,900
Recognised on acquisition of a subsidiary W BE — R P 1 RBFRERR (P 5E45)

(Note 45) 2,342 -
At end of the year REFLL 6,242 3,900
IMPAIRMENT RIE
At beginning of the year REL -
Impairment loss recognised in the year FANERBEEE =
At end of the year NG S =
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At end of the year PGS 3,900
Impairment testing on goodwill & R e A
Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually irrespective of whether BESFEITRENE © Twa s LIERETR -
there is any indication of impairment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated EREANR BRI DEEATIREEESN -
to the following CGUs. At the end of the reporting period, the RBERR  BEZEASBEETEREANATSE
carrying amount of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from: MELZHE :
2020 2019
ZEIBF —ThEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT

Licensed-in products CGU SIEERREEEBN - -
Proprietary products CGU BHERRSEEE 3,900 3,900
At end of the year REFLL 3,900 3,900
For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amounts of REITRENR - ReELBELN 2 AT RESEE
the CGUs are determined by value-in-use calculations by using cash AEEAELIET  ETRBRERAFHZH
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year BHEEETHSREREATE - ERRREE&R
period. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 10% EERAZBREEAGEI0%(ZE—NE : §F
per annum (2019: 10% per annum). 10%) °
Based on assessment, the recoverable amount of Licensed-in IRBF AR -  SPEERIRSEL BN 2 di[E
products CGU will be less than its carrying amount and accordingly SHREREEmSRE  HAEEREE T
the Group recognised an impairment loss of HK$2,342,000 on ZEJrf)E]_qL HItFEERRARERERRE
goodwill during the year ended 31 December 2020, which is grouped 2,342,000/ 7T © st ABm P 2 [ H e & E
under “other gain and losses, net” in profit or loss. J8REE | o
Based on assessment, the recoverable amount of Proprietary ERIMEER  SNERRESEASM 2RI KE
products CGU is higher than its carrying amount and accordingly, SHEENHEEESE  HAEEEEEBE T &
management of the Group determined that there is no impairment BHERE -

of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

The movements in the Group’s interests in associates during the
year are as follows:

BE

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
TECEF+-A=t+—HIEFE

22. REHE QT 2l

At beginning of the year REH]
Additions NE

Share of post-acquisition loss DIEUEEREIE
Share of exchange reserve DAGEE &
Share of option reserve AMERERERE

Loss on deemed disposal of
interests in associates

BRLEHE AR 2 ER

At end of the year PR

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period
are as follow:

Place of Proportion of
Name of incorporation/ ownership interest
associate operations held by the Group
BENRER AL 2 ARBSE 2 FERRER LA
2020
et et 23
Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated British Virgin Islands/ 33.92% 33.92%
("PPI")(Note a) Hong Kong
EREZXERAR (L4 ) (FfEa) ERBUHE,/BE 33.92% 33.92%
RIT Biotech (Holding) British Virgin Islands/ 24.08% 24.12%
Company Limited ("RIT") (Note b) Hong Kong
RIT Biotech (Holding) Company Limited ~ #ERLES /EE 24.08% 24.12%
(TRIT))(Fizb)
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited British Virgin Islands*/ 33.58% N/A
("ZKO", formerly known as Hong Kong
China Ophthalmology Focus Limited)
(Note c)
KRERBRAR (BB - fifEChina  REEZEHS*/BF 33.58%

Ophthalmology Focus Limited) (FifzEc)

* Incorporated in British Virgin Islands and redomiciled to the Cayman
Islands on 2 June 2020.

AREBARFEERBZE AT ZEREIHNT

2020 2019
—EoF —T—h4&
HK$'000 HK$’000

FHT FHT

15,802 27,623
182,222 =
(11,414) (11,895)

314 18
55 56

(180,923) =

6,056 15,802

WRERR - NEBEBERRZFBOT

Proportion of

voting rights Principal
held by the Group  activities
AEEEEREMELY TEER

2020
- ek 33
33.92%

33.92%

24.08%

24.08%

33.58%

33.58%

2019
ZE-NE

33.92% Development,
manufacturing and
sale of pharmaceutical
products

33.92% % SHERHEER

24.12% Operate a central
pharmacy for
compounding
radiopharmaceuticals

24.12% BEESHETIEED
FRESE

N/A  Development,
manufacturing
and marketing of
ophthalmic drugs
TER ¥ HEREEREEY

REBEZESHEMK TR T _TF A=
HEZHSHS -
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AR E SRR T ot

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

22. REE QT2 iExm (F)

Notes: F5E

a. PPI has two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Powder Pharmaceuticals (HK) a. TLHEERNEEENB AR ABBLREES
Co., Limited (incorporated in Hong Kong) and Powder (Guangzhou) RAR(REBFMKL) REL(EMN)EXEFR
Pharmaceuticals Co., Limited (incorporated in PRC), and are engaged in RNRI(RAHRBIGEMKS) - EEREFE  RER
developing, manufacturing and trading of pharmaceutical products. BEEESR -

b. RIT has a wholly-owned subsidiary, RIT Biotech Company Limited, b. RITZ 2 & Mif& A 7] ARIT Biotech Company

which is incorporated in Hong Kong and engaged in operating a central
pharmacy for compounding radiopharmaceuticals.

G ZKO has two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Zhaoke (Hong Kong)
Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical Limited (incorporated in Hong Kong)
and Zhaoke (Guangzhou) Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical Co., Limited
(incorporated in PRC), and are engaged in development, manufacturing
and marketing of ophthalmic drugs.

(i) Summarised financial information of
associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associates’
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

Limited » RNEBEMAR LR FLEE S BET
B 2 R REES o

KERHEEMEEEMB AR - RIE(ER)
BREFENERA R (REBEMA) RKR (&
MR ENBR AR (RPEEMKL) - %%
REREERE - SLEREHRBIZEY -

(i) BELRAZHBEEHNHE

BRASEBZ AR ZMBERBEERS
W o MM BERBERRIEEEHE
R AERI P AR BLZ Bt ' A B B TSR PR
RZEH °

A ZEHE DRI RAERENZEFAR
BHBHRPALRK -

PPI RIT ZKO
31 December 31 December 31 December
= RIT JERHRAY
+=A=t+-H +=A=t+-H +=A=t+-H

2020

—g-%s EEIUK

2020 2019 2020 2019

kSl L T |5 EEbdmb il — T F

LG ODODE  HK$'000 EGLEI0ODIN HK$'000 EGLEH LN HK$'000
THEx THET Ti#x THETL TR THETL
3’

Current assets MEAE 23,638 23,461 5,911 4,959 FGELNEEN N/ATER
Non-current assets FEREBEE 42,420 32,420 9,833 17,380 WEyELEM N/ATER

nBEE 125,504 85,989 1,741 3,291 63,971
FERBE(E 2,364 6,302 1,430 1,812 pRk:yBchbl N/ATER

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

172 Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=FC K 2212 A R A A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

22. REE QT 2w (&)

(CONTINUED)
(i) Summarised financial information of (i) BELGZHBEELRHBE
associates (Continued) (&)
PPI RIT ZKO
=T RIT KNEH
2 October
2020 to
31 Year
December ended
2020 2019
TE-ZF
TH=HZ
82 S B2 “B-%% HE
225 Elglal —T-TF T8 s
EE i35 3 8 =t+-A 35
HKs'000 TN HKs'000 ITCOION HK$'000 [RTICL
FHR FHT FHR FHT

Revenue e

Loss from operations LEEE
Loss for the year/period AEE/HHER (26,489) IENPLK!
Other comprehensive income  Effi 2 924

Total comprehensive expense A5 /Hif 2 ER S EE

for the year/period

Dividend received REE /HERIRBKE

during the year/period

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has
unrecognised share of loss of associates of approximately
HK$83,771,000 (2019: Nil). As at 31 December 2020,
the cumulative unrecognised share of loss of associates is
approximately HK$83,771,000 (31 December 2019: Nil).

52 A
[EYRIEN  (26,043)

PN (28,309)

15,457 7,768 74,668

(10,072) NCEEINY  (19,171)
64) ECURLIN  (9,431) MeZLNID)]
55 - o

CUREIN (9.431)

REBEE-ZT-_TF+_A=+—HLHF
B AEEZAEREGBERRZE
#E4583,771,0008 (=T — LLF :
m) c RZZEFTF+=-A=+—8 "
B ARAEEHERAZEBEEBNA
83,771,000 T (T —hE+= A
=+—8:&)-

N/ATEF
N/ATER
N/ATER
N/ATEF

Tign TR

(753,740) TN EL:

N/ATNER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BHRAN T

i\‘/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Summarised financial information of
associates (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interests in the associates in the
consolidated financial statements:

PPI
31 December
4
t=A=t-A

2020 2019
3 “E-0E
HK$'000 HK$'000

T#x AT

2020 2019
It k- 23
HK$'000

T

22. REE QT2 iExm (F)

(i) BELRAZHBEEHNHE

(&)

Eit A AR R N AR A M IS IR R AR
R Be N A < FREES R T

RIT ZKO
31 December 31 December
RIT KRB
t=Azt-8 t=g=t-8

2020 2019
SEd -
HK$'000 HK$'000

47 T

ZI-nE
HK$000
Tin

Net (liabilities) assets (RE)EEFE (61,810) (36,410) 12,573 17,236 (889,194) N/ARER
Proportion of the Group's AEEfRERRLD
ownership interests 33.92% 33.92% 24.08% 24.12% 33.58% N/ATER
Goodwill e 23,995 23,995 = = = N/ATER
Carrying amount of the AEBiER BRE
Group's interests 3,029 11,645 3,027 4,157 N/ATER
(ii) Deemed disposal of interests in (ii) BERLHERBEE L A2

associates

During the year 2020, RIT issued certain ordinary shares to
key staff in February 2020 and the Group subscribed certain
new shares from RIT in September 2020, and the Group’s
equity interest in RIT is effectively diluted from 24.12% to
24.08%, and recognised a loss on deemed disposal of interest
of approximately HK$282,000.

Following the reduction of equity interest in ZKO from
50.117% to 48.539% as disclosed in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statement, the Group’s equity interest in
ZKO was further diluted to 33.575% after the issue of series B
preferred shares by ZKO, and the Group recognised a loss on
deemed disposal of interest of approximately HK$180,641,000.

In aggregate, the Group recognised a total loss on
deemed disposal of interests in associate of approximately
HK$180,923,000 in profit or loss which is included in “other
gains and losses, net”.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

RZZZZTF  RITRZZZZF =AM
Eﬁiﬁal?‘h%?jﬁﬁﬁ& AEETR
TECTHENARBBETHRG - A&
EARITZ B BB H24.12% K #5E =
24.08% @ WhgRR AHEE R 2 BB
282,000/t ©

RIERIBR B2 B4 B 50.117% % 2 &=
48.539% (N #r A M 153 KM 5E46) -
AR BRI AR B 2 B R JE B AR B
BOUBRINBLIRRFE - FHES
33.575% @ WHERR/HEERS 2 EIE
#7180,641,000/% 7T °

RAFTE  ARERBEREREAHER
w2 E5HR48%E47180,923,0008 T - 5t A
[ Efo does 2 BTHRFRR ] ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z-_ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

23. RNV EBEBRDIKR MK
&E

Investments in life insurance

ABRERERE (HEa)

policies (Note a)

Unlisted warrants (Note b)

FE LT RRHERE (9 5EDb)

Club membership debenture BAEEES
Convertible instruments (Note c) AR T B (ffsEc)

The fair value measurement of these assets are disclosed in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

These represent the life insurance policies with an insurance company
to insure executive directors of the Company. Under the policy, the
Company is both the beneficiary and the policy holder. The Group is
required to pay an one-off premium payment. The Group can terminate
the policy at any time and receive cash based on the cash value of the
policy at the date of withdrawal (“Cash Value”), which is determined
by the premium payment plus accumulated interest earned minus the
accumulated insurance charges, policy expense charges and a specified
amount of surrender charge if the withdrawal is made between 1st to
15th policy year.

These represent the warrants issued by public and private pharmaceutical
companies operated in the United States.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised a
loss on derecognition upon expiry of certain warrants of approximately
HK$4,584,000 in profit or loss under “other gains and losses, net”.

These represents convertible notes/loan issued by both public and
private pharmaceutical companies (the “Issuers”) operated in the
United States and Switzerland, and they could be convertible into equity
instruments of the Issuers. Pursuant to the underlying agreements, the
notes/loan carry interest at 5% to 6% per annum and will be matured
in 2021 and 2024 respectively, subject to any renewal clause.

6

s -

2020 2019
—EBoEF —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$’000

FiEx FATT

5,191 3,651
20,919 49,223
3,200 3,800
8,740 2,543
38,050 59,217

ZEBEZ A FEFAERBENGA M ERRME

WA R R E—FERBRABTZASRERE
HARFRITESRIR - RERE - RAAFRE
REBARREFEA - AREBEZN —RBRF
B o AEEARER R ILRE - WERREREE
BHzRSBE(REEED KRS - GRER
SEETDRRENKINLAIRRRFMNE - B
RIARBER  REMXBEARSESEZER
FEE(WNREFELZ1SFREDERE

U Th R B 2 N8 R FL B BE S N R B 2 TR

B
Az °©

HE-ZT-_ZTHF+-A=-+—BILFE  &&£H
B ER R 2 [ E fth M ok B2 18 S 58 | BRI E T2
A& 1 75 HA i 12 4R L B R 2 5 18 404,584,000
ﬁ o

U SERE RIn &8 2 AR KFLE BEE AR
(MBITADBEFZAMKREE S5 AIERE
BITAZRERTA - RIEABRE - 252K/
BERZEFFERS%E6% * DRIER T ——
FRZZ-MFRE - WRBEREFARR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
sRa RS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24, BAFEEBHMEZEKERS
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE RO EE
INCOME
2020 2019
b Sk 223 —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Equity securities listed outside REBAIMBE 12 IRAES (H7Eb)

Hong Kong (Note b) 208,287 478,594
Unlisted equity securities (Notes a, b) I E iR AE S (Mizta « b) 87,199 60,377
Unlisted partnership investments I FERKRE (Miwtc)

(Note c) 82,098 75,950

377,584 614,921

The fair value measurement of these assets are disclosed in note 6 ZEBEZ N TEFERENG S M RKRM T

to the consolidated financial statements. 6°

Notes: P EE

a. These represent the Group’s equity interests in private entities a. I AREBERG L RERFMER I ZFAATREZ
incorporated in Switzerland and the United States. & o

b. These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held b. ZEREVWIERHEEE - AR - ZFREEFE
for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have EREIREEE R - AR R EREREBIEETZSR
elected to designate these investments in financial assets at FVTOCI BREBEATESBEMEEKRIIEZHBEE
as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these B REAARSHEREEANERZZREZA
investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the FEZEHRSEEAE R EZEREERS
Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes BT REREAEERERRENZERBT—
and realising their performance potential in the long run. e

ch These represent partnership interests in private funds. c. LERRFLAES 2 &R ©

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7



24.

25,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (CONTINUED)

The movement of financial assets at FVTOCI for both years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

24, BAVEEBEMEENES

fRe M BEE (&)

BE_T_TFR_F-NF+_A=+—HLL
FE - BAFEERRMEE KSR A
BEINT -

At beginning of the year REF]
Addition INE
Converted from loan receivables A A RN E R

Fair value losses on revaluation recognised, EBEEREMHA T EEIBFEE
net

At end of the year LR

2020 2019
= —F—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TET
614,921 606,415

18,983 30,793

- 23,010
(256,320) (45,297)

377,584 614,921

In December 2019, the Group subscribed the common stock
from Windtree Therapeutics Inc. at US$5,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$39,000,000). Part of the consideration was
settled by conversion of US$2,950,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,010,000) loan receivables.

RZZE—NF+ =7 &% E K Windtree
Therapeutics Inc.:R 8 & @Ak © 5,000,000
%7t (% ® 439,000,000 7T ) 5H{& ° &6
SHREEE BN 2,950,000 7T (HERL
23,010,000 7T) 2 ERE Z#EHE -

2020 2019
SE L —T-nE
HK$'000 HK$’000

FHT T

128,223 25,540
54,551 23,484
31,943 45,248

INVENTORIES 25. 78
Research materials iR

Raw materials BH

Work-in-progress EE S

Finished goods B o

199,660 161,313

414,377 255,585

No inventories are carried at net realisable value at both 31
December 2020 and 2019.

RZEZTFR=_T—NF+=-A=+—H0 &
FEAMEHFEIER -
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AR e WIS ERR MG

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES 26. FEIRE 5 RN

2020 2019
—2-2F —FNF
HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

FEWE 5 8RR
B EEEEBIERE

Trade receivables
Less: Allowances for ECL

161,282 153,479
(1,708) (440)

159,574 153,039

The credit period on sales of goods is 30-120 days. The Group has
recognised an allowance for ECL of 100% against all receivables over
365 days because historical experience has been that receivables
that are past due beyond 365 days are not recoverable. Allowances
for ECL are recognised against trade receivables over 180 days
based on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference
to past default experience of the counterparty and an analysis of the
counterparty’s current financial position.

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, presented
based on the invoice date, which approximates the respective
revenue recognition dates, and net of allowance for ECL at the end
of the reporting period:

EmiHE 2 EEHR302120R - REED AR
HiBB365H 2 EWFIAER 100% BB ERE
BEEG  RERRBELSR  BH#B3658 2
FEMRIE T AR E - B HAEEB180H < UK E
RFABIBIB[AT AR S ERREREERE
BEE METIRESENI2ENFH 2B
ERHER M EEREHBERRAEZ SITEE

T AERER BB (RS ER B RS )
2K E ZRFNRE R Z RGO - B
EMRIRIERERES :

0-30 days 0%30H
31-120 days 31%120H
121-180 days 121%180H
181-365 days 181%365H

Over 365 days and under 3 years 365H A ER=FUA

2020 2019
SE L —T-nE
HK$'000 HK$’000

FHT T

72,314 74,044
68,058 67,541
2,790 11,196
16,412 222
= 36
159,574 153,039

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts which are past
due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has
not recognised an allowance for ECL because there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still
considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a
legal right of offset against any amounts owed by the Group to the
counterparty.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

X Tz REE SRR BENRE MR A
HENAEASEERBREESRRELS
#H RAAEHSBZEREERTESAZHA
RAIAT YRR o SR B I M 5E I S5 48 SR FE A (R
ER R EMEENERIERE - TMEEAREFN AU
REBEREF T 2 EASFEIERE o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 26. EWE S HRM(E)
Aging analysis of receivables that are past BRI B Rt RS BES
due but no allowance for ECL provided FRE.Z W T Bl 7 9T
2020 2019
—z-%fF —T-NEF
HK$'000 HK$’000
F#x Tt
Overdue by: BHE
1-180 days 1%180H 84,125 81,598
181-365 days 181%365H 858 48

84,983 81,646

Movement in allowance for ECL

RIS EEREEEE

2020 2019

e Sp 223 “TNF

HK$'000 HK$’000

FERT FHIT

Balance at beginning of the year FH 2 R 440 381
Exchange rate adjustments i SR A 2 98 (8)
Write-off b6 (10) (6)
Provision for the year NEERHE 1,180 73
Balance at end of the year FRZER 1,708 440

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable
from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the
reporting period. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to

the customer base being large and unrelated.

NHEERBE SRR E AN EER - NEEZE
EWE ZIERANFREER RREREHR
RIEEEERZ FE8 - R EFPEREARR
EERE  WEESTRARBR -

Aging analysis of receivables that are BB R HEBH S EERRE
past due and allowance for ECL provided ZIEW L TE 2 Bl 7 W

2020 2019
ZEIEF —TNEF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET

Overdue by: pak i
181-365 days 181%365H 858 48
Over 365 days and under 3 years 365H A ER=FUA 850 392

1,708 440
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AR E SRR T ot

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

27. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENT

7. bR - RERFEAMNK
|

Utilities and rental deposits AHBRBEERES

Prepayment for acquisition of plant and
equipment and services

Prepaid other tax

Others (Note)

HAIAR IR
oAl (FaE)

U BB RS M AR 4 DA e AR 76 2 TN 5RIR

2020 2019
—B-ZF —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT

3,504 3,142
75,597 100,851
32,891 25,546
37,089 44,901

149,081 174,440

Note: Others includes deposit for purchase and receivables from other

debtors.

At 31 December 2020, included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayment, there was HK$1,194,000 (31 December 2019: Nil)
receivables from associates. The amounts are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable within the coming twelve months.

There is no provision for impairment loss on other receivable
recognised in profit or loss for both years ended 31 December 2020

and 2019.

28. ADVANCE TO ASSOCIATES

This represents the principal and interest receivables from loans to
associates which carry interest rate of 4% (2019: 4%) per annum

and are repayable within one year.

There is no provision for impairment loss on advance to associates

for both years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

28.

st HteRBEERe REREGEBAZTE -

Sl

Eé\fjf?i—f— A=+—8  HEMER®X

CRERENE IE’WEF&‘MZ i & A Rl RIE
1,194,000?%73(_3 NE+ZA=+—8:
) o ZEAEE - Aet B BERAR A —{E
AAEE -

o

NBE_Z_ZFR_T-NAF+_A=+—H
LERESFE - B 18 25 AR L ft FE MR IR R (B
SRR -

BN FHERNTZHKE

RS A R R HZ B Zzli‘i\&}?llﬁlﬂ
MERBF4E(ZF-NF  48) - AR EW
B8 -

NBE_Z_ZFR_T-NF+_A=+—H
iWIEE I?ﬁﬁuﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ%’& Al Z RIEEHR
IRE R



29.

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/TIME
DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK
BALANCES

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, pledged bank deposits represent
the Group'’s security given to banks for facilities granted to the group
entities and CVie Therapeutics Limited (“CVie Taiwan”), an indirect
investee to the Group which ceased to be a subsidiary to the Group
in year 2018.

The pledged bank deposits would be released within one year and
therefore are classified as current assets.

Bank balances carry prevailing interest rates at both 31 December
2020 and 2019. Time deposits carry interest rates at 1.95% (31
December 2019: ranged from 1.95% to 2.76%) per annum. Pledged
bank deposits carry interest rates ranged from 0.00% to 0.10% (31
December 2019: 1.35% to 2.20%) per annum.

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables at 31 December
2020 and 2019:

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

29, SIEMBITEREHER

RERRITER

RZBZTER_T-NF+_A=+—H B
HARERTT 17 R AN AN 68 (B 3 6 [ B B % P AE BE R
PERAR([HERE ] AEEZEEREY
R RIZ-N\FETBALEEZHMBARDE
Bz aEmmRITIRIE 2 E RS o

EEMRTERAR—F NS - 55 BARE
Az -

RZE_EFR_F-NF+ZA=+—8"
IRITEBRIRE A EF B o EHFFIZEF
E1.95%(ZFE—NF+=A=+—H8: N"F
1.95%%2.76% ) &t B o BiEHRITFERILE
MENF0.00%%0.10%(—F—hFE+ = A
=+—H :1.35%%2.20%):t & °

30. B E SR

INTRABR-_E_EER T NE+_A=1+—
B2 B SRR Z BRI DT

0-90 days 0Z90H
91-180 days 91%180H
181-365 days 181%365H
Over 365 days 3658 A £

2020 2019
—E_EF —T-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

73,060 79,948
420 -

72 -

181 197
73,733 80,145

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 90 days.
The Group has financial risk policies in place to ensure that all
payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

BESTERZFHEEHNRI0R - AEEFTH
BATSRBRIBGR - BEAR AT REN SRIRREINME BRG]

ERAREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 31, HttENRERETER
2020 2019
kg 13 —T-NEF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FERT FHTT
Contract liabilities BHEE 135,125 192,509
Sales guarantee deposits SHERBZS 163,425 148,768
Other payables for plant and equipment and /= & & LR TS 2 Eftb FE1S 710R
services 205,082 82,533
Other tax payables HAERIA 16,313 11,701
Obligations under license contract HHE KA 571 524
Accrued staff salaries and welfare REHE B FH B R AEH) 39,108 37,481
Others (Note) E A (B =E) 131,571 131,671
691,195 605,187
Note:  Others includes payable to other creditors and accrued expenses. FieE © HASEEHEEAZRRRE R -
/= 4 =
32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32, BITRHEMER
2020 2019
ket 13 —TNF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTER FHT
Secured bank borrowings classified HER/RBEE GEPRITER
as current liabilities (Note a) (FftzFa) 129,457 113,806
Unsecured bank borrowing classified DERREE E 2 EEIFIRITIE K
as current liabilities (Note b) (Ff5ED) 11,920 -
Unsecured other borrowings classified as HERREE B2 EIERE AR
current liabilities (Note c) (Ff7Ec) - 31,028
141,377 144,834
Carrying amount of the borrowings are FEffE R 2 BREE (K 7Ed) -
repayable (Note d):
Within one year R—FR 66,806 87,428
More than one year but not B —F RN BME
exceeding two years 54,571 21,406
More than two years but not B E N BARE
exceeding five years 20,000 36,000

141,377 144,834
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

a. As the bank borrowings include a clause that gives the lenders the
unconditional right to call the borrowings at any time ("Repayment
on Demand Clause”), according to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
which requires the classification of whole borrowings containing the
Repayment on Demand Clause as current liabilities, the bank borrowings
were classified as current liabilities.

b. The bank loan was obtained by a Group’s subsidiary in PRC which is
subject to the fulfillment of covenant as is commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. At 31 December 2020, the
Group’s subsidiary did not fulfill the covenant imposed by bank on the
bank loan and the entire bank loan which was long-term borrowing
was re-classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

c. The unsecured loan is borrowing from non-controlling interests of
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which bore
interest rate of 4% per annum and are repayable within one year.

d. The table is based on the agreed repayment schedule provided by banks
and agreed terms with non-controlling interests.

As at 31 December 2020, Group’s bank and other borrowings carry
interest rates ranged from 1.75% to 3.85% (31 December 2019:
2.88% to 4.33%) per annum.

The Group’s bank and other borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

32, RITREAbER(E)

B -

a. BN RITE RS AR T BORA BRI R BE R
BIEEF R (RERERIER]) - BUR
BEBRE -F5R(ERESFRERMEEGEK
ZEBERIBERBAR) - BERTEHRIE
B o

b. RITERBASE —MPBENEARRG - AR
THE - LR BB LB E Tik%ﬁz
BoR_T_TF+_A=+—H AEEZHK
BRI EETIRITRRITEREINZ 25 - )
REBREE 2 BEFTEFRGEUBRAER
BHHBRRBAR -

c  EERERDHAAT—ERMEFEHBAR
ZHBRREA - REFKIBIE - AR
— R -

d. R IBBIRITIR M 2 s R R R R 3k I S5 E
Rz E (R AR -

R-Z_ZTF+=-_A=+—8" $i@2ﬁﬁ&
HMERFEFNENT1.75%%23.85%(—ZF— A
F+=-H=+—H :2.88%%4.33%) °

AREMIRITREAMETA T EHEEE -

2020 2019
SE L —T-nE
HK$'000 HK$'000

T TR

Hong Kong Dollars BT
United States Dollars =TT
Renminbi AR

100,627 115,556
28,830 29,278
11,920 =

141,377 144,834
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES

Within 1 year —FR

After 1 year but within 2 years —F&EMFRA
After 2 years but within 5 years FEZERER
After 5 years FFE

Less: Total future B RRF B B
interest expenses

Present value of lease liabilities FfHE&ERE

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies of the

functional currencies of the relevant group entities.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

33. HEERE

2020
—E-EF

Present

value of
the lease Total lease
payments payments
HENRRE HESREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THERT
7,828 8,259
6,338 6,499
1,164 1,204

7,502 7,703
15,330 15,962

((P))
15,330

2019
—E-NF

Present

value of
the lease Total lease
payments payments
HENFRE HEMNFEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FHT
9,745 10,399
6,822 7,189
6,542 6,720
13,364 13,909
23,109 24,308
(1,199)
23,109

HEFEURBEEER 2 EEEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2019, the balance represents the carrying amounts
of the derivative financial liabilities resulting from the redemption
rights ("Redemption Rights”) granted to the holders of series A
preferred shares of ZKO, the then 50.117% own subsidiary of the
Group, to require ZKO to redeem the series A preferred shares
therefrom under certain conditions. The Redemption Rights were
granted by ZKO in connection with an issue and sale of series A
preferred shares in ZKO which was completed on 13 June 2019.

The redemption price for each series A preferred share shall be
an amount in cash equal to the sum of (a) issue price of series A
preferred share, (b) an amount which would result in each holder of
a series A preferred share being deemed receiving an internal rate of
return of 13% in respect of each series A preferred share, measured
from the date of first issuance of the series A preferred shares until
the date of closing of the redemption of any series A preferred
share, plus (c) any declared but unpaid dividends on such series A
preferred share.

The Redemption Rights shall terminate on the earlier to occur of (1)
the 6th anniversary of the closing date which was 13 June 2019 or (2)
one calendar day before the first submission of a listing application
form with the Stock Exchange in respect of the equity securities of
the ZKO (the “First Filing”), provided that if a qualified IPO (as
defined in the subscription agreement dated 23 May 2019) has not
been consummated on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange within
12 calendar months of the date of the First Filing (the “Revival
Date”), the Redemption Rights shall automatically be restored in all
respects as of such Revival Date.

Further details relating to the Redemption Rights were disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 23 May 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group ceased to
control over ZKO and the balance was eliminated upon disposal of
ZKO as disclosed in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

34.

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

TTEMBRE

—NE+=ZB=1+—8 @ Z&HiErEH
ERREEE50.117%[& 2 T8 A RIJERHERELZ A
RIBERIFA NERERE([EEE ) mEL
2T B ABEEREEE - ERKBIREMREE T
EHEBARSIERR - KRIRBEE - —haF
NAT= BETREEREBREAZRSE LR
B BBl o

BRAZRIIBERZEOESSN(a) ARTIEE
IREATE - (D) SARINEBEBRZ BFHB AR
HERARINEEBREE13% 2 AFEHE 2 &
HBAFRIIELERERETEHEEOERNAR

SIBERZ TR B #FHE) - i1 E(c)BREARSI
BABRZEMEEREHRINZREZBINZ
BESH -

BORERATREFEEZBRAL : (1)5EK

B(ZZ2-NERNA+=R)F6BFH(2)s IR
BRELZ BRANFE 27 [AIBE X TR R BR B B R R AR
(TERFFDI—EER - EMHEERERAR
BE(EERAHAT - NFRA-T=AZR
BipE)TEXRERRAFRHE —EEAR
(MR B8 D RB R ATERTEA - R @ AR
FrE 73T B BRE R IIE B B Z AR -

EMMEE FEEREAR B HA—F—
EA-T=B2AENRE -

HEE

NBE_Z_ZF+_A=1t—"HLEFER W
e MTERARMTA6PTIEE - NEE T HESIK
RHBRFRIE P H S IR RIRBHE S S A58k o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

financial position, deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

35. DEFERRED TAXATION 35. IEERIE
The following is the major deferred tax balances recognised and THRRERRBATFERERZ EZRLETIES
movements thereon during the current and prior years: PR EEE) -
Deferred tax (assets) liabilities BEEHE(KE)EE
Accelerated Tax on Right-
tax Intangible unrealised of-use Lease
depreciation assets profit assets liabilities Total
AEREA
NERERE BYEE 2B RRELE BERE hy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Thn ThL THR Thn
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-A-R 1,061 46,865 (20,031) = = 27,895
Exchange difference EiER - (1,033) - #3) 4 (1,034)
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (i) B (457) 25,026 5,850 3,724 (3,571) 30,572
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NETZA=1t-BR
1 January 2020 -2-25-3-R 604 70,858 (14,181) 3,681 (3,529) 57,433
Exchange difference EXES - 4,835 - 151 (144) 4,842
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (AR iE% (319) 25,882 (4,530) (1,373) 1,333 20,993
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 46) i EMEAR(H:46) - (20,005) - - - (20,005)
At 31 December 2020 W-2-2E+-A=1-A 25 81,570 (18,711) 2,459 (2,340) 63,263
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of NG EMBIRAR2SME @ BEHBEEER

1=z«<a}£§§¢, Ti\%%?fﬁﬁ%EﬁiﬁEE’]ﬁ'ﬁ ZiE
L%Rlﬁﬁﬁ%

Deferred tax assets BETRIREE
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIAAE

2020 2019
ZEIBF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000

Fix FHT

(18,729) (14,198)
81,992 71,631
63,263 57,433

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits
earned by the PRC subsidiaries amounting to HK$599 million (2019:
HK$505 million) as the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

BREBEHBECEMEHE B 2T /\F—H—H
i BTS2 AR AT REVE TS R 2 R SR
BATRRE o BN SR B AR SO )¢ [ o B T S
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36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. IRZA<
Number of shares Share capital
RABE R

Authorised: Py

Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each SRMEE0.058 T Rk

Issued and fully paid: BREIRERR :

At beginning of the year REH 587,920,343
Exercise of share options (Note a) frfEEERRE (fiska) 205,000

Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary [ Rkt T (fizth)
shares (Note b)

At end of the year

NER

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the movement in the
Company’s share capital is as follows:

(a)

(b)

A total of 205,000 (2019: 280,000) new shares were issued
upon exercise of 205,000 (2019: 280,000) share options
under the Company’s share option schemes (note 38) at an
aggregate consideration of HK$446,000 (2019: HK$1,395,000)
(net of issuance cost) of which HK$10,000 (2019: HK$14,000)
was credited to share capital and the remaining balance of
HK$436,000 (2019: HK$1,381,000) was credited to the share
premium account. In addition, an amount attributable to the
related share options of HK$231,000 (2019: HK$447,000) has
been transferred from share-based compensation reserve to
the share premium account.

SUODOLIFLOE  1,000,000,000

592,029,343
280,000 10 14

2020 2019
“ECER —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000

THT TAT

50,000

29,396

(4,389,000) =

588,125,343 587,920,343

REE-_ZT-_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIFER " K

29,406

ARBAZEBIT -

(a)

RARE AR R B AR AT 8] (M 5E38) 1T1E
205,000/ (== — .4 : 280,000173 )
A E% B %174 £205,000 (==
— L4 : 280,000/%) ik 1n - BREA
446,000 7T (—Z—1.4F : 1,395,000
P oT) (MBRBEATRAN) + H 710,000
T(ZZT— 5 : 14,0008 7T ) 5t AR
A o H#436,0008 (=T — hEF :
1,381,000/ 70 ) st ARDHEEIR © 1t
SN AE A B AR 4 FE 4G 30IE 231,000 T
(ZZ—N4F : 447,000/ 7T) B RELARKD
Xz e FEEERERG BER

During 2019, the Company repurchased its own ordinary (b) RZT—NFR ' AREIFEBHRFER
shares through Stock Exchange as follows: K& 2 ERBRAT

Aggregate
Highest Lowest purchase price
Number of purchase price purchase price (including
Month of purchase BEAR ordinary shares per ordinary share per ordinary share expenses)
LERRABE SREERGSBEE SREEREEEEE BREE(ERER)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
AT BT TAL
September 2019 ZZ-NENA 1,931,000 4.58 4.18 8,655
October 2019 ZE-N\FtA 2,458,000 4.55 4.23 10,986
4,389,000 19,641

The above ordinary shares were cancelled in November 2019
and the corresponding expense is HK$31,000.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during 2019.

bt EEERR — - hF+— Al - HEER
/31,0008 7T °

nw=

TNFEAR - BEARFMBAREE B

ERBEARRER LHES
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37

. RESERVES

Share premium

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value
and the issuing value of the shares.

Merger difference

The merger difference represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition
at the time of the Group’s reorganisation prior to the listing of the
Company’s shares in 2002.

Share-based compensation reserve

The share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are not yet exercised.

Other reserves

Other reserves represent (i) the difference between the
consideration and the carrying amount of the net assets attributable
to the reduction of, or additions of, interests in subsidiaries being
disposed to, or acquired from, non-controlling interests; and (ii)
share of associates’ reserve.

Investments revaluation reserve

Investments revaluation reserve represents the cumulative fair
value changes, net of tax, of financial assets at FVTOCI until they
are disposed or impaired.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve relating to the translation of the net assets of
the Group’s foreign subsidiaries from their functional currencies to
the Group’s presentation currency are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve.
Such exchange differences accumulated in the exchange reserve
are reclassified to profit or loss upon the disposal of the foreign
subsidiaries.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

37. f#&

BRGaE

BOREERNIERETEECRZER -

BOFERR

BHERDECERBEMNBARZRNEERE
T _FARRRG EHATETEEEARREYK
BHNBARMBETARRAROEELZRE

RGN ZME @

PARBR (2 32 5 2 Bl & i B 4 B 1R H B 1 R AT T 18
Z R DA

Hftbl#e

HAth AR () B KR FEE A 2 & SR AR Fft
BARMRSE N EREBNFEERAE L
Mz ZR  R(i) DG E AR Z i

REE1Gw#E

BRESHFBERATHEEARb2E KT
2 BEERHESRER 2 R AFEE S (0
BHR) -

EL#E

BRBAKEBINIB AR < EEFENEINEE
ERMESAEBRZ2RER ZELFHERNE
At 22 T s HEE R L IV B S (R 88 R 5T © IE LR
Rtz B RE L Z RN EIEINTE R R E R
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the 2002 Share Option
Scheme”) and new share option scheme (the "New Share Option
Scheme”) were adopted on 26 June 2002, and 10 May 2012
respectively for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors, eligible employees, advisers and consultants.

At 31 December 2020, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2002
Share Options Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme was
27,697,000 shares (2019: 17,123,000 shares) representing 4.7%
(2019: 2.9%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

For the 2002 Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company (“Shares”)
in issue at the time of listing, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. The number of Shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders.

For the New Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme shall be subject to a maximum
limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on the date on which the New
Share Option Scheme is conditionally adopted and approved by the
shareholders at the AGM, unless the Company obtains an approval
from the shareholders in general meeting to refresh such 10% in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Options lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the New Share Option Scheme will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating such 10%. The overall limit on the nhumber
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time.

The exercise price is determined by the directors, and will not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the
date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Shares.

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

38. IEMRHESTE
Z YT

AR Bl (2R - FEIREE )

—FERAZTABRZZE——_FRAT+HEH -
EEMES  AEKES  BRRBHAALTIRE

RZZEZTF+_A=+—H —_TT_FER
B R BREAZE TERE RDAITEZ
RERRAEFT S K 2 BRI 8RB 527,697,0008 (==
—N& :17,123,0008%) - BERERRRZA
BBTIRN24.7%(ZF—N5F : 2.9%) °

M- _FERESEMS EEESEAQR
AR E ST - IRIBZATEIATR I 2 BB IRAEFT S
RZ B BT EBBR EMEZ AR RBE#T
B ([ B2 ]) 2 10% ° EHEE L EFAATRR
e - REM—FR - SR T RAER FERA
T Z BB B BT R T EITZIRMDEE T
AR NREEITRN Z21% ©

BRI F - RITRARIE AR 8
AR 2 PR R AR RS AT RE 31T 2 R D AR B R
BRI BB FAE LB RN R AR B
BB AR ZEHITRND Z&HD LR 10%PTHR
R BRIEARDAIRIE E AR BN B R K& LS
RERIAEEHNERMI0%REE - LA EEH10%
BREEM S - RIS A AT &) 2 R R B BB AR
RIS EER - REFIE R B R AEME
BB ST BIE R RADARITE 2 P A BTSN
BT AT R TT 2 IR BB BRRED
BB ZE BTN Z30% °

TEEDHESETE @ WK APRIATEIRZEK
2E ()RR BB ZWTE : (i)BRORN
ERFLARMAEEREA 2 FHRHE: &
(iRt Z EfE
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

38. MR AERT &8I (&)

A5 a7 ()

MAERE - AARZERE BIFHERA T

The Company (Continued)

Details of the Company’s share option schemes during the current
year are summarised as follow:

No. of options

BRERA
At At
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 December Exercise
2020 during during during price
Date of grant Vesting period e 2:3 the year the year the year Exercise period per share
REAH BRIE -A-H FREEM FRBE ERBAX T4 SRIKE
HK$
BT
Category I:
5
Directors
£Z
30.12.2013 30.12.2013 to 29.06.2014 338,000 338,000 30.06.2014 to 29.12.2023
“R=Et-A=1A = T=EE —$-MEAR=TAZ
= 5 el
30.12,2013 to 29.03.2015 538,000 538,000 30.03.2015 to 29.12.2023
“8-ZE1ZB=tHHE “8-5F=A=1HE
ZE-RFZACthA ZBISETZAZTAR
31.03.2015 31,03.2015 to 29.09.2015 669,000 669,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025
—2-7%=h=1-H —B-1fzfA=1-AZ ZB-RENA=TRE
“E-EFAACTAA Z2-RFZAZTA
31,03.2015 to 29.06.2016 669,000 669,000 30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025
“2-1FZAZt+-HE “E-XEXA=TRE
ZE-~ERAZTRA “BCREZAZ1A
31.03.2016 31.03.2016 to 29.09.2016 880,500 880,500 30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026
~2-5=A=1-A ~EZA=t-RZ ~EAAZTAE
“B-RERAZTRA ZBZXEZAZTR
31,03.2016 to 29.06.2017 880,500 880,500 30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026
“8-’EZAZt-HE “E-tEXA=TRE
ZE-t£RAZThA “B-REZA=1A
13.04.2017 13.04.2017 to 12,10.2017 885,000 885,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027
“3-tFWAT=R “E-tEMATZRE “E-tF+A1ZHE
“2-tF+A+=A “BCLEMATIA
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018 885,000 885,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027
“E2-tF¥MA+=AZ “B-\FtAt+=HZ
“E-\ftA1=H “B-tEMATCA
13.04.2018 13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018 684,000 684,000 13.10.2018 to 12,04.2028
—3-)\fWAT=R “E-\FWATZHE “8-\f+A+ZHE
“2-\FtAT=A “BC\EMATZA
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019 684,000 684,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028
“B-\fMAt+=RZ “B-AFtAt+=HZ
“E-NFtA1ZR “E-\EMAt=A
15.04.2019 15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 888,000 888,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029
“3-NEWATEA “E-NEWATEAE “E-NFTATERE
“2-NF+ATER “BCAEMATHA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020 888,000 888,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029
“EB-NEMATEAZ “B-SFtATEAZ
“E-EFtATOR “E-AEMATHEA
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020 882,000 882,000 15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030

“3-REMATER

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

“E-ZEMATEAE
Z2-2E+BTMA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021
—BCBEMATEAZ
“E--FtA1OA

882,000

882,000

“®-RFATERE
~$=94MATHA

15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030

ZB--FtATHER
®=94MATHA




38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Date of grant
REAH

Category II:
£75:
Employees

E5

12.01.2010
“E-2F-A1CH

08.10.2012
“2—%+ANH

05.04.2013
—F-Z£MmATA

30.12.2013
“E-ZF+-A=1H

07.10.2014
“E-mETALR

Vesting period
SEEH

12,01.2010 to 11.07.2010
=
Z2-2ELA1-H

12.01.2010 to 11.04.2011
Z§-2E-A12HE
“2—-¥MAT-A

08.10.2012 to 07.10.2013

08.10.2012 to 07.10.2014

os 10.2012 to 07.10.2015

“B-ZEtANRE
—2-BEtAtA

05.04.2013 to 04.10.2013

£1ANA
05.04.2013 to 04.07.2014
ot 3

ZB=thB
30.12.2013 to 29.12.2016
=tHE
A=thE
07 10 2014 to 29.06.2015
“E-METALAZE
ZE-EFAB=TAA
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2015
—E2-ME+ALAZ
“E-5F1+AZR
07.10.2014 to 29.06.2016
“E-METALAZE
-~ERA=TRA
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2016
—E2-ME+ALAZ
“E-XETACR
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2017
“E-METALAZE
“B-tE+ACR

At

1 January
2020
RZB=%F
-A-H

120,000

120,000

400,000

880,000

1,940,000

150,000

150,000

604,000

620,000

650,000

300,000

250,000

300,000

250,000

250,000

No. of options
BREHE

Granted Exercised
during during
the year the year

ERERY ERBffE

(102,500)

(102,500)

ARE T ERAR MR
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38. MR AERT & (&)

Lapsed 31 December Exercise
during price
the year Exercise period per share
ERPR T4 SROEE
HK$

BT

(17,500) 12.07.2010 to 11.01.2020
“2-3FtA+-HZ
“B-85-At-A
12.04.2011 to 11.01.2020
-3-—§MA+ZEZ
“B-BE-A1-A
400,000 08.10.2013 to 07.10.2022
ZB-ZEtANRE
“BTETALA
880,000 08.10.2014 to 07.10.2022
“E-mETANRE
“E-FTALA
1,940,000 08.10.2015 to 07.10.2022
“B-REtANRE
“BTETALA
150,000 05.10.2013 to 04.04.2023

(17,500)

“ECZEMAMA

150,000 05.07.2014 to 04.04.2023
ZB-MELARAE
ZEMANA

604,000 30.12.2014 to 29.12.2023

k3

- St e -

620,000 30.12.2015 to 29.12.2023

it g
650,000 30.12.2016 to 29.12.2023
\E+ZA=1AZ
b 5 el o
300,000 30.06.2015 to 06.10.2024
“E-RERA=TRE
—E-ME+AAR
250,000 03.10.2015 to 06.10.2024
“E-1f1H=RZ
“E-METARRA
300,000 30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024
“E-~ERA=TRE
“E-METAXA
250,000 03.10.2016 to 06.10.2024
-z
“E-MmELARA
250,000 03.10.2017 to 06.10.2024
“E-tEtAZAE
“E-METAXA
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

No. of options

38. MR AERT &8I (&)

A5 a7 ()

BREHE
At At
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 December Exercise
2020 during during during 2020 price
Date of grant Vesting period i 23 the year the year the year W=2=FF Exercise period per share
REAH BRIE -B-B FREEM FRBhE ERBAX TZA=t-B fEHE SROEE
HK$
BT
03.10.2017 03.10.2017 to 02.10.2018 250,000 250,000 03.10.2018 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“Z-t51+A=R “E-t5+A=HE “E-\§tHA=RZE
“2-\ftA=R “R-+ETACH
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2019 250,000 250,000 03.10.2019 to 02.10.2027
“3-tf1+AZRE ZE-NFTAZRE
“2-hE+AZA Z2-HETAZH
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2020 250,000 250,000 03.10.2020 to 02.10.2027
“B-t§1+AZRE ZBCBFTAZRE
bt 5.3 - | “E-tE+ACR
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2021 500,000 500,000 03.10.2021 to 02.10.2027
“E-tEtAZAZE “E--5tAZRE
“2--£1AZR “BCLETACR
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2021 3,525,000 3,525,000 15.10.2021 to 14.04.2030
ZZ-TENATARA “ECZEMATEAZ -§1+A+1AZ
“2--5+A1mA “S=FEMATIA
15.04.2020 to 14.04.2023 3,525,000 3,525,000 15.04.2023 to 14.04.2030
FMATERE
“E=ZEMATHA
23.10.2020 23.10.2020 to 22,10.2021 500,000 500,000 23.10.2021 to 22.10.2030
“R-EETACTER Z8--£+A=+ZRE
—2=%5tf-10A
23,10.2020 to 22,10.2022 500,000 500,000 23.10.2022 to 22.10.2030
ZRZEE+ACTZRE Z8-EACtZRE
ZB-CE+BTIR “E=BE+A-CR
23,10.2020 to 22.10.2023 500,000 500,000 23.10.2023 to 22.10.2030
ZB-EE+ACTZRE “B-=F+A-t=RE
bt St 3 -y | —%=%5FtA=1=A
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2024 500,000 500,000 23.10.2024 to 22.10.2030
ZECmETASTE
“E=%5tA=12A
17,123,000 10,814,000 (205,000) (35,000) 27,697,000
Exercisable at the end
of the year
WERA 17,265,000
Weighted average exercise
price HK$7.411 HK$3.955 HK$2.200 HK$2.200 HK$6.107
METHEE 7411587 3.955387 2.200%7 2.200/%7 6.107;7%
The weighted average share price on which the options were RNEZBEITERERE 2 METHRKRERS.58%
exercised in current year is HK$4.58. JC °
On 15 April 2020 and 23 October 2020, the Company has granted RZE_TFNA+RAER-_ZE_TF+A
share options to subscribe for a total of 8,814,000 and 2,000,000 4-1— EI AARIREBFERESE B R AR
ordinary shares of the Company under the New Share Option B4 #£8,814,0000% % 2,000,0000% A A 7] 7 &
Scheme, and the closing price of the shares of the Company BARAREARE o EEERERER L B BRI A A A
immediately before the date of which the options were granted was AU TE D B A3.538 7T %5.04/87T °

HK$3.53 and HK$5.04 respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Details of the Company’s share option schemes during the prior year
are summarised as follow:

No. of options

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

38. MR AERT & (&)

A5 a7 ()

REFE - ARRZERESSFHERANT

BRERA
At At
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 December Exercise
2019 during during during 2019 price
Date of grant Vesting period RZF-hE the year the year the year WZF-NE Exercise period per share
RHAS =Ll —-B-H FRERM FREAE FRBAH TZA=T-B fIEER BRITEE
HK$
bor
Category I:
5
Directors
£Z
30.12.2013 30.12.2013 to 29.06.2014 338,000 = = = 338,000 30.06.2014 to 29.12.2023 7.300
“B-Z#+-A=1H +=A=1HZ “Z-mESA=TRE
—2-mERA=thA ZZ-=Ft-A-thA
30.12.2013 to 29.03.2015 538,000 - - - 538,000 30.03.2015 to 29.12.2023 7.300
“F3-=Ft-A=1RZ —E2-7%-A=tRZ
—2-1%=A-thA ZBRCE=E+ZAZTAR
31.03.2015 31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015 669,000 = = = 669,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025 11.200
ZE-f%=A=1-R ZZ-h%=R=1-R% “Z-RFNA=TRE
“2-1FAAZTAB ZZ-RF=R=1H
31.03.2015 to 29.06.2016 669,000 - - - 669,000 30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025 11.200
“Z-R%§-A=1-HE —3-"5/~A=TRZE
ZE-\EAAZThB ZZ-hE=R=1H
31.03.2016 31.03.2016 to 29.09.2016 880,500 = = = 880,500 30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026 5.754
- \8=R=1-B ZE-7E=R=1-R% 2 ENA=TRE
Z3-FNAZTAA ZB-5=A=1H
31.03.2016 to 29.06.2017 880,500 - - - 880,500 30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026 5.754
“E-7"¥=R=t-HE “3-t5/A=tRZE
—E2-tF5AZthA ZZZ¥=R=1H
13.04.2017 13.04.2017 to0 12.10.2017 885,000 = = = 885,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027 7.548
“E2-t4MAT=R “2-tENAT=RE 2 tE+ATZRZE
“E-+ETATZA ZZtEMATZR
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018 885,000 = = = 885,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027 7.548
“E-t¥MAT=RZE —3-\5tA+ZRZE
“2-\ftAtZA ZE-HEMATIR
13.04.2018 13.04.2018 to0 12.10.2018 684,000 = = = 684,000 13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028 11.216
—2-\¥MA+=R —2-\¥WA+=RZE “2-\#t+A+=RZE
“E-\§tATZA “3-\fWAT=R
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019 684,000 - - - 684,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028 11.216
—%-\fmAT=RZE “3-hEtATZRZE
“E-NEEATCR 2 \FmATZA
15.04.2019 15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 = 888,000 = = 888,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029 7.324
“E2-NENATERRA Z2-NENATRRZE “2-NETATRAZE
“E-NETATEA ZECNFWATEA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020 - 888,000 - - 888,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029 7324
“ET-A5MATRAZ “Z2-T5tATRAZE

“3-RELATRR

“ZCNEMATEA
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BE—_Z

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)

38. MR AERT &8 (&)

The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)
No. of options
BRERA
At At
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 December Exercise
2019 during during during 2019 price
Date of grant Vesting period RZE-NE the year the year the year Exercise period per share
RitAS SR -A-H FRERM FREMR FRBXH frEsmR BRfTiERE
HK$
BT
Category II:
FoE:
Employees
#5
12.01.2010 12.01.2010 to 11.07.2010 120,000 - - - 120,000 12.07.2010 to 11.01.2020 2.200
“2-ZF-A1-RH “Z-ZF+ATHR
“Z-TF-At-H
120,000 = = = 120,000 12.04.2011 to 11.01.2020 2.200
“3——%NA+-RZ
“ETE-A+-H
08.10.2012 400,000 - - - 400,000 08.10.2013 to 07.10.2022 4.996
“Z-—51+ANR “2-=£+AN\RZE
“ZETRER
1,070,000 - (190,000) - 880,000 08.10.2014 to 07.10.2022 4.996
“E-mETANRE
ZB-CETRLH
08.10.2012 to0 07.10.2015 2,030,000 - (90,000) - 1,940,000 08.10.2015 to 07.10.2022 4.996
“3-—£+AN\BE “Z-RF+ANRZE
“2-R%TAtR “E--FtAtR
05.04.2013 05.04.2013 to 04.10.2013 150,000 - - - 150,000 05.10.2013 to 04.04.2023 5.620
—3-Z4MARA “2-=FMARAEE “3-=£1+RERZE
“Z-=%MARA
150,000 - - - 150,000 05.07.2014 to 04.04.2023 5.620
= “2-MELARAZE
—Z-mELARA “3-=FmANA
30.12.2013 30.12. 2013 t0 29.12.2014 604,000 - - - 604,000 30.12.2014 to 29.12.2023 7.300
“3-=£1ZA=1H = “Z-MET-A=tRZ
“E+-A-tNE
30.12.2013 t0 29.12.2015 620,000 - - - 620,000 30.12.2015 to 29.12.2023 7.300
=£+-A=1AZ ’**nﬁ A=THE
“E-RETZA-TAR
30.12.2013 t0 29.12.2016 650,000 - - - 650,000 30 12.2016 t0 29.12.2023 7.300
=E+-f=1RE 3 FtZA=1RZE
—F-Ft-A-thA —Z-=Ft-A-thA
07.10.2014 07.10.2014 to 29.06.2015 300,000 - - - 300,000 30.06.2015 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“Z-METALA ZR-METALER “2-R% A=1RZE
—E2-1%~A-thA o Sl 125 N
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2015 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2015 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“E-RETALAZE “Z-RFTRZRZE
“Z-R5+AZR ZEZ-METAAA
07.10.2014 to 29.06.2016 300,000 - - - 300,000 30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“Z-MEtAtAZ 2 EAA=TRZ
S e “E-RmELARA
07.10.2014 t0 02.10.2016 250,000 - - - 250,000 03 10 2016 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“Z-RE+AtRZE ~Z-7E+AZRE
i o e “Z-METARA
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2017 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2017 to 06.10.2024 10.340
ZR-METALER “Z-t5+RZRZ
S e “E-RmELARA
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-A=+ ALFE

a = —
38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 38. BB EI(&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)
No. of options
BREA
At At
1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 December Exercise
2019 during during during 2019 price
Date of grant Vesting period RZF-hE the year the year the year AZZ—NF  Exercise period per share
KRS SEHR -A-A FRERH FREFE FRBEH TZRA=+-B BR{TRE
HK$
AT
03.10.2017 03.10.2017 to 02.10.2018 250,000 = = = 250,000 03.10.2018 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“3-t£1+hA=A “Z-+F1+RZAZ “2-)\+R=RZ
—2-\$t+AzH “ZotEHACH
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2019 250,000 = = = 250,000 03.10.2019 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“T-tEHAZRE “E-NFTAZRE
“E-7F1+AZH “E-tFHACH
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2020 250,000 = = = 250,000 03 10.2020 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“R-tETHAZHEE
“Z5+AZR
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2021 500,000 = = = 500,000 03.10.2021 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“E-t5+R=RE “Z--4+R=RZ
—2--%tA-A “E-tFHACH
15,627,000 1,776,000 (280,000) - 17,123,000
Exercisable at the end of
the year
RERTE 15,485,000
Weighted average exercise
price HK$7.378 HK$7.324 HK$4.996 - HK$7.411
MEHEE 7.378%T 732457 4,996 = 74115
The weighted average share price on which the options were F—FEEITEREREZ NEF KRB A6.80/8
exercised in prior year was HK$6.80. IT o
On 15 April 2019, the Company has granted share options to R-E—NFEWA+HREA @ A2 )RIEHERE
subscribe for a total of 1,776,000 ordinary shares of the Company HEIR XA REEA 1,776,000/ A A A E
under the New Share Option Scheme, and the closing price of the B R RE - B2 EER LS B ERIAARA A
shares of the Company immediately before the date of which the BB A7.305 7T -

options were granted was HK$7.30.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 38. fEMRMESTEI(E&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)
Particulars of share options: FERRERFIBINT ¢
Exercise
price
Date of grant Exercise period per share
R B8 T BRITEE
HK$
AT
12.01.2010 (i) 50% exercisable not less than 6 months from date of grant but not more than 2.200
e = 10 years, i.e. 12.07.2010-11.01.2020
(i) EFZ50% R ERPRERE BB EARTEZRTF - =2 —TFEA+=H
E-E-TF - A+ HEBRTE
(i)  unexercised balance thereof be exercisable not less than 15 months from
date of grant but not more than 10 years, i.e. 12.04.2011-11.01.2020
(i) HARITEZHRBAERDRER L ASRET T RAEABTZRTE - IS —FIA
TZHEZZ-TF— A+ —HHBERTE
08.10.2012 (i) 259,500 options exercisable not less than 6 months from date of grant but 4.996
—T——%+ANH not more than 10 years, i.e. 08.04.2013-07.10.2022
(i) 259,500 ERERENDRERE BB SEABREZH+F - BT —=F1A
NBEZZ-__F+HA+-BHERNTE
(ii) 259,500 options exercisable not less than 15 months from date of grant but
not more than 10 years, i.e. 08.01.2014-07.10.2022
(i) 259,500 BERERAENPRER L BHEATABABTZRTF - BT —MF—
ANBZEZZ==F+AEAHBEATE
(iii) 1,160,000 options exercisable during the period from 08.10.2013-07.10.2022
(i) 1,160,000 @ERENE-T—=4+A/\BE-T -+ At BEHBERTE
(iv) 2,230,000 options exercisable during the period from 08.10.2014-07.10.2022
(iv) 2,230,000 EANE-S—NE+AN\BEZZ -4+ A+ BHERTE
(v) 2,650,000 options exercisable during the period from 08.10.2015-07.10.2022
(v) 2,650,000hERENE_E—HAF+ANBE_S_—F+ A+ HHRAITE
05.04.2013 (i) 50% exercisable not less than 6 months but not more than 10 years from the 5.620
—E-=FMARA date of grant, i.e. 05.10.2013-04.04.2023

0]
(i)

(if)

EFZ50% A ERPRERE BB ANEABRTZRTF =T — =41+ AABZE
“E-=FMAMASEATE

unexercised balance thereof be exercisable not less than 15 months from
date of grant but not more than 10 years, i.e. 05.07.2014-04.04.2023
BMATEZHREAENPRERE BBHES T REAEBTEZR+F - MIE-T—HF+A
ABEE=Z ==/ A A BEARTE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 38. MEMR#ERHEI(&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)
Exercise
price
Date of grant Exercise period per share
BHBEH fTEEHR BRITEE
HK$
BT
30.12.2013 (i) 1,614,000 options: 50% exercisable not less than 6 months but not more 7.300
—E2—=%+-A=+H than 10 years from the date of grant, i.e. 30.06.2014-29.12.2023; and in
respect of the unexercised balance thereof be exercisable not less than 15
months but not more than 10 years from the date of grant, i.e. 30.03.2015-
29.12.2023
(i)  1,614,0007BERHE : & 2 50% A ERNDRE R B BEEANERETZR+F - B
BT —NEAA=THAEZZS_=F+ - A=+ L BHERTE  RBERRTEZL
Bz IETPRERLBSHETTRBAABTIEZN T4 IR —AF=A=1H
E-T-=F+- - t+hBHEATE
(i) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2014 to
29.12.2023
(i) 669,000 ERETR-_T—NF+_A=THE-_T-_=F+=- A=+ N BHERTE
(iii) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2015 to
29.12.2023
(i) 669,000 ERENR_E—AF+_A=THEZ_=F+- A=+ N BHERTTE
(iv) 702,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2016 to
29.12.2023.
(iv) 702,000ERETR -_T—A"F+_A=THE-_T_=F+=- A=+ N BHERTE
07.10.2014 (i) 600,000 options: 50% will be exercisable during the period from 30.06.2015 10.340
—ZT—-mE+A+ER to 06.10.2024; and 50% will be exercisable during the period from
30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024
(i) 600,000f7fEAHE : B 250% AR _E—RAFAA=THREE_T_WF+HBH
BT : K50% AR =E—A~"FAA=THE-T-_MNF 1+ ANBHERTE
(ii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2015 to
06.10.2024
(i) 250,000 ERENR_ZE—RE+A=BE_Z_WE+ AXHBERTEE
(iii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2016 to
06.10.2024
(iii) 250,000 ERETR —_Z—R"F+HA=BE_T_WE+ HNBPERTRE
(iv) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2017 to
06.10.2024
(iv) 250,000 EREAN-F—tF+A=HZ-_Z N5+ A HPEARTTE
31.03.2015 (i) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.09.2015 to 11.200
—T-AF=A=+—H 30.03.2025

(i) 669,000ERETR_E—RAFNA=THE-Z_HF=A=THBENTE

(ii) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.06.2016 to
30.03.2025

(i) 669,000 BREFAN=-ZE—"FAA=THE_Z-_AF=A=THHBATE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 38. MEMR#ERHEI(&)

(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)

Date of grant Exercise period
R AH fTEEHR

Exercise
price

per share
RATEEE
HK$

BT

31.03.2016 0
—T—RNFEZA=+—H
(i)
(i)

(i)

13.04.2017 (i)
- tFmA+=A
(i)
(ii)

(i)

03.10.2017 0)
—T—+t&+A=H
(i)
(ii)

(i)
(i)
(i)
(iv)
(iv)

13.04.2018 (i)
T \FmA+=H
(i)
(i)

(i)

15.04.2019 0
—T-AFMA+EA
(1)
(ii)

(if)

880,500 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.09.2016 to
30.03.2026

880,500 EREIN_E—A"FNA=THAEZZ"F= A=+ HHREANRTE
880,500 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.06.2017 to
30.03.2026

880,500 BREFTR T —tFANA=THE-T = "F=A=1+HHPBATTE

885,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.10.2017 to
12.04.2027

885,000/ EREAIN—T—+tF+A+=AE=_Z -+ FNWA+ =R HBRITE
885,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.07.2018 to
12.04.2027

885,000 EREAIN - \F+AT=BE_Z_+FWNA+=-BHEARITE

250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2018 to
02.10.2027

250,000 BEBREFTR - \FTA=ZRE_FT_+F+A_BHHENTE

250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2019 to
02.10.2027

250,000 ERETR "S- NF+A=RZE_T_tF+A-HHHEANTE

250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2020 to
02.10.2027

250,000 EREFTR —_ZE_TF+A=RE_T_+F+ A-_BHHENTE

500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2021 to
02.10.2027

500,000 R EAIR—"FE=—F+A=AZ =T _tF+ A - ABHERNTE

684,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.10.2018 to
12.04.2028

684,000/ FERERTN —E—\F+AT=0Z T \FW A+ = BHEARNTE
684,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.07.2019 to
12.04.2028

684,000 EREAIN "S- NFELAT=AEZ"T - \FHA+=AHBATE

888,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2019 to
14.04.2029

888,000 EIREAN=_E—NF+A+HEAZE_T-NFNA+MAHMAITE
888,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.07.2020 to
14.04.2029

888,000/ EREAN_E_TF+A+HEAZ T - NFWNA+MAHBAITE
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR IS SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

38. MR AERT & (&)

(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)
Exercise
price
Date of grant Exercise period per share
BHBEH Ggcdi]| RATEEE
HK$
BT
15.04.2020 (i) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2020 to 3.648
—Z-ZFMA+AAH 14.04.2030
(i) 882,000 ERETNR-_Z_TF+A+HAHE-Z=2400 A+ M5 BEANTE
(ii) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.07.2021 to
14.04.2030
(i) 882,000 EREAIN-—E-_—F+ATHHZE-_Z=F4M W HPEATRE
(iii) 3,525,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2021 to
14.04.2030
(ili) 3,525,000/ EREAR T _—F+A+RABE_S=FFWMA +M B HEARTT6HE
(iv) 3,525,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.04.2023 to
14.04.2030
(iv) 3,525,000 EREAIR S -_=FNA+HABZ_T=F0 A+ M B HEATE
23.10.2020 (i) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2021 to 5.310

—z-sFtA-+=A

()
(i)

(ii)
(iif)

(i)
(iv)

(iv)

22.10.2030

500,000 EREAIN "S- —F+A-+=AZ_T=FF + A=+ B HAEARTTE
500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2022 to
22.10.2030

500,000 ERERR S _—F+A-+=AE_T=TF - A=+ =B HHARITE
500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2023 to
22.10.2030

500,000 EREANR _ZE_=F+A-+=AZ="T=TF + A=+ =B HARTTE
500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2024 to
22.10.2030

500,000 EREAIN_Z_MFE+A=-+=BE_T=ZF+ A=+ =B HBRTE
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HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

The following table summarised movements in the Company’s share
options during the year:

Outstanding

38. MR AERT &8I (&)

A5 a7 ()

TREBARRBERERAFEAZZE :

Outstanding

at at
1 January 31 December
2020 During the year 2020
T REEER NoB-2F
—A—H Granted Exercised Lapsed +=RA=+-H
te R AT B&H BT8R BAN i RATE
Directors EF

Lee Siu Fong TN 3,209,000 588,000 - - 3,797,000

Leelalertsuphakun ZJER
Wanee 3,009,000 588,000 = = 3,597,000
Li Xiaoyi TR 2,671,000 588,000 = = 3,259,000
Total for directors BEZBY 8,889,000 1,764,000 - - 10,653,000
Employees EE 8,234,000 9,050,000 (205,000) (35,000) 17,044,000
Grand total st 17,123,000 10,814,000 (205,000) (35,000) 27,697,000

The Company issues equity-settled share options to certain
employees and consultants. Equity-settled share options are
measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based
vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share options is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually become vested and adjusted
for the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions.

During the year 2020, options were granted on 15 April 2020 and 23
October 2020, and the estimated fair values of the options granted
on those dates are HK$7,371,000 and HK$1,854,000 respectively.

During the year 2019, options were granted on 15 April 2019
and the estimated fair values of the options on that date is
HK$5,288,000.
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39.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

The following significant assumptions were used to derive the fair
value:

1. exercise price HK$3.648 and HK$5.310 (2019: HK$7.324);
2. expected volatility 43.264% and 43.641% (2019: 41.354%);

3. the options life is 10 years (2019: 10 years);

4. annualised dividend yield of 1.600% and 1.311% (2019:
1.634%); and

5. the risk free rate of 0.747% and 0.582% (2019: 1.677%).

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was
valued by Peak Vision Appraisal Limited, independent professional
valuers not connected to the Group. The valuation was derived by
the Binomial Model taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted.

The Group has recognised an expense of HK$17,442,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$5,461,000) in relation to
share options granted by the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets
of the Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the Scheme with maximum amount of HK$1,500
(2019: HK$1,500) per month for each employee, which contribution
is matched by employees.

The total cost recognised in profit or loss of HK$772,000 (2019:
HK$758,000) represents contributions payable to the Scheme by
the Group in respect of the current year. As at 31 December 2020,
contributions of HK$4,000 (2019: HK$4,000) due in respect of the
reporting period had not been paid over to the Scheme.

38.

39.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

BT 8 ()

A5 a7 ()

THRAERAFEZEERR

1. 1T1#E3.6488 T &5.3108 (= —Hh
£ :7.32487T) ;

2. 78 HA ) 18 43.264% % 43.641% ( — =
— U4 : 41.354%) ;

3. BERERBRTF(CENEF: +5F):

4.  FIREE1.600%%1.311%(=F—N
% :1.634%) : &

5. HEERFIR0.747%%0.582%(=—ZF— N,
& :1.677%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

39. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(CONTINUED)

Defined contribution plan (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Taiwan
are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated
by the government of the PRC and Taiwan. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits is to make the
specified contributions.

Defined benefit plan

Retirement benefits scheme represents the retirement benefits
provided to the executive directors of the Company.

Each of the executive directors will be entitled to lump sum payment
upon retirement and monthly pension payment after retirement if
he/she has engaged in continuous service with the Group for certain
years.

The carrying value of the retirement benefits represents the
cost of providing benefits determined by valuation conducted by
independent valuer at the end of the reporting period, amortised
over the expected average remaining working lives of the
participating employees. The fair value of the retirement benefits at
31 December 2020 was valued by Peak Vision Appraisal Limited, an
independent professional valuer not connected to the Group. The
fair value of retirement benefits was accrued in the consolidated
financial statements but the retirement benefits scheme was not
established up to the date of this report. Thus, no actuarial gain or
loss will be considered.

During the year, HK$14,770,000 provision for retirement benefits
(2019: HK$26,248,000) was recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows are, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

40.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

METHEECEBZHIE

TRHAMNEASEHRETDELZAEE
8 BREREMReEY BEFIELZE
BRERAEREIARRASREEAERZES
REeRmBERAESESREERDMEREREL
A& -

activities.
Bank
and other Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RITREMER HEAE okl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT
(Note 32) (Note 33)
(M3532) (Fi7¥33)
At 1 January 2019 RZT-NF—FA—H 129,234 10,898 140,132
Changes from financing RERSHEE
cash flows:
New loans raised FEER 68,713 - 68,713
Repayment of loans BRER (53,677) - (53,677)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBERERRE = (12,380) (12,380)
Other changes: Hir#g
Interest payable FERA S 5,067 692 5,759
Interest paid BRARME (4,592) - (4,592)
New leases entered/lease modified FAIME/EyiE - 24,147 24,147
Exchange rate adjustments ERER 89 (248) (159)
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE+ZA=T—HEK
1 January 2020 —Z-T5-H-H 144,834 167,943
Changes from financing MERERED .
cash flows:
New loans raised RN 167,418 - 167,418
Repayment of loans EEER (160,428) - (160,428)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAR - (10,238) (10,238)
Other changes: Hir#5
Interest payable RS 4,698 687 5,385
Interest paid BRIFIE (4,715) - (4,715)
New leases entered/lease modified HAME/EHHE - 1,184 1,184
Termination of lease ®IEHRE - (355) (355)
Exchange rate adjustments ERAR 1,060 943 2,003
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 46) HEMB AR (F5E46) (11,490) - (11,490)
At 31 December 2020 —Z-TF+-R=1—H 141,377 15,330 156,707
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

42.

41, EREIE

2020 2019
= —T—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TET

Capital commitments
contracted for:
Investment in financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive

BTN EAENE

NMERAHEBBEMEEKERTIRZ
MBEEZIRE

income 10,750 29,892
Intangible assets - license fee B EE—BFBRAZEKAR

and development cost 88,458 103,455
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB REE 91,212 100,452

190,420 233,799
PLEDGE OF ASSETS 42, EEIEKH
At 31 December 2020, the Group has pledged bank deposits RZZEZTF+=-—A=1+—8  AEEEHRETF
security given to bank for facilities granted to the group entities SEERRTEREZRERRBITEMRRITRE
and CVie Taiwan, amounting to HK$3,875,000 (31 December = D BIA3,875,0008 T (—E—E+—A
2019: HK$1,345,000) and HK$20,150,000 (31 December 2019: =+—H : 1,345,000 7T ) 12 20,150,000
HK$39,000,000) respectively. T(ZE—nF+=HA=+—H : 39,000,000%
JT) e

In addition, the Group’s motor vehicles (classified under right-of- o REBEEZT-_TF+_A=+—HILF
use assets) amounting to HK$468,000 which were secured by the B AEBRZT-NF+-A=+—H=zkzA
lessor’s title by 31 December 2019 is fully released during the year LA TR A B FT B &R 2 468,000/ 7T /78 (5

ended 31 December 2020.

BNERREEERET)C 28R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Financial guarantee to associates

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had contingent liabilities
amounting to HK$53,000,000 (2019: HK$48,000,000) in respect of
financial guarantees given to bank for the banking facilities granted
to associate. Total HK$7,582,000 (2019: HK$$12,134,000) has been
remained unutilised by the associate.

Financial guarantee to CVie Taiwan

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had contingent liabilities
amounting NTD150,000,000 which equivalent to approximately
HK$41,400,000 (31 December 2019: NTD180,000,000 which
equivalent to approximately HK$46,800,000) in respect of a one-off
financial guarantees given to bank for the banking facilities granted
to CVie Taiwan. NTD68,419,000 which equivalent to approximately
HK$18,884,000 (31 December 2019: NTD138,000,000 which
equivalent to approximately HK$35,880,000) has been utilised by
CVie Taiwan.

The directors of the Company has considered the probability of
default is remote. Accordingly, no provision has been made in the
consolidated financial statements for these guarantees.

43.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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}Eﬁ °
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R-B-ZTEFE+-FA=+—H AEEHEH
A ¥ 150,000,000 Tk A B E - HER LD
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¥15%180,000,0007T * 1HE 1 4746,800,000
BIT) - B A S BERIEITRE RIRITIED
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

44. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 44, BB X5

Balances and transactions between the Company and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.
Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties
are disclosed below.

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties. In the opinion of the directors, the following
transactions arose in the ordinary course of the Group’s business:

(a) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

AAREEMBERR(EAARRR 2B T)EZ
BBk R HREARE R - WEKRER AN
A o NG B E At B 7T P 2 R B R IE I T SR

5= o

WAFER  AEECEEBITETNTRS -
EERR - MIRGERAEEAEEBBRET

B

(a) TEEZE N SFH M

FRAEZEREMEIBEEABRZFHMNOT

2020
== i
HK$'000

FEx

22,167
11,142

14,806

Short-term benefits S

Share-based payments LARR 19 213 2 5K 38

Retirement benefits and other RNER R E B E R
post-employment benefits

- Defined contribution plan — E BRI E

- Retirement benefits — RURAEA

36
14,770

48,115

The remuneration of directors and key management is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Transaction with associates

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

44. BB L X5 (&)

(b) BEHELNAZXE

2020 2019
8L e
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT AL

Interest income FEWA

Rental and utilities income e RAHRIHELA

Purchase of consumables PR EREm

Purchase of goods HEEm

Research and development 3 RS A
service income

Acquisition of a license right Wb = AT (P 5E46)
(Note 46)

2,448 1,544
3,431 504
1,430 =

60 -

(c) Donation to Lee’s Pharmaceutical
— Kanya Lee Scholarship Limited
("Kanya Lee Scholarship”)

During the year, total HK$1,475,000 (2019: HK$3,244,000)
was donated to Kanya Lee Scholarship. Dr. Li Xiaoyi, director
of the Company, is also a member of key management
of Kanya Lee Scholarship and Kanya Lee Scholarship is
considered as a related party to the Group.

(c) HFERAZE/H - FHFEE
ELEMAF( FHEFEE
Z5 ) EH 15

RAFEERAERAZTHFFEES I
Bt 1,475,000 T (= & — 1L & :
3,244,000/7C) - ARRIEEZ /| HAE
THRAEHESRBS T BEEEKE
Z2— MEMBFTHEBLER[AEAEE
d:): -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

44. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Issue of subsidiary’s shares to Perfect

Concept Holdings Limited ("PCH”)

China Oncology Focus Limited ("COF”), on a pro rata basis,
issued 18,620 shares to PCH. Dr. Li Xiaoyi, Ms. Lee Siu Fong
and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, directors of the Company,
are the majority of the beneficial owners of PCH and PCH is
considered as a related party to the Group. Total consideration
received for the issue of shares is US$4,003,300 (equivalent
to approximately HK$31,226,000).

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Dr. Li
Xiaoyi are the directors and substantial shareholders of the
Company who are connected persons of the Company under
the Listing Rules. They hold 90% of the equity interest in PCH
and therefore, PCH is the associate of Ms. Leelalertsuphakun
Wanee, Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi, and is then a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Lee’s International is a shareholder of COF and at the same
time, PCH, is also a shareholder of COF. PCH, being a
connected person of the Company, is holding 35% of the issued
share capital of COF, and therefore, the issue of COF’s shares
to PCH constitutes a connected transaction pursuant to Rule
14A.27 of the Listing Rules.

(e) Shareholder loans from PCH

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group borrowed certain shareholder’s loans from PCH, which
bear interest rate of 4% per annum and repayable within 1
year.

As disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, interest expenses to loans from PCH for the year
ended 31 December 2020 amounts to HK$147,000 (2019:
HK$545,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

In April 2020, the Group, through an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary Lee’s Keno Pharmaceutical Limited, acquired 51% of the
issued share capital of Beijing Keno Pharmaceutical Technology
Limited* (“"BJ Keno”) from independent third parties. B] Keno is
engaging in marketing and selling of pharmaceutical device. Upon
completion of the transaction, BJ Keno became an non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group. The transaction has been accounted for by
the acquisition method of accounting.

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

45. B —EHE LA

—ZTENA  AREBEEREEENBAR
2 [ 7 B8 A5G PR A A 8 S 58 = 75 g AL Al
e SR ERAR (LR )51%E BT
Ao ERAI AN BB ER M MIGHERIEE - X
SRR - L RAHBKASAEEZ 2 EMB R
Al - 2R P ANIBE AN -

Consideration transferred EBEZEAE
HK$'000
FHT
Cash consideration ReRE =
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised RUEAHZENEEERERE
at the date of acquisition REE
HK$’000
FIT
Current assets REEE
Deposits and prepayments &e KB 227
Bank balances IRITHEER 474
Current liability REAE
Other payables and accruals Hibh e FIEREER (5,293)
Net liabilities recognised BERERBEFH (4,592)
Non-controlling interests HERER

The non-controlling interests (49%) in BJ Keno recognised at the
acquisition date was measured by reference to the proportionate
share of amounts of net liabilities recognised and amounted to
HK$2,250,000.

*  For identification purposes only

PR Y BB B HA P A SRR A 5 AT FA 2 FF HE AR R 2R
(49%) T2 IRIZ LB &1 B R B E FHES R
£ ' /R%2,250,000% 7T °

* (EHES
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

45. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 45, WeEE— RIRT A 7 ()
(CONTINUED)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEELZEE
HK$'000
FHBIT
Consideration transferred BEEREAE =
Add: Non-controlling interests N FEERRRERS (2,250)
Less: Net liabilities recognised B BEERAETRE 4,592
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEE HE 2,342

None of the goodwill arising on acquisition is expected to be
deductible or tax purposes.

ERRIRE L 2 BB NESIMB RS -

Net cash outflow on acquisition WiEZ B L7 FEE
HK$'000
FHIT
Cash consideration paid BENReRE =
Less: Cash and cash equivalent acquired of B BB R RESEE (474)
(474)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is approximately HK$476,000 loss
attributable to the additional business generated by BJ Keno.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2020 in the

opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s revenue and
profit for the year would not be materially impacted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

46. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

In April 2020, the Group fully disposed of its 60% interest in Inner
Mongolia Zhaoke Livestock Development Limited* (“Zhaoke
Livestock”) to an independent third party at a cash consideration
of RMB1,012,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,097,000), and
recorded a loss on disposal of approximately HK$1,720,000.

In October 2020, the Group entered into a licensing agreement
with ZKO and Zhaoke (Guangzhou) Ophthalmology Pharmaceutical
Co., Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of ZKO (together,
the “Licensors”), pursuant to which an exclusive license right in
relation to a licensed product has been granted by the Licensors to
the Group. The Group settled the upfront payment for the licensing
agreement by way of the repurchase of ZKO shares held by the
Group by ZKO. Details of which were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 4 October 2020. Upon completion of the
abovementioned share repurchase, the Group’s indirect interest
in ZKO was reduced from 50.117% to 48.539% and the Group
ceased to control ZKO and its subsidiaries ("ZKO Group”). The
Group recorded a gain on disposal of ZKO Group of approximately
HK$157,345,000.

In aggregate, the Group recognised a net gain on disposal of
subsidiaries of approximately HK$155,625,000 in profit or loss which
is included in “other gains and losses, net”.

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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46. HEMB QA

N_ZE_ZFIA  ARENRSKEARE
1,012,000t (#HE 7 471,097,0005% 7T ) 15 A&
RARG AR EHRAEERAR(TERER]) Z
60% B HET —RBUE=T  HEHES
#8491,720,000/ 7T °

RZF-FE+TH - AREEKBRRRIKR
(B BRMENERABD KRB zHZE2E
B AR) (FTAEl AN |) RIS XAERT Al ik
Eit - BREARAEERDAAREERIBR
FERIHE o NSRBI A B IR ER AR O AN SR B P A K
RERBR O 2 7 A REF A = BNE
HEARARABBHA—S_SF+AMBZA
& o R MBETERE - AEERIKR R
2 B ERA50.117%)mM > E48.539% * A
SRENBEESIERIBR T N BB A B ([ JERHER R
FE]) - AEESFHERBRMEE 2 WED
157,345,000/ 7T °

RAFE  AEEREBXERHEHNB AR ZIK
%5 R FA#) 155,625,000/ 7T © BAH bz K
Ei8F5E | EE -

Consideration received EURE
ZKO Zhaoke
Group Livestock
JKRHRR EE JKREH
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHIT FHBIT
Cash Be - 1,097
Intangible assets acquired BlEERER AE 77,500 -
77,500 1,097

*  For identification purposes only

* EHEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

46. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 46.

(CONTINUED)

Analysis of assets and liabilities over

which control was lost

S K AR (&)

kLGB EERBETH

ZKO Zhaoke
Group Livestock
KRHRRIEE FKRIER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHIT
Property, plant and equipment (including W - BEREE(BEEREEE)
right-of-use assets) 148,365 1,725
Intangible assets EREE 164,066 -
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HhEWFIE « & e MIER I8 62,085 2,168
Pledged deposits BHERFR 13,198 -
Time deposits TEHTFR 74,414 -
Cash and bank balances RE RIBTTHE R 77,055 873
Other payables and accruals HEfh RN FIBEREER (42,107) (39)
Bank borrowings RITIERK (11,490) -
Deferred tax liabilities FRERIBEE (20,005) -
Derivative financial liabilities PTEMBARE (83,587) -
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE 381,994 4,727
Gain (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HERB a2z Wax (EE)
ZKO Zhaoke
Group Livestock
KREREE KRER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHTT
Consideration received BURE 77,500 1,097
Investment retained in the former RAFEHERIRBARZ
subsidiaries at fair value RBIE 180,641 -
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE (381,994) (4,727)
Non-controlling interests PR = 185,212 1,891
Reclassification of cumulative balances HEWB QARG RS HERS
upon disposal of subsidiaries from equity EHOEEES
to profit or loss
- Exchange reserve — [EX A 3,441 19
- Other reserves — HhfEE 92,545 -
157,345 (1,720)

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7
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47.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR IS SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 46. HEME QT (&)
(CONTINUED)
Net cash (outflow) inflow arising on HEELZHZ (M) RAFE
disposal
ZKO Zhaoke
Group Livestock
KRHRRIEE FKRIER
HK$'000 HK$’000
THT AT
Cash consideration received BEWEESKE - 1,097
Less: Ve
Pledged deposits BHEBFR (13,198) -
Time deposits TEBATFRR (74,414) -
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITEH (77,055) (873)
(164,667) 224
PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 47. AR R EEMB R RIFE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
1. General information of subsidiaries 1. WEBREZ—KREH
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 ARRAZEEMBRARAINRE_ZSF+=
December 2020 are set out as follows: RA=+—HBZ&FBEEIT
Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered Proportion ownership Principal
subsidiary operations share capital interest held by the Company activities
SR/ HRERT/
WEARER B/ BEny REGER ARER KRR AR ARER LA TEEHR
Directly Indirectly
HE B
2019
ZENE
Lee's Pharmaceutical British Virgin Ordinary US$1 - Investment holding
International Limited Islands

Lee's Pharmaceutical EBRIES LRk 1%7 - REER

International Limited

LPH Investments Limited Cayman Islands ~ Ordinary US$100 - Investment holding
LPH Investments Limited S LRk 100%7 - REER

LPH II Investments Cayman Islands  Ordinary US$100 - Investment holding
Limited

LPH II Investments HEHE EaR 100%7 - REEK

Limited
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AR e WIS ERR MG

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 47. ZRABEEWE D TAFF(HE)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries 1. WERAEZ—REF (&)

(Continued)

Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/

Name of registration/ Class of registered Proportion ownership Principal

subsidiary operations share capital interest held by the Company activities

ERAL/ ARERT/
WEARER B/ mgnd RAER afER KRR E AR Ll FEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# i
2019
“F-NF

China Cardiovascular British Virgin Ordinary US$1 100% Investment holding
Focus Limited Islands

HRELNEREERAT EBRNES TRk 1En 100% #REEK

Guangzhou Zhao Kang  PRC Paid-up capital US$19,000,000 100% Hospital and
Hospital Co. Ltd* medical care
(Note a)

EMkRERERAR HE BRBA 19,000,000%7T 100% 100% ERkEEEE
(Fizka)

Lee's Pharmaceutical (HK) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$18,400,000 100% Investment holding
Limited and trading of

pharmaceutical
products

ERAEH(ER)ERAR BB LR 18,400,000% 7T 100% 100% HERRREEHR

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
(HK) Limited

KRER (B BRAT B TR 1,000,000% 7T 100% 100% #ERR

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical ~ PRC Paid-up capital US$2,000,000 100% 100% Manufactures and sale
(Hefei) Co. Limited* of pharmaceutical
(Note a) products

KBRS ERAR i fRRA 2,000,000%7 100% SEEREEER
(Fitzta)

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical ~ PRC Paid-up capital US$16,000,000 100% Trading of
(Guangzhou) Limited* pharmaceutical
(Note a) products

KMER(BMERAT & AR 16,000,00057% 100% EBEZM
(Fizka)

Zhao Kang Medical Cayman Islands ~ Ordinary US$1,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Investment Limited

KREEREFRAA FEHE LEk 1,000%7T 100% 100% #®EER

Zhao Kang Medical Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100% Not yet commenced
HK Limited business

KREREAERAR B LR 10,0007 100% 100% HRFEEH
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47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

1. General information of subsidiaries

(CONTINUED)
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/
Name of registration/
subsidiary operations
AL/
WEARERE B/ BehY

Class of
share

RGEH

Paid up
issued/
registered
capital
ARERT/
afER

Guangzhou Zhaoke
Lian Fa Pharmaceutical
Limited* (Note a)
BMARHEEEARAT
(Fizra)

Zhaoke Lian Fa
(Guangzhou)
Biotechnology Limited*
(Note a)

KR (M) IR
ARAR(MiTa)

Zhaoke Lian Fa
(Guangzhou)
Logistic Limited*
(Note a)

Kl (BN IRERAR
(fitz+a)

Zhaoke Lian Fa
(Guangzhou) Business
Services Limited*
(Note a)

KRB (EMN) iR
BRAT(MHa)

Lee's Pharmaceutical
Taiwan Limited*
(Note a)

REFREXERAR
(Hfia)

Lee's Pharm Genomics
Lab Limited

FRAZHERERE
BRAT

PRC

PRC

PRC

e

PRC

e

Taiwan

o>
b

Hong Kong

Paid-up capital

BB

Paid-up capital

BB

Paid-up capital

BRBA

Paid-up capital

SRR

Ordinary

US$1,000,000

1,000,000%7

RMB700,000
(2019:
RMB500,000)

AEH700,0007T
(22 NE:
ARH500,00072)

RMBS500,000

AE#500,0007

RMB500,000

AR#500,0007

NTD1,000,000

#75%1,000,0007

HK$ 1

1B

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

47. A AT EERWE L RFE(E)

1. HBRAZ—KEX (&)

Proportion ownership Principal
interest held by the Company activities
RARFR A A R L) FEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# i
2019
—2-NE
100% Trading of
pharmaceutical
products

100% EEZSH

100% Not yet commenced
business

100% HARRES

100% Not yet commenced
business

100% HAFESH

100% Not yet commenced
business

100% 100% HRFEES

100% Trading of
pharmaceutical
products

100% EEZR

100% 100% Not yet commenced
business
100% 100% MWARERS
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AR E SRR T ot

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries

(Continued)

Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/

Name of registration/ Class of registered

subsidiary operations share capital

ERAL/ ARERT/

WEARER B/ mgnd RAER SREAR

Dreamboat Ventures British Virgin Ordinary US$1
Limited Islands

Dreamboat Ventures EBRIEE LR IES
Limited

Lee's Keno Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1
Limited

FRAHEERRAR i LEk LT

Beijing Keno PRC Paid-up capital Nil
Pharmaceutical
Technology Limited*

(Note b)

FRUABENRERDT  PH BRRA z
(Fizkb)

Inner Mongolia Zhaoke ~ PRC Paid-up capital 2019:
Livestock Development RMBS5,000,000
Limited* (Note b)

AELAMEHFALERAR FE BRBA ZE-NE: ARE
(Kfb) 5,000,0007C

CVie Therapeutics Cayman Islands  Ordinary US$135,000
Company Limited

HEAREMAEERAR  FSHS LAk 135,000% 7T

CVie Therapeutics (HK)  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$500,000
Limited

43&7%%5@?(%‘%)% B &k LAk 500,000%7
AT

China Oncology Focus British Virgin Ordinary US$226,200
Limited Islands (2019:

US$173,000)

HEEEREERAT ZBRRES LR (226,20}2?3

—20F:
173,000%70)

Zhaoke (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000
Oncology
Pharmaceutical Limited

KH(ER)REENERAR &b TRk 10,0005

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7

47. A AT EERWE L FFE(E)

1. HBRAZ—KEX (&)

Proportion ownership Principal
interest held by the Company activities
KRR E AR Ll FEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# i
2020 2019
ZECEE ek
100% 100% Investment holding
100% 100% REER
100% 100% Not yet commenced
business
100% 100% HAFRER
51% - Not yet commenced
(Note 45) business
51% - HARRES
(GEZ)
= 60% Not yet commenced
(Note 46) business
- 60% HARRERT
(Hizz46)
I 56.26% Development
and trading of
pharmaceutical
products
LWL 56.26% FRREEZR
SPLPIR  56.26% Not yet commenced
business
56.26% [IILICPSIEESS
65% 65% Development of
oncology products
65% 65% REEEER
65% Development of
oncology products
65% REEEER




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

1. General information of subsidiaries

(Continued)
Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered
subsidiary operations share capital
ERAL/ ARERT/
WEARER B/ mgnd RAER afER
Zhaoke (Guangzhou) PRC Paid-up capital US$5,000,000
Oncology (2019:
Pharmaceutical Limited* US$4,000,000)
(Note a)
KRR BEEERAR HE fRRA 5,000,000%7
(Ma) (ZE-NE:
4,000,000%7T)
Zhaoke Ophthalmology  British Virgin Ordinary 2019: US$40
Limited Islands” Series A 2019: US$33.43
preferred
KEHRRIERAR ABRNES Epih ZE-NE 403
AZFIERR ZZ-NE:
33.43%n
Zhaoke (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary 2019: HK$10,000
Ophthalmology
Pharmaceutical Limited
KR ERRRENERAR &8 TRk T NE:
10,000%7T
Zhaoke (Guangzhou) PRC Paid-up capital 2019:
Ophthalmology US$16,000,000
Pharmaceutical Co.,
Limited* (Note a)
KEBMBHENERAR HE ARMKA ZEnE:
(Bizra) 16,000,000%7T
&3 For identification purpose only

Incorporated in British Virgin Islands and redomiciled to the
Cayman Islands on 2 June 2020.

Notes:
a. These are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises.
b. These are sino-foreign equity joint enterprises.

ARE T ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z-_ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

47. A AT EERWE L RFE(E)

B A a2 —REX (&)

Proportion ownership Principal
interest held by the Company activities

RARFEA A RRR L) TEXH
Directly
E#

Indirectly
ik
2019
“F-NF

65% Development of
oncology products

65% FEERER

50.12% Investment holding

50.12% REER

50.12% Development of
ophthalmic drugs

50.12% HERMER
50.12% Development and
manufacturing of

ophthalmic drugs
50.12% B RSUERNER

5
REBRELBESEMRLIR -"F=F

FARA—RBEHEHS -

RN B E R -

RPN BEERE -
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AN
IS

AA TS a= Mot
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_EF+-_A=1+—HIFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

2. Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests

The table below show details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Group that has material non-controlling interests at the
end of the current year:

47. A AT EERWE L FFE(E)

2. BEEAHEZKEDZHE

BHB A A2z FE

NTBERARERAFEREREFER
IS FFREMB AR ZFFE

Proportion of

Place of ownership interest and
incorporation/ voting rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary operations non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
FEREREZ
WEARER HRAL/ FERERRRZRELE ARFFERER 2R ZitFERER
2020 2020 2019 2020 2019
kS 23 b S 23 ZTNE b St 23 k3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TET THx TAT
China Oncology Focus Limited British Virgin Islands 35.00% 35.00% (25,988) (9,347) (16,486)
("COF") (Note)
HEEEEFSRAR(COF]) (M) HBRZES 35.00% 35.00% (25,988) (9,347) (16,486)
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited British Virgin Islands* N/A 49.88% (24,209) N/A 206,131
("ZKO") (Note) (Note 46) (Note 46)
KMBEHERDR(ENBN ) ()  ERRRES* TEH 49.88% (24,209) TER 206,131
(Mi46) (H&46)
Note: Include its wholly-owned subsidiaries. MizE : BEE2ENBAR -
3 Incorporated in British Virgin Islands and redomiciled to the £ REBEXHS MR ITR =T =F

Cayman Islands on 2 June 2020.

Summarised financial information in respect of Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is
set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

FRARBEHEHS -

BERBAERFERER ASEMB R
B BERBERINNT « ATHIEE
Hi2 SR EER A RS HA 2 25 -

COF and
its subsidiaries
COFREKEAT

ZKO and
its subsidiaries
IR IR R R HL B 2 &)

2020 2019 2020 2019
—B-%fF —TNEF sl T F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEx TAT TRz THAT

Current assets mENE EE

Non-current assets ERBEE

Current liabilities mENEE

Non-current liabilities SERBEE

Equity attributable to the RRRGER AR
owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests IR

218 Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A 32 A% A R A &)

127,215
110,091
260,545

(16,121) (29,379)

CIID]  (15,820)]

N/ATER
N/ATER
N/ATEHR
N/ATEH

294,503
233,762

N/ATER
N/ATER

207,530
206,562
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 47. AR RIFEMB L EIFIE(E)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

2. Details of non-wholly owned 2. BEEAHZRERZHE
subsidiaries that have material BB R ZFF 15 (&)
non-controlling interests (Continued)

COF and ZKO and
its subsidiaries its subsidiaries
COFREMBAT KRR R E B AR

1 January
Year Year 2020 to Year
ended ended 2 October ended
2020 2019 2020 2019
—ECEF
BZE HZE —R—BZ qHE
—EBoEF —T-NEF ZEBECoEF —T-NF
IHFE IEFE +A=H IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TH&T FABT FET FHET
Revenue e 2,894 4 2,421 10,023
Expenses =53 (BT  (132,786) (G X:17)) (41,462)

Loss for the year REZEE (74,251) (132,782) (48,531) (31,439)

Loss attributable to the RATHEAR AELEER

owners of the Company (48,263) (86,308) (24,322) (15,756)
Loss attributable to the IR R = (G S 1R

non-controlling interests (25,988) (46,474) (24,209) (15,683)
Loss for the year REEEE (74,251) (132,782) (48,531) (31,439)
Other comprehensive income AR RIEA AE(L LM 2E

(expense) attributable to Wz (FZ)

the owners of the Company 3,531 (1,408)

Other comprehensive income JEERRESEEEMEE
(expense) attributable to Wz (Fsz)
non-controlling interests 1,901 (1,402)

Other comprehensive income 74 Hith 2w Uk s (Fs2)
(expense) for the year 5,432 (2,810)

Total comprehensive expense ZAAFAIHEA AR 2EFY
attributable to the owners LG
of the Company (44,732) (85,802)
Total comprehensive expense 3EHEAE S fE(E & HE RS2
attributable to non- kL]

controlling interests

(17,164)

(24,087) (46,202)

(GXIT)] (132,004)

(17,085)

Total comprehensive expense 74 2 5 s 58

for the year (34,249)
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47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

47. A AT EERWE L FFE(E)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

2. Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material

2. BEEAHEZKEDZHE

non-controlling interests (Continued)

BB L ZF S (E)
COF and ZKO and
its subsidiaries its subsidiaries
COFRHIKIE AR IR IR R 2 HL A 2 B

1 January

Year Year 2020 to Year

ended ended 2 October ended

2020 2019 2020 2019
—ECEF

Bz HE —RA—HBZ HE

—E-TF —E-NF —E-EF —T-NEF

IHFE IEFE +HA=H 1IEFE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT FET FAET

(64,620) (48,404) (77,487)

(30,792) (73,133) (55,723)

Dividend paid to non- [BENEET G S o)
controlling interests

Net cash outflow from REEFIR M LFE
operating activities

Net cash outflow from REFRESMLFHE
investing activities

Net cash inflow from MERHRERAFE

financing activities

Net cash (outflow) inflow R (R RAFE

89,033 77,730 7,415 393,031

(6,379) 2,082 INEELRTY)) 259,821

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#Ze A A R A 7



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

3.

Change in ownership interests in
subsidiaries

Deemed disposal of interests in subsidiaries

In March 2019, ZKO, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, issued 32,000 and 367,999 ordinary shares to an
independent third party and Lee’s Pharmaceutical International
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, for total
consideration of approximately US$20,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$156,000,000) of which US$1,600,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$12,406,000) was contributed
by minority shareholder, and the Group’s shareholding in ZKO
was diluted from 100% to 92%.

In June 2019, ZKO further issued 334,280 series A
preferred shares to independent third parties for a total
consideration of US$50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$390,000,000), net of legal expense approximate to
HK$4,813,000. The Group’s shareholding in ZKO was further
diluted from 92% to 50.117%. Details of which were set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2019.

As the Group retained control over ZKO after the above
transactions, the Group recognised, in aggregate, a gain
on deemed disposal of interests in ZKO of approximately
HK$92,545,000 under “other reserves” within equity, and
an increase in non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$218,412,000 during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Are SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z-_ZEF+-_A=+—HIFE

47. XAREEMB A RFIE(E)

RIE A AfrE D 2
B2ZF

BB E A T 2 s

RZZE—NF=A A2aHEE
WEARKBRERABIE=F K
Lee’s Pharmaceutical International
Limited (AR A1) —H 2 & E QA
%% 1732,000 & & 367,999 fi% & i@ % -
R (E# 520,000,000k T (HERLD
156,000,000 % 7t ) + H 1,600,000
Zn(HHER% 12,406,000 T) B E
RFREE - MASERIKEIRE AR B
100% #5885 92% -

RZZ—NFRNA - KEREE—FMA
B 5 = 3 17334,280 KA R 5B 5%
B% - #84X {8 550,000,000 7T (& RN
49390,000,000/%7T) * HIBEAREL L
4,813,000/ T - AEERIKEIER R
IRAE#HE — 2 92%#EE50.117% > &
B EER AR AR A-—S—NAERA
== B AN ©

R REE Ll 32 SRR SR RHREY
BEHE  AREREBE—_ZE-NF+=
A=+—RIEFEREEAI EMFEE]T
ARG AN ERRIRR R 2 am s KD
92,545,0007% 7T M FE 12 Bt 2 2 3B N 40
218,412,000/ 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 48. XA R BBR AR R HE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
—ECZF —T-h&F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries B A RS 694,985 691,042
Investment in an associate R—HEBE AR ZIRE 3,027 10,000
Financial assets at fair value BRATEEBERIIRZMBEE
through profit or loss 17,824 8,355
Financial assets at fair value BEAFESBEMEEKETIRZ
through other comprehensive income WIEEE 172,796 142,302
888,632 851,699
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HfEUIA « 124 R IER F0A 18,447 2,688
Pledged bank deposits BHEIFIRITIER 20,150 39,000
Cash and bank balances R RIBTTHES 9,763 4,335
48,360 46,023
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables E At FE{S /I8 5,878 480
Tax payables FERER K 1y -
6,285 480
Net current assets REEEFE 42,075 45,543
Total assets less current liabilities BEABRRBARS 930,707 897,242
Capital and reserves EXRFEE
Share capital %N 29,406 29,396
Reserves it 797,301 778,616
Total equity wiEs 826,707 808,012
Non-current liability FRBEE
Retirement benefits RIREF 104,000 89,230
930,707 897,242

RRRHBARRER T _—F=A=1+HE
EESERBEDM - WA TIEEKREE

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2021 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Lee Siu Fong Leelalertsuphakun Wanee

FNFE TR
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EZ
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HILFE

48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 48. XA RMBR R T R EE (E)
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
Movement in the Company’s reserves KR EZ @ EEE
Share-based Investments
Share Merger  compensation revaluation Retained
premium difference reserve reserve profits Total
RiteE AHEE LRERAZMERE REEfHE REEA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn TR ThL Thr Thn
At 1 January 2020 W-2-25-A-R 714,146 (38,915) 70,510 778,616
Employee share option benefits {BEERERR = = 17,442
Exercise of share options frieHaRE - 436
Share options lapsed BRIEERE = =
Profit for the year TEERH =
Other comprehensive income TEREMRENA
for the year
- Fair value changes of financial assets at — FATEEELMZENETIR
fair value through EBAEI D TARD
other comprehensive income 19,260
Total comprehensive income TEERANALE
for the year 19,775 39,035
2019 final dividend paid BRZE-NERERE (22,349) (22,349)
2020 interim dividend paid BR-Z-3E0ERE (15,879) (15,879)
At 31 December 2020 R-E-FF+-A=1-A 714,813 (19,655) 52,096 797,301
At 1 January 2019 R-2-hE-F-8 7L 9,200 18,661 (46,853) 30,310 743,089
Employee share option benefits [EEERERR - - 5,461 - - 5,461
Exercise of share options fiieiaiRiE 1,828 - (447) - - 1,381
Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary ~ BERiHLER
shares (19,453) - - - - (19,453)
Profit for the year AEFER = s - - 100,616 100,616
Other comprehensive income TEEEMRERY
for the year
- Fair value changes of financial assets at — ZATEEEL M2 ELETIE
fair value through SBAEIDTAED
other comprehensive income - - - 7,938 - 7,938
Total comprehensive income TERRANALHE
for the year - - = 7,938 100,616 108,554
2018 final dividend paid BRNZE-NERERE = = - - (49,754) (49,754)
2019 interim dividend paid BH-Z-NERERE - - = = (10,662) (10,662)
At 31 December 2019 R=F-NE+=A=1-A 714,146 9,200 23,675 (38,915) 70,510 778,616
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZEF+_A=+—HIEFE

49. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

The Group usually, as a lessor, entered into leasing arrangements
for a period of 1 to 3 years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivables by the Group in future
periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as

49. KEHERH

EEEESBLHBEA

AEE—RUEALBANI A —==F2H

E%Hk -

AN B B 7 AR R HA Pl AR 4 B EL AR P AT 7 O /1 R B8
EEHERKHARBREERROT

follow:

Within one year —F R
In the second year FF
In the third year F=F
In the fourth year Epusfes
In the fifth year FBHE
After five years hFE

50. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the
current year'’s presentation.
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50. LEREF

2020
—ECEF
HK$'000
FEx
2,329
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2019
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